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On the occasion of introducing integrated Group management, 

the JS Group established a new corporate philosophy to foster 

the sharing of values among Group employees. We have 

developed an integrated philosophical framework that has four 

elements: an overarching corporate philosophy, the corporate 

promise, the corporate goal, and shared values.

Amid sweeping change in the business environment and 

transformation of the corporate structure, the JS Group will 

contribute to all its stakeholders through activities grounded in 

the new corporate philosophy.

The Group’s superior products and services contribute to 
improving people’s comfort and lifestyles.

The Group brand LIXIL was coined by combining “LIVING” and “LIFE” to express 
the JS Group’s business field: “housing and living.”

Corporate 
Philosophy

LIXIL CORE

Our Promise

LIXIL WAY

Management 
Targets

LIXIL VISION

Shared Values

LIXIL VALUES

V-1. Ambition to achieve targets
V-2.  Willingness to challenge and change
V-3. Speed to action
V-4. Progression & improvement
V-5. An open organization

1. LIXIL—Our Goal
 Creating a sustainable lifestyle which is in harmony with the Earth: Link to the Earth

2. Mission of LIXIL
 Building “bonds” that lead to a good life: Link to Good Living

3. Value offered by LIXIL
 Reliable quality:  Link to Quality
 Environmental beauty: Link to Environment

 High technologies: Link to Technology
 Emotional impact:  Link to Emotion

The Group will strive to become the No. 1 building materials and 
housing equipment company, and will continue to build solid 
relationships with all of our stakeholders, including our customers and 
shareholders. Our target is to become a global leader in the building 
materials and housing equipment industry.

V-6. Be sincere and fair-minded
V-7. Supremacy of quality
V-8. Eliminate inefficiency
V-9.  Focus on teamwork and 

individual development

Corporate 
Philosophy

LIXIL CORE

Our Promise
LIXIL WAY

Customers

Management 
Targets

LIXIL VISIONEmployees
Shared Values
LIXIL VALUES

Shareholders

JS Group Management Philosophy

LIXIL TETRA*
(*TETRA comes from “tetrahedron”)
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Cautionary Statement with Respect to  
Forward-Looking Statements
Statements made in this annual report with 
respect to plans, strategies and future perfor-
mance that are not historical facts are forward-
looking statements. JS Group Corporation 
cautions that a number of factors could cause 
actual results to differ materially from those 
discussed in the forward-looking statements.
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A unique capability and contribution of the JS Group is 
the delivery of unparalleled value to fulfill the dreams of 
people all over the world.

WeCan Deliver Unparalleled Value
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What our family is most looking forward to is a brand new home. 
I want to build a comfortable home with great environmental 
performance in which our children can live until the age of 100.

A Family’s Dream
CASE 01
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The JS Group provides a vast and varied range of products and services 

that offer support for the entire housing lifecycle, from new construction to 

maintenance, renovation, and remodeling.

This range of products and services is the driving force that makes possible 

the delivery of unparalleled value.

• Homes that can be handed down to the next generation
• Functional spatial systems
• Living that harmoniously blends ecology and comfort

The Unparalleled Value Delivered 
by the JS Group

Fulfillment of wants

Renovat ion Maintenance

New 
Construct ion
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The Dream of a Construction Foreperson
CASE 02

With one contractor delivering the window sashes and exterior walls 
today and a different contractor delivering the toilets and kitchen 
fixtures tomorrow, it’s hard to keep track of everything.
It would be so much easier if everything arrived together.
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• On-demand delivery of home building materials
• Logistics cost reduction

The JS Group will transform the complex, inefficient process of 

distributing home fixtures and fittings with distributors.

LIXIL Corporation and Ken Depot are the key to this transformation.

The JS Group will deliver unparalleled value through these business 

operations.

The Unparalleled Value Delivered 
by the JS Group

Trading 
company

Sales online
LIXIL Corporation
Condominium property 
management company
Viva Home
Homebuilding franchise
ERA ......

The flow of renovation materials provided by the JS Group

Plasterers
Steel metal workers

Painters
Plumbers

Carpenters
Glass suppliers

Building materials 
shops
......

Approx. 35 types of 
subcontractor

Homebuilder

Construction

LIXIL 
Sales Network

Owner

LIXIL

Manufacturer

Fulfillment of wants

Ken Depot

Existing route
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I want a Japanese toilet at home like the one I saw at Shanghai Expo 
2010. It has an attractive, modern design and advanced functions that 
are almost magical.

The Dream of a Young Girl in Shanghai
CASE 03
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America

England

Norway

Sweden

Spain Italy

India

Japan
China

Korea

Taiwan

Thailand

Indonesia

Australia

Vietnam Philippines

Malaysia Singapore

The JS Group is a global company that does business on the world stage.

We deliver unparalleled value to customers wherever they are, across seas, 

over mountains, and beyond rivers.

• Unprecedentedly beautiful designs
• Surpassingly advanced functions

The Unparalleled Value Delivered 
by the JS Group

Fulfillment of wants
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For the years ended March 31 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Results of Operations
Net sales ¥  833,522 ¥ 942,773 ¥ 967,494 ¥  986,214 ¥1,057,699 ¥1,124,078 ¥1,103,839 ¥1,046,854 ¥  982,607 ¥1,214,939
Operating income 15,332 19,033 42,749 37,863 43,805 57,026 35,737 25,603 25,984 40,409
 Operating income ratio (%) 1.8 2.0 4.4 3.8 4.1 5.1 3.2 2.4 2.6 3.3
Net income (loss) 10,599 19,237 32,617 30,624 22,124 35,199 17,709 475 (5,332) 15,780
Cash flows from operating activities 36,340 70,219 49,801 43,970 31,357 61,710 60,177 63,927 68,074 48,680
Research and development expenses 9,349 13,532 14,457 13,928 16,181 15,437 15,656 15,978 14,756 13,688
Capital expenditures 37,120 32,604 32,907 56,459 41,747 37,520 35,417 35,088 30,844 45,779
Depreciation 28,814 30,736 31,693 30,876 33,000 31,772 32,569 35,158 32,916 36,289

Financial Position
Total assets 1,027,227 942,093 967,930 1,013,774 1,086,015 1,149,660 1,061,036 1,048,838 1,033,504 1,166,834
Total equity*1 548,909 510,427 519,425 531,157 561,408 594,265 556,118 533,073 516,322 536,408
Interest-bearing debt 144,387 140,719 155,178 192,692 224,060 225,943 229,575 263,770 257,484 272,516

Per Share Data (Yen)
Net income (loss) per share 37.88 61.60 108.76 104.92 75.80 119.64 61.20 1.70 (19.12) 55.50
Total equity per share*1 1,652.70 1,676.78 1,768.84 1,828.20 1,913.12 1,998.58 1,983.79 1,903.69 1,842.78 1,850.34
Dividends per share 14 27 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40

Key Ratios
ROE*1 (%) 2.3 3.6 6.3 5.8 4.1 6.1 3.1 0.1 (1.0) 3.0
ROA (%) 1.2 2.0 3.4 3.1 2.1 3.1 1.6 0.04 (0.5) 1.4
Total assets turnover (times) 0.9 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.9 1.0
Equity ratio*1 (%) 53.4 54.2 53.7 52.4 51.7 51.4 52.1 50.6 49.7 45.2
Dividend payout ratio (%) 37.0 43.8 36.8 38.1 52.8 33.4 65.4 2,352.9 — 72.1
Debt-to-equity ratio*2 (%) 26.3 27.7 30.0 36.3 39.9 38.2 41.5 49.7 50.1 51.7

Number of employees 23,221 25,879 29,050 29,682 30,252 31,212 31,838 32,700 35,976 41,090

Market Data
Total new housing starts  
(thousand units) 1,173 1,147 1,174 1,192 1,249 1,285 1,036 1,039 775 813

Orders received by 50 biggest 
contractors (Commercial building 
construction) (trillion yen) 9.1 8.5 8.7 9.4 9.7 10.1 10.3 8.4 7.3 7.1

*1  “Total equity,” “Total equity per share” and “Equity ratio” until March 31, 2006 are the figures of previous “Shareholders’ equity,” “Shareholders’ equity per share” and  
“Shareholders’ equity ratio.” “ROE” until March 31, 2006 are the figures calculated based on the previous consolidated financial statement regulations.

*2 Debt equity ratio is calculated by Interest-bearing debt/Total equity.

Consolidated Financial Highlights
JS Group Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

First Medium-Term Management Plan

Principal results
Focused on developing product development 
and marketing systems, restructuring produc-
tion systems, and increasing financial sound-
ness under the theme “Focused structural 
adjustment.” Accomplished business infra-
structure development.

Second Medium-Term Management Plan

Principal results
Decisively implemented large-scale restruc-
turing of operating company Tostem in 
response to an adverse external business 
environment. At the same time, promoted 
structural reforms involving the systematic 
offshore shift of production and integration 
and closure of domestic factories. The aim 
was to boost cost competitiveness.
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Third Medium-Term Management Plan

Principal results
Continued structural reforms for the purpose 
of reducing costs and engaged in large-scale 
M&A projects to set the stage for sales expan-
sion. Reinforced the corporate structure with 
the aim of total optimization of the Group by 
merging key operating companies to prepare 
for the next phase of dramatic growth.

Target

Medium-Term Management Vision (April 2011–March 2016)

Become a global leader in the 
building materials and housing 
equipment industry.

Net Sales

3 trillion yen
(Domestic: 2 trillion yen   Overseas: 1 trillion yen)

Operating Income Ratio

8%
(10% for existing domestic businesses)

ROE

Over 8%

(Millions of Yen)
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Medium-Term Management Vision 
(April 2011–March 2016)
To become a global leader in the building materials 
and housing equipment industry.

Transition to a business structure appropriate in a new business era
New housing starts are expected to gradually decrease as a result of factors including a decline in the population 

of Japan caused by a declining birthrate and aging population. In addition, the JS Group expects profits to come 

under pressure from factors such as selling price deterioration, soaring raw materials prices, exchange rate fluc-

tuations, and rising wages overseas. To realize vigorous growth even in these circumstances, the Group seeks to 

transition from its conventional role as a manufacturer supplying the domestic market to establish a business 

model for satisfying every conceivable housing need. The JS Group also aims to become a company that can 

successfully compete globally.

Basic 
Policies

For 
growth

For profitFor profit

Domestic-oriented 
manufacturing 

business

Comprehensive 
housing solutions 
provider targeting 
the global marketTransform 

business structure

3. Transformation  Existing Domestic Businesses
 (Structural reform) 
 Reduce fixed costs by 30% by thoroughly revising business structure centered on   
 domestic business integration

1. Globalization  Overseas Businesses
 (Become a global company) 
 Promote business in overseas growth markets and expand sales

2. New Business Model  Domestic Growth Businesses
 (Business innovation) 
 Establish a new business model to stay ahead of structural change in 
 the Japanese housing industry
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Targets

Our strategy for domestic 
growth businesses and 
overseas businesses is 
explained in the Chairman’s 
message on page 17.

Details of the 
  C-30 Project   can be 
found in the feature section 
on page 21.

March 2011
Results

March 2016
Targets

Net Sales
1.2 trillion yen

Net Sales

3 trillion yen

For more details

3.3%

3.7%

3.0%

Pursue much higher growth and improved 
profitability in tandem over the next 5 years.

Operating 
Income Ratio 8%
Existing Domestic 
Business Operating 
Income Ratio 10%

ROE Over 8%

For more details

Focus on 
Domestic Growth Businesses
Develop new business models, 
focus on environment and energy 
businesses, and establish an 
operating base for further growth

Improve Efficiency of 
Existing Domestic Businesses
C-30 Project

Reduce fixed costs of existing 
domestic businesses by 30% by 
the year ending March 31, 2014

Expansion of 
Overseas Businesses
Strengthen production and sales 
systems to prepare for achieving 
overseas sales of ¥1 trillion.

Shift 
management 
resources

Overseas 
Businesses

Domestic 
Growth 

Businesses

Existing 
Domestic 

Businesses
Existing 

Domestic 
Businesses

Overseas 
Businesses

PAGE

17

PAGE

21

For 
growth

For 
profit

Operating 
Income Ratio

Existing Domestic 
Business Operating 
Income Ratio

ROE
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A Message from the Chairman

I would like to begin by conveying my deepest sympathies to those affected by the 

Great East Japan Earthquake. No doubt many of our shareholders have family and 

friends whose lives have been disrupted by the disaster, and I offer prayers for their 

rapid recovery and resumption of normal life.

The terrible disaster has made me realize anew the JS Group’s role in society.

As a Group that provides a vast and varied range of products that satisfy people’s 

home and living needs, we can make a unique contribution to society in a multitude of 

areas. At this critical juncture for Japan, the Group is committed to making a united, 

all-out effort to contribute to the country’s reconstruction.

Yoichiro Ushioda

Director, Representative Executive Officer and Chairman

JS Group Corporation Annual Report 201114



The housing industry faced an uncertain business environment in the year ended March 31, 

2011. New housing starts, while remaining at a low level, improved thanks to the govern-

ment’s home buyer assistance policy. However, business conditions completely changed 

after the Great East Japan Earthquake, and the fiscal year ended in extremely adverse 

circumstances. The JS Group experienced severe supply chain disruptions during the final 

twenty days of the business year and fell short of the operating income target of ¥50 billion.

This setback notwithstanding, we delivered higher sales and earnings than the previous 

fiscal year. The Group achieved consolidated net sales of ¥1,214,939 million, operating 

income of ¥40,409 million, and net income of ¥15,780 million by bolstering cost competi-

tiveness through means such as executing our growth strategies and the overseas transfer 

of some operations. Achieving post-acquisition integration of Sun Wave Corporation and 

Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd. according to plan also helped our performance. In the fiscal year 

ending March 31, 2012, we seek to further boost profits. To this end, we will ensure even 

leaner business operation by deepening ongoing structural reforms and strengthen opera-

tions through LIXIL  Corporation, the integrated company launched in April 2011.

The JS Group incurred damage to some production facilities in the earthquake and tsunami 

that devastated much of East Japan along the Pacific coast. We keenly recognize that as 

one of Japan’s largest housing equipment and building materials manufacturers we have a 

public mission to rapidly supply the building materials necessary for reconstruction. We are 

therefore urgently mounting a group-wide effort to restore damaged production facilities.

Along with recovery from the catastrophe, achieving dramatic electricity savings in the 

face of power shortages resulting from the nuclear power plant accident caused by the 

earthquake is a critical national priority. The JS Group’s businesses can significantly contrib-

ute to both disaster recovery and power conservation, and these national priorities may 

have an impact on our future business performance. However, since it is difficult to predict 

factors such as the extent of the damage to the economy from the earthquake, the cooling 

of consumer sentiment, and the speed of recovery, we have decided not to announce a 

forecast of business performance for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2012 at this time (as 

of May 2, 2011).

A Review of Business 
in the Year Ended 
March 31, 2011

The Future Impact of 
the Great East Japan 
Earthquake
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The JS Group has established the Medium-Term Management Vision, a management plan 

covering the period from April 2011 to March 2016. Furthermore, in August 2011 Mr. 

Yoshiaki Fujimori, formerly of General Electric Japan, Ltd., will take office as Representative 

Executive Officer and President, setting the stage for the Group to vigorously implement the 

management plan under new leadership.

We have set a target in the Medium-Term Management Vision of increasing sales to 

¥3 trillion (domestic sales of ¥2 trillion and overseas sales of ¥1 trillion) in 5 years by 

expanding domestic growth businesses and overseas businesses. With regard to earnings, 

we aim to put in place a structure that can achieve an operating income margin of 10% or 

higher from existing businesses over the next 3 years.

Some shareholders may feel apprehensive about this plan to achieve dramatic growth 

or be concerned about associated risks. However, I do not believe that passive manage-

ment based on conservative targets that avoids risk whenever possible necessarily 

increases corporate value. To the contrary, in an environment of tempestuous change in 

technologies and markets and striking economic growth in developing countries, passive 

management increases the risk of corporate failure.

I am confident that the best management approach for increasing the corporate value 

of the JS Group is to set challenging targets and actively invest with courage and wisdom in 

new business sectors offering growth potential.

Growth Strategies for Achieving Sales of ¥3 Trillion

Growth Strategy 1

Expansion of 
Overseas Businesses
Strengthen production and sales systems to 
prepare for achieving overseas sales of  
¥1 trillion.

Growth Strategy 2

Focus on Domestic 
Growth Businesses
Develop new business models, focus on envi-
ronment and energy businesses, and establish 
an operating base for further growth.

For the years ended March 31 2011 2016

Net Sales 1.2 trillion yen 3 trillion yen

Operating Income Ratio 3.3% 8%
Operating Income Ratio 
(Existing Domestic Businesses)

3.7% 10%
ROE 3.0% Over 8%

Medium-Term 
Management Vision
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Capture markets in developing countries.
In the housing equipment and building materials industry in China and the ASEAN region, 

while there are major players in some market sectors, such as raw materials, there are no 

companies with high market share in the processed building materials sector. Instead, there 

is a densely populated cottage industry of several hundred small manufacturers clustered 

around each major city. These small manufacturers purchase supplies at local materials 

markets, process them in small shops, and deliver them to construction sites. The situation 

in Japan was similar until around the time of the Tokyo Olympics in the 1960s.

I believe that the demise of this industry structure is imminent and that soon the curtain 

will rise on a new era of low-cost and high-quality production at mass-production plants 

constructed with large investments of capital. The key to acquiring market share while 

navigating the swells in this impending era of structural change will be the development of 

hit products.

The JS Group plans to assign approximately 1,000 development engineers to product 

development for emerging markets. Furthermore, through a joint venture company estab-

lished with our alliance partner the Haier Group, we intend to ascertain local needs and 

create best-selling products through repetition of trial and error.

China is such an enormous market that, hypothetically speaking, we could expect to 

achieve sales of ¥1 trillion by capturing market share of 10% for aluminum building materi-

als alone. This is a market where we should attempt to compete and succeed by any 

means necessary in the interest of the future growth of the JS Group.

Aspire to become an international company.
In the world today, there are countries with vibrant economies and countries undergoing an 

economic adjustment phase. The JS Group can capture its share of global growth by identi-

fying robust markets and making strategic business moves uniformly across all businesses. 

With this in mind, our medium-term objective is to become an international company by 

engaging in M&A activities targeting excellent multinational companies, and by building and 

reinforcing a team of management personnel who bring a global perspective to business.

The Current State and Future of the Housing Equipment and Building Materials Industry in China and the ASEAN Region

Construction of mass-production 
plants through large investments 
of capital

Arrival of an era of  
low-cost and high-quality  

production

Present Future

Growth Strategy 1

Expansion of Overseas 
Businesses

There are no companies with high 
market share in the processed building 
materials sector.
•	There	is	a	densely	populated	cottage	industry	of	

several hundred small manufacturers clustered 
around each major city.

•	Small	manufacturers	purchase	supplies	at	local	
materials markets, process them in small shops, 
and deliver them to construction sites.
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Closely observe structural changes in the housing industry 
and take the initiative.
The other side of the coin to declining new housing starts is lengthening of the home 

rebuilding cycle. This change has led to a shift from the new construction sector to the 

renovation sector as the driving force in the housing industry. However, whereas major 

home builders are key players in the new residential construction sector, few companies in 

the renovation sector have grown into large corporations. One reason for this is that doing 

business on a large scale in the renovation sector increases the burden of selling, general 

and administrative expenses. Furthermore, the cutthroat cost competition characteristic of 

the sector makes it difficult to earn profits. On the other hand, small-scale construction 

entails poor material yield, and a materials supply chain has not been developed.

The JS Group operates Ken Depot (“Ken” is written using the Chinese ideogram for 

“building”), a nationwide network of specialty retail stores that carry a diverse range of 

materials used for home renovation and remodeling. In addition, the JS Group has long 

included condominium management companies and has engaged in business alliances 

with numerous housing management companies, including Nomura Real Estate Develop-

ment Co., Ltd. and Leopalace21 Corporation. The purpose of these alliances is to increase 

materials supply and economies of scale by securing a certain number of renovation proj-

ects. Furthermore, Group affiliate JIO Corporation is working to expand the home-renova-

tion defect insurance business and reduce damage from defective construction.

Growth Strategy 2

Focus on Domestic 
Growth Businesses

Structural Changes in Japan’s 
Housing Industry

Shift from new construction to 
renovation as the driving force in 

the housing industry

Decline in the number of 
new housing starts

Lengthening of 
the home rebuilding cycle

Future Renovation Sales

Renovation Strategies of the Group

Expansion strategy

1. Expansion of Ken Depot
2.  Alliances with condominiums and rental 

apartment management companies
3.  Utilization of the sales power of roughly 

20,000 Group employees

The current size of the renovation market is 
approximately 

¥6 trillion.
In the government’s new growth strategy, 
the target is to double this to

¥12 trillion by 2020.

Present 
Renovation Sales

Deep penetration strategy

1. Product development
	 •		Development	of	products	geared	to	renovation	needs
	 •		Development	of	high-performance	products	for	use	in	renovation
	 •		Development	of	eco-friendly	products
2.  Operation of integrated showrooms
3.  Development of a building contractor network
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LIXIL Corporation is the first company to come close to full 
integration of building materials distribution channels
LIXIL Corporation, launched in April 2011 following the merger of key JS Group operating 

companies, has a sales force of over 20,000 employees, more than 10 times larger than 

that of a typical housing equipment and building materials manufacturer. Furthermore, LIXIL 

Corporation’s distribution and construction infrastructure has grown to a size that enables 

coverage of distribution channels for nearly all building materials, not only the products of 

the JS Group.

About 35 different subcontractors are necessary to build a home, and LIXIL Corporation 

has developed contacts with companies that can supply the majority of those products and 

services. One might say that LIXIL Corporation is the first company to come close to full 

integration of building materials distribution channels in Japan. As such, the company can 

offer tremendous benefits in housing construction. For instance, simply consolidating trans-

port of the materials required for on-site construction on a given day increases efficiency by 

reducing the number of delivery trucks by more than half.

Consolidation of supply can also dramatically reduce the total number of people 

required for on-site meetings. Such efficiencies enable tremendous reductions in housing 

construction costs, including general and administrative expenses. This groundbreaking 

business model can be expected to result in dramatic growth in the coming years.

Total Supply

The LIXIL Corporation Sales Force
(LIXIL Corporation was launched in April 2011  
following the merger of key operating companies.)

The first company to come close to integration of 
all building materials distribution channels

Sales Organization
More than 20,000 employees 
(more than 10 times the sales force of many 
building materials manufacturers)

Distribution and Construction 
Infrastructure
Encompassing distribution of nearly all 
building materials

Sales Channels
Covering most of the 35 types of 
subcontractors involved in homebuilding
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Boost business performance with products on the leading 
edge of environmental performance.
The Japanese government’s current key policy of CO2 reduction is likely to take a new 

direction as a result of the recent nuclear power plant accident. The clean energy sector, 

including solar power generation, is attracting tremendous attention and is expected to 

grow vigorously. In addition, interest in conservation of electricity and water used in build-

ings is at an unprecedentedly high level. The JS Group is positioned to play a central role in 

this sector.

Since most of the air heat in buildings enters and leaves through windows, enhancing 

the insulating properties of windows is a decisive factor in power conservation. If all homes 

in Japan installed the double-glazed windows offered by the JS Group, the insulation 

effect would save electricity equivalent to the amount of power in a week generated by 8 

nuclear power reactors with an output of 460MW. In addition, the heat-insulating lace 

curtains produced by Group company Kawashima Selkon Textiles Co., Ltd. provide a high 

heat-shield effect. Furthermore, the business alliance we entered into with Sharp Corpora-

tion in April 2011 has made it possible to provide total power-saving solutions through 

linkage between Sharp equipment such as LED lighting and energy-saving air conditioners 

and JS Group products.

The Group also contributes to water conservation. For instance, sales of toilets under 

the Inax brand that feature the world’s lowest flush volume of four liters are brisk.

By pursuing business opportunities in growth sectors in this way, we aspire to become a 

world leader in the field of housing in five years.

I hope you share this vision and will continue to support our endeavors.

Key Products in the Environment and Energy Sectors

Tostem Inplus  
inner windows

Kawashima Selkon 
Textiles heat insulating 
lace curtains

LIXIL Energy  
LIXIL Solar energy 
generation system

INAX Satis (ECO4) 
water-saving toilet 
with a 4-liter flush
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Feature

The Path to a 10% Operating 
Income Ratio

The JS Group has launched the  C-30 Project  to review from 

scratch and increase the efficiency of business processes in the 

marketing, development and production, and procurement and 

logistics operations of existing domestic businesses. The objectives 

of the  C-30 Project  are to achieve an operating income ratio of 

10% and to improve earnings by approximately ¥110 billion during 

a three-year period through the fiscal year ending March 31, 2014. 

These objectives were set after taking into account factors that put 

downward pressure on profits, such as soaring raw materials prices 

and exchange rate fluctuations. The Group aims to further increase 

net sales by investing profits generated through the project in 

domestic growth businesses and overseas businesses.
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 Objectives
l Profit improvement to achieve operating income ratio of 10% in existing domestic 

businesses by the year ending March 31, 2014

FEATURE
THE PATH TO A 10% OPERATING INCOME RATIO

Existing domestic 
businesses

Operating income

¥49.0 
billion

(Excluding the impact from the 
earthquake on March 11, 2011)

Existing domestic 
businesses

Operating income

¥120.0 
billion

Negative factors

–¥39.0 
billion

l   Increase of raw material 
costs

l   Fluctuation of foreign 
exchange rates

l    Increase of labor costs 
overseas

l   Decrease in selling prices

Year ended  
March 31, 2010

¥50 billion

¥100 billion

¥150 billion

Year ending  
March 31, 2014

 Basic Policies
l Reduce fixed costs by 30% by eliminating overlapping functions through inte-

gration of the five main operating companies
l Promote optimization for the Group through thorough revision of every operation

Improve efficiency of existing  
domestic businesses
C-30 Project

Reduce fixed costs of existing domestic businesses 
by 30% by the year ending March 31, 2014

Expect to improve earnings 
by approximately ¥110.0 
billion through efficiency 
initiatives in all divisions

sales and marketing 

¥40.0 billion

development and production 

¥30.0 billion

other

¥20.0 billion

purchasing and distribution

¥20.0 billion
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Cost Reductions through Reorganization
April 2011 marked the merger of five Group companies—Tostem, Inax, 
Shin Nikkei, Sun Wave and Toyo Exterior—and the launch of LIXIL 
Corporation. LIXIL Corporation has introduced the in-house company 
system and begun centralized management of the development, 
production, marketing, and administrative organizations of the Group’s 
key operating companies. Overall optimization of the Group resulting 
from this reorganization should lead to significant cost reductions.

Until March 31, 2011 From April 1, 2011

By eliminating functional duplication with 
companies that have joined the Group, we aim 
to improve earnings in four divisions: sales and 
marketing, development and production, 
purchasing and distribution, and other.

Holding company: 
JS Group Corporation

Holding company: 
JS Group Corporation

Tostem

Inax

Shin Nikkei

TOEX

Sun Wave

Nittan

Tostem Suzuki Shutter

Tostem Housing Institute

LIXIL Housing Research Institute

Tostem Viva

LIXIL Viva

JSG Finance

JSG Finance

LIXIL Corporation

Domestic Sales & Marketing Company
In charge of domestic sales and marketing activities

Global Business Company
In charge of overseas businesses

Metal & Architectural Materials Company
In charge of strategy planning, development, and production of 
the business

Kitchen & Plumbing Fixtures Company
In charge of strategy planning, development and production of 
the business

Electrical & Electronic Equipment Company
In charge of planning to sales of combined electronics and 
building materials business

Headquarters
In charge of human resources, accounting, IT, purchasing and 
distribution of the whole Group
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FEATURE
THE PATH TO A 10% OPERATING INCOME RATIO

Cost Reductions through Showroom Integration
The JS Group is implementing a project to consolidate 247 showrooms previ-
ously dispersed among five companies into roughly 99 integrated showrooms 
by March 2013. This integration will make possible annual cost reductions of 
approximately ¥5.0 billion. The integrated showrooms, which will showcase a 
vast selection of products, can be expected to not only increase customer 
drawing power, but also boost sales through cross-selling opportunities. For 
instance, it will be possible to propose flooring materials and doors to a cus-
tomer who visits a showroom to look at kitchens.

The LIXIL Kyoto Showroom, the first 

new integrated showroom in Japan, 

ranks among the largest showrooms 

in the Kyoto area in terms of the total 

number of products on display.*

*As of November 30, 2010

77 
locations

66 
locations

2 
locations

Approximately 

99 locations
Consolidate

88 
locations

14 
locations

Total of 247 
locations

Reduce costs by approximately

¥110.0 billion
in the year ending March 2014, 
compared with the year ended 
March 2011.

Channel

¥60.0 billion
to growth businesses (new busi-
nesses in Japan and overseas 
businesses)

Reduce costs by 
approximately 
¥5.0 billion 
per year

Major measures for efficiency in each division and targeted amount of cost reduction

Sales and 
marketing

Reduction 
target

¥40.0 billion
Major measures
l  Integrate sales 

offices and 
showrooms

l  Integrate separated 
sales and 
marketing divisions 
as well as front and 
back operations

Development 
and production

Reduction 
target

¥30.0 billion
Major measures
l  Integrate products 

and decrease the 
number of products

l  Reorganize and 
consolidate 
production sites

l  Automate factories 
and increase prod-
ucts manufactured 
in-house and 
decrease outsourcing

l  Expand production 
overseas

l  Improve product 
quality

Purchasing and 
distribution

Reduction 
target

¥20.0 billion
Major measures
l  Achieve economy 

of scale by 
integrating 
purchasing

l  Increase 
purchasing from 
overseas

l  Consolidate 
logistics centers 
and integrate IT 
systems

Others

Reduction 
target

¥20.0 billion
Major measures
l  Integrate 

headquarters
l  Integrate 

administrative IT 
systems
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Questions Concerning the C-30 Project

We are making concerted efforts across the company to achieve a 10% operating income ratio by 

ensuring that everyone in the organization, from top management to regular employees, are on 

the same page in terms of what fundamental structural reforms are required based on changes in 

the external operating environment. Furthermore, so that we don’t fall into the trap of implementing mea-

sures that have only a temporary beneficial effect on earnings such as reducing operating expenses in 

the short term, we have formulated a three-year plan, which aims to reduce fixed expenses from a 

medium- to long-term perspective. However, we are putting emphasis on speed to address some of the 

issues arising from the integration of five main operating companies to form LIXIL. These include inte-

grating sales offices and showrooms, reassigning personnel from existing domestic businesses to 

growth businesses in Japan and overseas businesses, raising factory operating efficiency, centralizing 

the purchasing of raw materials, and integrating administrative systems. No area of our operations is 

off-limits when it comes to earnings improvement. We will not be bound by past practices and are deter-

mined to generate maximum merger benefits through optimization of the whole group.

What are the important points for achieving an operating 
income ratio of 10%?

We may not be able to reach our 10% operating income ratio goal for existing businesses even if 

each division achieves its target under the C-30 Project because of greater-than-expected 

change in the external operating environment such as much higher material prices and lower new 

housing starts. For this reason, we are closely watching trends in the external operating environment and 

plan to take additional profit improvement measures if necessary.

It’s a three-year plan, but to fully generate results in the third year, we must simultaneously execute a 

raft of initiatives over the next two years. Speed will be key.

What factors could prevent you from achieving the goals 
of your plan?

The project management meeting, which is made up of JS Group executive officers and 

managers, is meeting once a fortnight to share progress reports and issues, as well as to 

quickly decide on the next steps. Furthermore, we are using the C-30 Monitoring System as 

a tool for managing whether each of the 12 units is making progress improving earnings according 

to plan. If progress against each milestone for the various initiatives is behind schedule, this 

system “sounds an alarm” and steps are taken to catch up. Moreover, the C-30 Project will apply 

to any new mergers or acquisitions we conduct and progress will be rigorously managed.

What steps have you taken to ensure progress is 
monitored?

A

Q

Q

Q

A

A

Stakeholder

Stakeholder

Stakeholder
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Plumbing Fixtures BusinessMetal Building Material Business

Sashes/Doors Bathroom unitsBuilding sashes Sanitary ware

Exteriors Kitchen systemsShutters Washstand cabinet units

31.0%39.9%

June 2007
Building Standards 
Law revision

September 2008
Global f inancial 
crisis

Review of Operations: Summary
The Group conducts a wide array of businesses under its Total Housing vision with the aim of 

meeting various residential housing needs in terms of both products and services.

In the year ended March 31, 2011, consolidated 

net sales rose 23.6% year on year to ¥1,214.9 

billion as a result of sales expansion activities, the 

impact of newly consolidated companies, and other 

factors. Operating income rose 55.5% to ¥40.4 

billion due to factors including cost-reduction 

effects. The Group recorded consolidated net 

income of ¥15.8 billion (as compared to a net loss 

of ¥5.3 billion the previous fiscal year) on a turn-

around in extraordinary profit and loss attributable 

to a gain on negative goodwill, non-recurrence of 

substantial impairment losses incurred in the previ-

ous fiscal year, and other items.

The Operating Environment

Share of Total Net SalesShare of Total Net Sales

Operating Income RatioOperating Income Ratio

3.0%4.8% 3.4%4.5%
Year Ended 
March 2010

Year Ended 
March 2010

Year Ended 
March 2011

Year Ended 
March 2011

Housing Stock
The proportion of housing built according to the standards effective 
until 1981 under the previous Building Standards Law in Japan’s 
housing stock is high, and there will presumably be demand for 
renovation or rebuilding of this housing stock.

6,000

3,000

2,000

5,000

4,000

1,000

0 0–1 8–17 18–27 28–37 38–47 48–57 58– (year)2–7

Type and Number of Houses by Year Since Construction

(Thousand units)

■ Detached house  ■ Condominium  ■ Tenement house  ■ Other
Note: Figures exclude unconfirmed dwellings
Source:  Housing and Land Survey (2008), Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications

Change in New Housing Starts
Amid population decline in Japan, a slight decrease over time in new 
housing starts is forecast as a long-term trend.

Total New Housing Starts

(Thousand units)

■ Owner-occupied  ■ Rental housing*2  ■ Subdivision
* Company-provided housing is included in rental housing.
Source:  Survey on Dwelling Houses and Construction Started, Ministry of Land, Infrastructure and Transport

1,500

1,000

500

0 2001 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 20102002 (Fiscal year)

Net Sales
(¥ billion)

Operating Income
(¥ billion)

■ Metal Building Material Business
■ Plumbing Fixtures Business
■ Other Building Materials and Equipment Business
■ Distribution and Retail Business
■ Housing, Real Estate and Other Businesses

1,500

1,000

500

0
2010 2011

45

30

15

0
2010 2011
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Housing, Real Estate and Other 
BusinessesDistribution and Retail BusinessOther Building Materials and 

Equipment Business

Wooden interior furnishing 
materials

Super Viva Home Homebuilding franchisesTiles Super Viva Home 
(Building materials center)

Ground inspections

Disaster prevention 
equipment

Viva Home Housing defect warranty 
liability insurance services

Exterior wall materials Ken Depot Real estate franchises

4.6%11.7%12.8%

May 2006
$3,310/ton July 2008

$3,380/ton

Share of Total Net SalesShare of Total Net SalesShare of Total Net Sales

Operating Income RatioOperating Income RatioOperating Income Ratio

–2.1%2.9%–0.9% 4.1%1.4%2.2%
Year Ended 
March 2010

Year Ended 
March 2010

Year Ended 
March 2010

Year Ended 
March 2011

Year Ended 
March 2011

Year Ended 
March 2011

Change in the Commercial Building Market
Orders have trended down the past three years due to factors including 
the worldwide economic recession and financial market turmoil, and 
this trend is expected to continue.

Commercial Building Construction:
Orders Received by 50 Biggest Contractors
(¥ trillion)

Note:  Building constructions only (Includes offices, government buildings, accommodations, factories, 
residences, medical facilities, amusement facilities, etc.)

Source:  The Current Survey of Orders Received for Construction [Big 50 Constructors], Ministry of Land, 
Infrastructure and Transport

12

8

4

0 2001 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 20102002 (Fiscal year)

Raw Material Price
The price of aluminum, after rising sharply in 2006, began to fall in the 
second half of 2008, before resuming an upward path in 2010. In order 
to limit the impact on the JS Group’s performance and alleviate cost 
pressure, we use a combination of hedging and spot purchasing.

Trends in Aluminium Prices

(U.S.$/ton)

4,000

3,000

1,000

2,000

0 2002 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 20112003

Source: LME statistics

(CY)
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Products/Product 
Brands

Main Competitors Status of Products and Services (Year Ended March 2011) Product Sales (¥ billion)

Housing Sashes 
and Related 
Products
■ Tostem

■ Shin Nikkei

■ YKK AP

■ Sankyo-Tateyama

Net sales increased sharply by 34% year on year, reflecting the 
inclusion of Shin Nikkei in our accounts as a subsidiary from the 
year ended March 2011, and a recovery in single-dwelling 
housing. Excluding the impact of the new consolidation, net 
sales increased 11% year on year. A standout performer was the 
Inplus inner window for renovation use, which was an eligible 
product under the Japanese government’s eco-point system. 
Inplus sales nearly tripled from the previous fiscal year to ¥10.1 
billion. Another noteworthy development during the past year 
was the launch of housing sash sales for the local market in 
Thailand.

Exteriors
■ Tostem

■ TOEX

■ Shin Nikkei

■ YKK AP

■ Sankyo-Tateyama

In the year ended March 2011, we focused on sales of solarium 
and patio exteriors. Besides raising the profile of these products 
through television commercials, we conducted sales activities 
closely tied to regions with the cooperation of our Shizenyoku de 
Kurasu network of specialty stores for design and product 
installation. These efforts translated into much higher sales of 
solarium-related products.

Building Sashes and Shutters
■ Tostem

■ Shin Nikkei

■  Suzuki

■ YKK AP

■ Sankyo-Tateyama

■ Fuji Sash

Net sales increased 28% year on year due to the boost from 
new consolidations. However, excluding that impact, net sales 
declined 6% year on year because of a downturn in 
non-residential building starts.

Review of Operations
Metal Building Material Business

Net Sales

(¥ billion)

Operating Income and 
Operating Income Ratio
(¥ billion)

500.0

400.0

200.0

300.0

100.0

0

397.9

2009 2010

368.8

488.5

2011

25.0

20.0

10.0

15.0

5.0

0

19.2 17.9

22.1

2009 2010 2011

4.8% 4.8%
4.5%

Fiscal Year Results

The JS Group worked to expand sales by providing eco-friendly 

products. These efforts included launching sales of Samos, a new 

generation window that integrates the frame and double-glazed 

glass, and enhancing the lineup and boosting the performance of 

Inplus inner windows for soundproofing and insulation. Due to 

these efforts, along with the boost from making Shin Nikkei 

Company, Ltd. a subsidiary, net sales climbed to ¥488.5 billion. We 

also posted a higher operating income of ¥22.1 billion on the back 

of successful cost-reduction measures, including factory restructur-

ing, as well as increased sales.

■ Operating income
■ Operating income ratio

* Source: 2009 Main Products and Services Share Survey, Nikkei, Inc.

* Company surveys

* Company surveys

200.0

100.0

0

170.6

152.8

2009 2010

204.2

2011

200.0

100.0

0

101.3

92.2

2009 2010

110.2

2011

200.0

100.0

0

107.8

93.1

2009 2010

119.6

2011

Market Position

Industry No.1
(Estimated market share 

approx. 50%)*

Market Position

Industry No.1
(Estimated market share 

approx. 55%)*

Market Position

Industry No.1 or 2
(Estimated market share

 approx. 40%)*

[Situation in Japan]
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Initiatives Going Forward

Under LIXIL Corporation, which was formed in April 2011, we aim to increase both 

sales and profitability. One step will be to make further strides in integrating prod-

ucts and streamlining our workforce to strengthen the organization. In tandem, we 

will develop new, highly functional products for the renovation market, as well as 

eco products.

Exteriors: Archicast for Entrance 
Porch Installation

Archicast for entrance porch installa-

tion creates a fenced entrance porch 

to the home and also serves as a 

smart-looking gate, giving homeown-

ers additional privacy and security.

Inner Windows: Inplus

The Inplus inner window system 

enjoyed the limelight following the 

2010 launch of the eco-point system 

for housing in Japan. Installable in no 

time, this product elevates the insu-

lating performance of homes. It will 

also meet the needs of homeowners 

looking to save energy in the face of 

power shortages after the nuclear 

power accident in Japan. As a new 

feature, Inplus is also now effective at 

blocking house dust.

Next-Generation Window: Samos

We have achieved a high level of 

insulation efficiency with this product 

by expanding the surface area of the 

glass, resulting in less thermal con-

ductivity, while minimizing the alumi-

num frame. With distinctive, new 

technology for firmly fixing the frame 

and glass, we have delivered a new 

generation window but at old prices.

Housing Sashes and Related 

Products

The winding up of the recent eco-point 

system for housing at the end of July 

2011 may be a negative factor for our 

market. However, power shortages 

stemming from the nuclear power plant 

accident following the Great East Japan 

Earthquake are expected to spur greater 

demand for energy-saving housing 

sashes. Besides Inplus, we have plans 

for the nationwide launch of Samos. 

This highly competitive housing sash 

boasts strong environmental perfor-

mance and an eye-catching design. 

Overseas, stepped-up development of 

products for local markets in Thailand 

and China should also serve to promote 

the Group’s overseas development. As 

part of these efforts, we will open LIXIL 

Gallery*, our first LIXIL showroom in 

Thailand.

*Showcases window sashes, sanitary ware, bathtubs, tiles, etc.

Exteriors

As housing becomes more compact in 

Japan, particularly the Tokyo metropoli-

tan area, gates are harder to install. 

However, demand is actually rising for 

the installation of gates that use narrow 

spaces effectively to enhance security. 

In a bid to capitalize on this demand, in 

March 2011 we launched sales of 

Archicast gates and fences for entrance 

porch installation of houses built on 

small lots. This new offering is easy to 

install in existing homes and we hope 

this attractive feature will expand the 

gate market, including from existing 

home owners.

Building Sashes and Shutters

In 2011, we acquired Shanghai Meite 

Curtain Wall System Co., Ltd. We plan 

to effectively utilize this company to 

bolster our overseas operations.
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Products/Product 
Brands

Main Competitors Status of Products and Services (Year Ended March 2011) Product Sales (¥ billion)

Sanitary Ware
■ INAX

■ TOTO

■  Panasonic Electric 
Works

Amid a recovery in new housing starts in Japan, sales increased 
4% year on year as a result of efforts to market an expansive 
lineup of products equipped with new features, priced from the 
low end to the intermediate and premium end of the market. In 
overseas operations, the Asia-Pacific Division of American 
Standard, which was added to the JS Group in the year ended 
March 2010, continued to post strong growth, leading to dou-
ble-digit growth on a local currency basis in Asia and ASEAN 
countries. Vietnam operations continue to produce strong sales 
that are higher than expected.

Bathroom Units
■ INAX

■ TOTO

■  Panasonic Electric 
Works

■ Takara Standard

Bathroom unit sales declined 1% year on year, reflecting fewer 
new product launches ahead of the merger. But in the mean-
time, we integrated the Tostem and Sun Wave brands with Inax 
to streamline operations, reduce costs, and achieve efficiency 
gains in preparing for growth afterwards.

Kitchen 
Systems
■ Sun Wave

■ Takara Standard

■ Cleanup

■  Panasonic Electric 
Works

■ TOTO

■ Yamaha

■ Nasluck

The addition of Sun Wave to the JS Group boosted sales, 
resulting in a 163% year-on-year increase. In Japan, outstanding 
cost performance spurred brisk sales of Amiy. The global finan-
cial crisis has led to an accelerated decline in kitchen system 
prices in Japan, and Amiy tapped into this trend. A noteworthy 
move during the past year was the formation of a business 
alliance with the Haier Group to strengthen sales in China.

Washstand 
Cabinet Units
■ INAX

■ TOTO

■ Takara Standard

■  Panasonic Electric 
Works

Sales increased 20% year on year due to the addition of Sun 
Wave to the JS Group. We made gains in streamlining this 
business through integration of the Tostem and Sun Wave 
brands in Inax.

Net Sales

(¥ billion)

Operating Income and 
Operating Income Ratio
(¥ billion)

400.0

200.0

300.0

100.0

0

291.7

282.8

2009 2010

380.0

2011

15.0

10.0

5.0

0

3.8

8.4

2009 2010

13.0

2011

3.4%

1.3%

3.0%

■ Operating income
■ Operating income ratio

* Company surveys

* Yano Research Institute, 2010 surveys

Review of Operations
Plumbing Fixtures Business

Fiscal Year Results

The JS Group posted net sales of ¥380.0 billion, in part because of 

the consolidation of Sun Wave. Other contributions came from the 

launch of Sunvarie Richelle, a kitchen system designed with stor-

age and other user considerations in mind, and proposal-based 

sales activities for high-end SATIS tankless toilets that promoted 

this product line’s outstanding cleanability. Operating income 

increased substantially to ¥13.0 billion due to higher sales and 

cost-cutting activities, which included integrating production bases.

150.0

100.0

50.0

0

91.4

88.4

2009 2010

92.2

2011

150.0

100.0

50.0

0

100.4

86.6

2009 2010

85.9

2011

150.0

100.0

50.0

0

49.1

43.6

2009 2010

114.9

2011

150.0

100.0

50.0

0

26.9

24.4

2009 2010

29.3

2011

Market Position

Industry No.2
(Estimated market share 

approx. 40%)*

Market Position

Industry No.1
(Estimated market share 

approx. 32%)*

Market Position

Industry No.1
(Estimated market share 

approx. 36%)*

Market Position

Industry No.1
(Estimated market share 

approx. 29%)*

* Yano Research Institute, 2010 surveys

* Yano Research Institute, 2010 surveys

[Situation in Japan]
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Initiatives Going Forward

In the year ended March 2011, we released fewer new products as we prepared 

for the merger. In the year ending March 2012, however, we intend to bring to 

market a stream of products featuring high performance and innovative designs, 

following streamlining of development processes. Brand integration should also 

expedite the creation of new synergies and improved productivity.

Kitchen Systems: Sunvarie Richelle

The Sunvarie Richelle series of kitchen 

systems was re-released on April 1, 

2011. This revamped ergonomic 

series was designed based on exten-

sive data from research into how 

people move about kitchens, as well 

as improving the comfort and reduc-

ing the stress as they move about.

Sanitary Ware: Satis

Satis was born in 2001 under the 

concept of “the world’s smallest and 

most satisfying.” This tankless, 

shower toilet has won a legion of 

supporters, from bathroom designers 

to consumers, for its cutting edge 

functions and continually evolving 

design. To mark the 10th anniversary 

of this much-loved product, we will 

release a limited production run of 

650 Noble Black Satis toilets in April 

2011.

Sanitary Ware

In April 2011 in Japan, we will begin 

selling a toilet featuring the industry’s 

lowest water-saving flush volume of four 

liters (as of January 2011). In strategi-

cally important China, we will continue 

to make up-front investments to raise 

awareness of the American Standard 

brand. We also plan to step up sales in 

inland China, where the volume zone of 

the market is located primarily. In 

Vietnam, we will further solidify our earn-

ings base by expanding sales of other 

JS Group products and achieving 

greater regional penetration.

Bathroom Units

Eyeing an expected gradual recovery in 

condominium construction starts in 

Japan, we intend to bolster sales of 

products for multiple dwellings. These 

include Soleo and Renobio for the reno-

vation market.

We also plan to launch sales of 

Grandage, a mid- to high-end offering 

that represents a new proposal in bath-

rooms based on the concept of relaxing 

living. Grandage features outstanding 

cleanability and environmental perfor-

mance, from Kururinpoi Drain, to Kirei 

Mirror, Kirei Flooring, Thermo-Floor, and 

Thermo-Bath Light. Overseas, we will 

promote sales to the top end of the 

market leveraging the JAXSON and 

Sphiano brands.

Kitchen Systems

Having consolidated the Inax and 

Tostem brands in Sun Wave in 2010, we 

now aim to generate more benefits from 

volume production. We will upgrade 

three mainstay kitchen systems following 

the brand integration: Sunvarie Richelle, 

Sunvarie Amiy, and Sierra. At the same 

time, since April 2011 we have been 

launching new products with enhanced 

features. One example is RenoLX, which 

was designed with a frame structure to 

make kitchen remodeling easier and also 

features enhanced functions. In China, 

we will step up initiatives in our business 

for housing sold with pre-finished interior 

furnishings in cooperation with new 

alliance partner Haier.

Washstand Cabinet Units

In April 2011, we will begin selling Life 

Design Dresser LX, the industry’s first 

knockdown kit-type washstand cabinet, 

with the aim of opening up the renova-

tion market.
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Products/Product 
Brands

Main Competitors Status of Products and Services (Year Ended March 2011) Product Sales (¥ billion)

Wooden Interior 
Furnishing 
Materials
■ Tostem

■  Panasonic Electric 
Works

■ Daiken

■ Wood One

■ Eidai

The delivery of solutions for total spaces through combined 
sales efforts with housing sashes has yielded higher profitability 
than our rivals. Sales increased 3% year on year as a result of 
providing a more expansive and enhanced product lineup based 
on four key concepts: reliability and safety, vibrant designs, 
people and environmental friendliness, and simple installation.

Exterior Wall 
Materials
■ Asahi Tostem

■ INAX

■ Tostem

■ Nichiha

■  Kubota 
Matsushitadenko 
Exterior Works

Asahi Tostem Exterior Building Materials Co., Ltd. posted higher 
earnings than the previous fiscal year. However, sales declined 
1% because of the impact of damage caused to production 
facilities by the Great East Japan Earthquake.

Tiles
■ INAX

■ Danto

■ TOTO

Although net sales declined 5% year on year, this business saw 
enhanced profitability as the benefits of business restructuring 
emerged; in the year ended March 2010, we closed production 
lines, reassigned personnel, and took other measures. As a 
result, this business moved back into the black in the year 
ended March 2011.

■ Nittan

■ Nohmi Bosai

■ Hochiki

Sales of disaster prevention equipment rose 6% year on year on 
the back of strong results from the installation of fire alarms, fire 
fighting facilities, and other products.

Net Sales

(¥ billion)

Operating Income (Loss) 
and Operating Income Ratio
(¥ billion)
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■ Operating income (loss)
■ Operating income ratio

* Yano Research Institute, 2010 surveys

* Yano Research Institute, 2010 surveys

Review of Operations
Other Building Materials and Equipment Business

Fiscal Year Results

Sales increased year on year to ¥159.7 billion on the back of 

growth in wooden interior furnishing materials and other factors. In 

terms of earnings, the business returned to profitability, posting 

operating income of ¥3.6 billion; as opposed to an operating loss of 

¥1.4 billion recorded in the year ended March 2010. The turnaround 

reflected the higher sales, along with successful business downsiz-

ing and other measures.

Market Position

Industry No.3
(Estimated market share 

approx. 13%)*

Market Position

Industry No.3

Market Position

Industry No.1
(Estimated market share 

approx. 62%)*

Market Position

Industry No.3 to 5

Disaster Prevention 
Equipment
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We intend to focus on sales of solar panels provided by LIXIL Energy 

Corporation, which was established in the previous fiscal year. LIXIL Energy is 

well versed in housing construction and installation. Another strength is that it 

sells products through the homebuilder sales channel rather than volume retail-

ers. Amid concerns about power shortages stemming from the nuclear power 

plant incident after the Great East Japan Earthquake, we plan to capture 

demand for the installation of solar panels in new buildings and existing housing 

stock. Furthermore, under our joint venture and business alliance with Sharp 

Corporation, we will establish Eco Life Solutions Co., Ltd. on August 1, 2011. 

This company plans to integrate household electrical equipment and construc-

tion materials, including solar power generation systems and LED lighting.

Tiles

Shenyang City in Liaoning Province, 

China, is promoting a comprehensive city 

plan which is seeing the use of huge 

numbers of large tiles for exterior walls. 

We have established Shenyang Inax 

Building Materials to cater to this 

demand. The new company plans to 

begin production at a new factory in 

spring 2012.

Initiatives Going Forward

Interior Tiles: Ecocarat

These tiles for home interior use are 

both stylish and functional. Not only 

can they adjust interior humidity to 

make the air “cleaner,” but they 

enable homeowners to create ideal 

spaces that are aesthetically pleasing 

to the eye.

Wooden Interior Furnishing 
Materials: Grand Line

A wood-like natural material, 

Grand Line complements gold, 

antique chandeliers and other fittings.

Wooden Interior Furnishing 
Materials: WoodyLine Altesimo

Altesimo is a interior furnishing 

material designed using aluminum to 

create a modern look. This sharp-

looking material is more resilient to 

warping than wooden joinery.

Overview of 
Eco Life Solutions Co., Ltd.

Company Eco Life Solutions Co., Ltd.

Business 
lines

Planning, marketing and 
related services for integrat-
ing electrical equipment, 
building materials and home 
fixtures

Location
3-2-3 Nihombashi-hamacho, 
Chuo-ku, Tokyo

Capital ¥70 million

Shareholders
Sharp Corporation 50%, 
LIXIL 50%

Establish-
ment

August 1, 2011
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Net Sales 

(¥ billion)

Operating Income and 
Operating Income Ratio 
(¥ billion)
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■ Operating income
■ Operating income ratio

Home Center Business

Review of Operations
Distribution and Retail Business

Fiscal Year Results

Net sales increased year on year to ¥142.8 billion. One contributing 

factor was the opening of new stores, notably Super Viva Home 

Chiharadai, an eco-friendly store featuring a solar power generation 

system and eco-toilets. Operating income declined to ¥2.0 billion, 

partly due to up-front investments for developing new store formats.

Number of Stores 
(As of March 31, 2011)

Store Format Number
YoY 

Change

SVH 20 +1

NVH* 9 +3

VH 53 –3

Ken Depot, Ken Depot Pro 30 +27

Total 112 +28

* NVH=New Viva Home. These are large outlets with sales floor areas  

of around 10,000 m2.

The JS Group pioneered the home center business in Japan, bringing this business 

model to the country more than 30 years ago. Around eight years ago, we began 

tapping home centers as an important sales channel for our remodeling business 

when we began extending business development from Viva Home (VH) stores stocked 

primarily with everyday items, to large Super Viva Home (SVH) stores stocked with a 

broad and enhanced lineup of building materials in need among building profession-

als. Then two years ago, we bolstered our distribution and retail business further with 

smaller Ken Depot outlets. Stocked with building materials primarily, these stores 

were designed smaller with greater efficiency in mind as a new business model.

In addition to the new eco-friendly 

Super Viva Home Chiharadai outlet in 

Chiba Prefecture, we opened 3 other 

large outlets, as well as 27 Ken Depot 

stores, building material centers distin-

guished for their focus on professional 

customers. We also closed three VH 

outlets that sold a variety of general 

merchandise. As a result, we had a total 

of 112 stores at the end of March 2011.

Year Ended March 2011

The home center industry experienced 

escalating competition in the year 

ended March 2011. Even in the face of 

this competition, however, we aggres-

sively opened new outlets, which 

boosted our sales. Earnings declined 

though, due to upfront investments for 

opening new format outlets specializing 

in building materials.

Initiatives Going Forward

In the year ending March 2012, we plan 

to open five new SVH outlets. SVH stores 

are large outlets with floor areas exceed-

ing an average of over 10,000 square 

meters. To hold investment per store 

down, we lease the land for these outlets.

We also plan to step up develop-

ment of Ken Depot outlets in Tohoku, 

to provide vital materials for supporting 

reconstruction of the disaster-stricken 

region. Our plans call for the opening of 

58 Ken Depot outlets in the year ending 

March 2012, and the conversion of 

unprofitable VH outlets to the Ken 

Depot format. More typically, Ken Depot 

outlets with sales areas of around 

2,000 square meters are opened in 

vacated warehouses. Because we pitch 

these stores to building professionals, 

there is no need to decorate them for 

the general consumer. This means that 

we are able to open outlets with a 

much lower investment per store. Over 

the next three years, while we expect 

Ken Depot to continue running at a loss 

on a non-consolidated basis, we 

believe we can grow this format as a 

driver of the JS Group’s earnings by 

supplying materials for the remodeling 

and renovation market.
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Net Sales 

(¥ billion)
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Housing Franchise Business

The housing franchise business has 

three brands: Eyeful Home, FiAce Home 

and GL Home. In the year ended March 

2011, the number of contracts rose 9%, 

leading to a 6% year-on-year rise in net 

sales. We also more than doubled oper-

ating income on the back of a recovery 

in construction of owner-occupier 

homes and a strong reputation for the 

quality of our homes.

Ground Inspection Business

Japan Home Shield Co., Ltd. conducts 

ground investigations and analysis, as 

well as provides ground improvement 

and other total ground solutions. This 

company posted a 9% year-on-year 

increase in net sales by stepping up 

sales activities closely tied to each area. 

Operating income also rose 5%.

Housing Defect Warranty Liability 

Insurance Business

JIO Corporation recorded a 27% 

increase in sales in the year ended 

March 2011. This large increase 

reflected higher orders for defect insur-

ance for new houses, as well as steady 

sales of defect insurance for existing 

home purchases and home renovations. 

The higher sales and operational 

improvements made through the previ-

ous year enabled this business to record 

a profit in the year ended March 2011.

Year Ended March 2011 Initiatives Going Forward

Review of Operations
Housing, Real Estate and Other Businesses

Fiscal Year Results

Supported by housing investment and real estate conditions, net 

sales rose to ¥57.5 billion. Operating income moved into the black 

at ¥2.4 billion, following an operating loss of ¥1.1 billion in the pre-

vious fiscal year. This improvement reflected efforts to rebuild the 

earnings structure.

Operating Income (Loss) 
and Operating Income Ratio 
(¥ billion)

Arietta Premium

Launched in April 2010, Arietta  

Premium draws on the DNA of  a 

homebuilder that won the grand prize 

in 2009 and recognition for excellence 

in 2010 in House of the Year in Elec-

tric. Employing outstanding airproofing 

and insulating technologies, as well as 

natural energy from the wind and sun, 

this house is cool in the summer but 

warm in the winter. Combined with 

energy-generating technology in the 

form of a solar energy power genera-

tion system and geothermal air condi-

tioning system, Arietta Premium offers 

more in eco-living.

In each business, we plan to continue 

cutting costs. In the housing franchise 

business, we will endeavor to increase 

sales by promoting new partnerships, 

enhancing our product lineup, and 

strengthening our renovation business. 

The ground inspection business will look 

to grow its market share, while the war-

ranty liability insurance services busi-

ness will attempt to do the same by 

executing its sales strategy.

■ Operating income (loss)
■ Operating income ratio
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JS Group Corporation, a holding company, recognizes that it is important for the 

entire Group to comply with laws, regulations, and social norms. It is also important 

for the Group to fulfill its corporate social responsibilities. To this end, each operat-

ing company shall offer useful products and services, and thereby earn profit and 

pay taxes, provide returns to shareholders, and actively disclose information through 

public relations and IR activities.

Activities for Sustainable Management

The JS Group recognizes environmental 
conservation as a priority for developing 
a sustainable society in the 21st century 
and has set forth The Environmental 
Principles of the Group.

PAGE 46

+

The General Meeting of Shareholders 
held on June 23, 2011 approved the 
adoption of a company with committees 
system of corporate governance for the 
JS Group. The aim of this change is to 
facilitate swift business decision-making 
by executive officers through the 
separation of management execution 
and supervision, and to secure 
management transparency. The JS 
Group now aims to achieve greater 
growth under this new organizational 
structure.

PAGE 37
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Approach to Corporate Governance

Under the leadership of JS Group Corporation, which is operated as a pure holding company, 

Group operating companies work as independent partners to carry out their duties while 

cooperating with one another to produce superior results.

The JS Group Corporation works to create and provide value that is attractive for all 

stakeholders to be able to continue as a corporate group that has the trust of society. The 

Company recognizes strengthening of corporate governance as one of its most important 

management themes in this context.

The Company undertakes various effective measures to expedite decision-making, ensure 

effective and efficient business execution, and prepare an appropriate structure for Group control.

Governance Structure (As of June 23, 2011)
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General Meeting of Shareholders

JS Group Corporation

Operating Companies

Board of Directors (Internal and Outside)

Chairman of the Board

Board of Directors

Appointment
and Dismissal Appointment

Appointment
amd Dismissal

Management
Supervision

Representative Executive Officers and Executive Officers
(Decide on matters delegated by the Board of Directors, and execute business)

Compliance audit
Validation audit

(Decision-making and supervision of 
business execution)

Appointment and
dismissal

(Outside directors 
form the majority)

Executive Officers Meeting and Various Committees
Strategy Committee, Internal Audit Committee, Compliance Committee, Risk Management Meeting, 
Investment Strategy Council, Investment and Loan Council, Environmental Strategy Committee, 
Group IT Strategy Committee, Reorganization Deliberation Council, 
New Business Deliberation (Acquisition) Council

General Meeting of Shareholders

Board of Directors

Management Meeting

Divisions

Nomination Committee

Compensation Committee

Board of Corporate Auditors

Appointment and 
Dismissal

Report

Audit

Audit

Report

Audit Committee

Determination of 
Director Candidates

Activities for Sustainable Management

+Corporate Governance Environmental Activities
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Overview of Corporate Governance Framework (As of June 23, 2011)

On June 23, 2011, the Company changed its corporate governance system from a company 

with corporate auditors system to a company with committees system. This move resulted in the 

following changes.

The Board of Directors is made up of 10 directors, 5 of whom are outside directors. The Board 

decides on matters stipulated by laws and regulations, basic management policy and other 

important management matters. At the same time, the Board supervises the execution of duties 

by the directors and executive officers. Outside directors in particular perform an important 

supervisory role from an independent standpoint, helping to ensure even more robust and 

effective corporate governance. In principle, the Board of Directors meets once a month.

 The Nomination Committee is made up of three directors, two of whom are outside directors. 

This Committee decides the details of proposals submitted to the General Meeting of 

Shareholders concerning the appointment and dismissal of directors. The Nomination 

Committee meets at least once a year, or as necessary.

 The Compensation Committee is made up of three directors, two of whom are outside 

directors. This Committee decides details of individual compensation for directors and 

executive officers. The Compensation Committee meets at least once a year, or as necessary.

 The Audit Committee is made up of three directors, all of whom are outside directors. In 

addition to supervising the execution of duties by the directors and executive officers, the 

Audit Committee decides the details of audit policy, audit plans, proposals for the appointment 

or dismissal of the independent auditors to the General Meeting of Shareholders, and other 

matters. As a rule, this Committee convenes at least once a month, or as necessary.

Composition of Committees and Chairpersons

Total members Standing members Internal directors Outside directors Chairperson

Nomination 
Committee 3 0 1 2 Internal director

Compensation 
Committee 3 0 1 2 Internal director

Audit Committee 3 0 0 3 Outside director

The Executive Officers Meeting is made up of the executive officers and serves as a decision-

making body for business execution based on the basic policy decided by the Board of 

Directors. It decides on important matters relating to business execution of the Company and 

the JS Group as a whole. As a rule, the Executive Officers Meeting meets once a month, but 

may hold extraordinary meetings as necessary.

The Company has an Internal Audit Division, which is independent of divisions responsible for 

business execution. The Internal Audit Division conducts audits of all business divisions, except 

the Secretariat of the Internal Audit Committee, while working with the internal audit divisions of 

each operating company, in accordance with the internal audit plan. It provides advice and 

follows up on matters for improvement.

Board of Directors

Nomination Committee, 
Audit Committee and 
Compensation Committee

Executive Officers 
Meeting

Internal Audit
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The JS Group Corporation retains Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC to conduct audits. Proper 

audits are carried out according to the provisions of laws and regulations. The names of the 

certified public accountants who led auditing duties in the term under review, the number of 

consecutive years they have audited the Company, and details of personnel who assisted with 

audits are as follows.

 Names of certified public accountants who led auditing duties and number of consecutive 

audit years 

Designated limited liability partner: Kazuhiro Sasai (5 consecutive years), Yoshinori Hirano (5 

consecutive years), and Junichi Yamanobe (2 consecutive years)

 Assistants on audits 

8 certified public accountants, 7 assistant accountants

Reason for Selecting Current Corporate Governance Framework

The General Meeting of Shareholders held on June 23, 2011 approved the adoption of a 

company with committees system of corporate governance for the JS Group. The aim of this 

change is to facilitate swift business decision-making by executive officers through the 

separation of management execution and supervision, and to secure management transparency.

Outside Directors

Accounting Audits

Name Reason for Selection

Masahiro 
Takasaki

Mr. Takasaki was appointed on the basis of his wide-ranging knowledge and deep insight of corporate 
management based on extensive managerial experience. Furthermore, as an outside director, he has properly 
fulfilled his role in supervising decision-making on important management matters and business execution. 
Mr. Takasaki worked for a financial institution in the past with which the Company had dealings, but the 
Company believes a certain degree of independence is assured.

Tetsuo 
Shimura

Mr. Shimura was appointed on the basis of his wide-ranging knowledge and deep insight of corporate 
management based on extensive managerial experience. Furthermore, as an outside director, he has properly 
fulfilled his role in supervising decision-making on important management matters and business execution. 
Mr. Shimura worked for a financial institution in the past with which the Company had dealings, but the 
Company believes a certain degree of independence is assured.

Fumio 
Sudo

Mr. Sudo was appointed on the basis of his wide-ranging knowledge and deep insight of corporate 
management based on extensive managerial experience, and due to the Company’s belief that he will 
properly fulfill his role as an outside director in supervising decision-making on important management 
matters and business execution. Outside director Fumio Sudo was appointed as an independent director of 
the Company who does not infringe either of the evaluation standards concerning independence of 
independent directors and corporate auditors stipulated by the Tokyo Stock Exchange because management 
judged there was no risk of a conflict of interest with ordinary shareholders.

Hidehiko 
Sato

Mr. Sato was appointed on the basis of his wide-ranging knowledge and deep insight of compliance and 
extensive experience in organizational management in law enforcement and government, and due to the 
Company’s belief that he will further strengthen the function of the Board of Directors. Outside director 
Hidehiko Sato was appointed as an independent director of the Company who does not infringe either of the 
evaluation standards concerning independence of independent directors and corporate auditors stipulated 
by the Tokyo Stock Exchange because management judged there was no risk of a conflict of interest with 
ordinary shareholders.

Tsutomu 
Kawaguchi

Mr. Kawaguchi was appointed on the basis of his specialist knowledge and extensive experience in finance 
and accounting gained as a certified public accountant, and due to the Company’s belief that he will further 
strengthen the function of the Board of Directors. Outside director Tsutomu Kawaguchi was appointed as an 
independent director of the Company who does not infringe either of the evaluation standards concerning 
independence of independent directors and corporate auditors stipulated by the Tokyo Stock Exchange 
because management judged there was no risk of a conflict of interest with ordinary shareholders.

Activities for Sustainable Management

+Corporate Governance Environmental Activities
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Director and Corporate Auditor Remuneration

Remuneration paid to the Company’s directors and corporate auditors in the year ended March 

31, 2011 was as per the table below.

Regarding the amount and method of determining the remuneration of corporate officers, the 

Company’s policy is to pay a level of remuneration commensurate with each corporate officer’s 

duties in order to meet shareholders’ expectations.

In accordance with this policy, annual remuneration amounts are determined with consideration 

to each corporate officer’s responsibilities and with reference to the remuneration levels of other 

companies. Regarding Representative Directors and the Executive Directors (hereinafter referred to 

as the “Executive Officers”), part of the annual remuneration amount is performance-based 

remuneration (salaries linked to Company income), and is calculated as follows.

Method of Calculating Performance-Based Remuneration (Salaries Linked to Company Income)
We pay Executive Officers holding positions at the end of each fiscal year remuneration linked to the 
Company’s business performance of up to one thousandth of the Group’s consolidated net income (but 
limited to a maximum of ¥60 million) for that fiscal year. This remuneration is calculated for each individual 
Executive Officer by dividing that individual Executive Officer’s base annual salary by the total base annual 
salary for all of the Executive Officers, and multiplying that percentage by the total remuneration to be paid.

Up to the General Meeting of Shareholders held on June 23, 2011, the Company had a corporate auditor system of 
corporate governance.

Directors and Executive Officers (As of August 1, 2011)

Policy for Determining the 
Amount and Method of 
Calculation of Corporate 
Officers’ Remuneration 
and Decision-Making 
Method

Internal

Yoichiro Ushioda, 57

Yoshiaki Fujimori, 60

Takashi Tsutsui, 61

Yoshizumi Kanamori, 57

Keiichiro Ina, 62

Notes : 1. * indicates an executive officer who concurrently serves as a director.
 2. Yoshiaki Fujimori was appointed as president on August 1, 2011.
 3. The figures after names are ages.

Representative Executive 
Officer and Chairman

Yoichiro Ushioda*

Representative Executive 
Officer and President

Yoshiaki Fujimori*

Executive Officer and  
Vice President

Takashi Tsutsui*

Executive Officer and  
Vice President

Toshio Ohtake, 64

Board of Directors Executive Officers

Executive Officer and  
Vice President

Ryuichi Kawamoto, 58

Executive Officer and  
Vice President

Toshimasa Iue, 48

Executive Officer and  
Vice President

Tadashi Arishiro, 55

Executive Officer and  
Vice President

Yoshinobu Kikuchi, 66

Outside

Masahiro Takasaki, 75

Tetsuo Shimura, 72

Fumio Sudo, 70

Hidehiko Sato, 66

Tsutomu Kawaguchi, 64

Executive Officer and  
Senior Managing Director

Yoshizumi Kanamori*

Executive Officer and  
Senior Managing Director

Shinichi Tanzawa, 51

Executive Officer and  
Senior Managing Director

Ryo Nihei, 56

Executive Officer

Katsuhiro Mamenari, 62

Total 
Remuneration 

(Millions of yen)

Total Remuneration by Type
(Millions of yen) Number of 

Corporate 
Officers Eligible 

for Remuneration
Basic 

Remuneration

Performance-
based 

remuneration

Directors  
(Excluding outside directors)

199 184 15 7

Corporate auditors  
(Excluding outside auditors)

42 42 — 2

Outside directors and outside 
auditors

35 35 — 5
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Appointment of New President

I am honored and excited about assuming the role of president of JS Group Corporation as 

well as LIXIL Corporation, which is a newly formed core subsidiary integrating five key 

businesses: Tostem, Inax, Toyo Exterior, Sunwave and Shin Nikkei.

I believe the company has huge growth potential through the global expansion of our 

products and services, while the environment-related businesses can contribute to energy 

savings and greenhouse gas reductions. Globalization and the environment will be the two 

key themes of our strategy in the medium-term management vision, while seeking 

operational efficiency to improve the profitability of the company.

I am grateful that we already have very talented people in the company who drive our 

growth and high operating performance. Nevertheless, I am committed to continue growing 

them through various training programs to become true global leaders who have LIXIL 

Values, can initiate changes and work with integrity. As we all know, people are the biggest 

asset of the company and our future, so we will invest significantly in people.

We are looking forward to our exciting future and to even greater support from all the 

shareholders and investors.

Biography

Apr. 1975 Joined Nissho Iwai Corporation (now Sojitz Corporation)

Oct. 1986 Joined General Electric Japan, Ltd.

Sep. 1997 Appointed Vice President of General Electric Company

Sep. 1997 Appointed President and CEO of GE Medical Systems Asia

May 2001 Appointed Senior Vice President of General Electric Company

May 2001 Appointed President and CEO of GE Plastics

Jan. 2003 Appointed President and CEO of GE Asia Pacific

Jan. 2005 Appointed Representative Director and Chairman of General Electric Japan, Ltd.

Oct. 2008 Appointed Representative Director, Chairman, President, and CEO of General Electric Japan, Ltd.

Mar. 2011 GE Japan Corporation (Changed name from General Electric Japan, Ltd.)

  Appointed Representative Director and Chairman of GE Japan Corporation

President and CEO

Yoshiaki Fujimori

Activities for Sustainable Management

+Corporate Governance Environmental Activities
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Meetings Held within the Company

As a pure holding company, in order to enhance governance of Group companies, the JS Group 

Corporation is working to accelerate discussion and decision-making on management strategies, 

medium- to long-term policies and investment proposals that take place in ad hoc meetings of 

the Investment Strategy Council, the Investment and Loan Council, the Environmental Strategy 

Committee, the Group IT Strategy Committee, the Reorganization Deliberation Council, the New 

Business Deliberation (Acquisition) Council, and the Compliance Committee. The Company is 

also enhancing the effectiveness of governance by having important proposals approved at the 

monthly meetings of the Board of Directors.

Investment Strategy Council This committee consists of directors and members involved in 

investment strategy. Members debate and formulate Group-wide strategies for enhancing value, 

including strategies and Group direction for investment, capital, M&A, and overseas business. 

Items decided by the committee are submitted at Management Meetings for deliberation before 

being implemented.

Investment and Loan Council This council consists of directors and members concerned with 

investments and loans. It meets as necessary to debate proposals from the holding company or 

operating companies. Specifically, this entails (1) investments significantly concerned with Group 

strategy, (2) investments involving multiple operating companies, and (3) investments of greater 

value than the president of the operating company has authority to decide on. The council then 

reports to the holding company’s Board of Directors and at Management Meetings.

Environmental Strategy Committee This committee consists of a director of the holding 

company and members of the operating companies concerned with environmental strategy. It 

formulates environmental policies for the entire Group, and supervises and guides the 

implementation of environmental management based on the policies. Held quarterly, the 

committee then reports the most important matters it has debated to the holding company’s 

Board of Directors and at Management Meetings.

Reorganization Deliberation Council This committee, consisting of directors and members 

concerned with reorganization, focuses on all aspects of reorganizing to enhance 

competitiveness, including early identification of unprofitable businesses and overhauls of the 

business structure. It meets twice per year and reports its conclusions at Management Meetings.

New Business Deliberation (Acquisition) Council This committee consists of directors and 

members concerned with new business areas. It debates proposals from the holding company 

and operating companies. Specifically, this entails (1) investments when establishing a new 

company to conduct a new or existing business, and (2) investments when acquiring an existing 

business partner of an operating company. Personnel concerned with these matters from the 

holding company and operating companies take part in these discussions. Afterwards, the 

committee reports to the holding company’s Board of Directors and at Management Meetings.

Meetings Held

Board of Directors 15 times

Management Meetings 36 times

Quarterly Business Performance 
Review Meetings

4 times

Investment and Loan Council 19 times

Environmental Strategy Committee 4 times

Reorganization Deliberation Council 2 times

New Business Deliberation 
(Acquisition) Council

6 times

Audit Status

Visiting Audit 50 times

(As a rule, consolidated subsidiaries in 
Japan are audited once a year, while 
operating companies outside Japan are 
audited every two years.)

Activities During 
the Year Ended 
March 31, 2011
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Internal Control Systems

JS Group Corporation has established the following internal control systems in order to ensure 

the effectiveness and efficiency of our operations and the reliability of our financial reporting, and 

to thoroughly implement compliance measures.

 Determine a management philosophy and Group Conduct Guidelines, and make all employees 

aware of them

 Establish an internal hotline reporting system for the entire Group to enable quick response to 

any problems within the Group

 Establish in-house rules; clarify job authority and responsibilities; evaluate, manage, and 

control the mission and operational processes of each organization in the Group; continuously 

monitor the effectiveness of the internal control system with monitoring functions

 Clarify the decision-making process of meetings held in the Company based on delegated 

authority and other in-house rules

The Guidelines for the Conduct of the Group, which defines the Group’s ethical standards, 

provides the basis for our approach to compliance. Regular programs are implemented through 

the Internal Audit Committee to ensure that all activities are fair and comply with laws and 

regulations. In particular, all personnel, including executives of Group companies and part-timers, 

are required to make a pledge to adhere to the Guidelines.

JS Group Corporation has established a Compliance Committee with the goal of informing 

about and enforcing compliance. This committee provides instruction to Group companies 

regarding the establishment, operation, and management of compliance systems, and monitors 

the status of legal compliance, among other activities.

Also, in order to further enhance the reliability of the Group’s financial reporting, we have 

developed and are enhancing a system that complies with the Financial Instruments and 

Exchange Act which went into effect from September 2007, and the “Setting of the Standards 

and Practice Standards for Management Assessment and Audit Concerning Internal Control over 

Financial Reporting (Council Opinions),” announced by the FSA Business Accounting Council on 

February 15, 2007.

We will redouble efforts going forward to enhance the Group’s internal control systems and 

improve business processes.

Basic Stance Regarding Elimination of Antisocial Forces and Its Development
The JS Group Corporation forbids its members to have any contact with antisocial forces. We have clearly 
formulated our basic stance: “We do not acknowledge antisocial groups and individuals such as corporate 
racketeers and crime syndicates, and as an organization we will resist their threats or threatening 
behavior. We will adopt a resolute stance to any intimidation without giving way, and will have no 
relationships whatsoever with antisocial forces.”
Having established our Guidelines for the Conduct of the JS Group, which include the basic stance 
described above, the top management of the JS Group Corporation seeks to ensure all employees act in 
compliance with these guidelines. The holding company’s Audit Department has designated core 
departments that were established in Group companies to work on this, and as one part of risk 
management the Internal Audit Committee regularly reviews and evaluates the development of the 
Company’s basic stance.

Activities for Sustainable Management

+Corporate Governance Environmental Activities
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Development of Risk Management and Compliance System

The JS Group Corporation, as a pure holding company, constantly and closely monitors the risks 

faced by the Group companies, verifies how well they are hedging those risks, and offers 

guidance. To achieve these endeavors, the holding company has made the establishment of risk 

management meetings mandatory in all of the Group companies, regularly verifies the state of risk 

in each of the Group companies, and studies the risk of the Group companies in the monthly 

meeting of the Internal Audit Committee and the ad hoc risk management meetings. When 

necessary, Group companies are requested to appear before the committee to make a report.

In addition, companies are required to report on risk at the regular quarterly results 

discussion meetings.

Moreover, representatives from JS Group Corporation attend the risk management meetings 

held at major operating companies to confirm the status of risk management and offer 

recommendations.

Risk Management System

Compliance System

Report
Expanded horizontally to each company, 
in connection with prevention

Holding Company

Other Companies’ Examples 
(Trends)

Internal Audit Committee 

Secretariat: Audit Dept.
Risk Management Meeting

Risk Management MeetingGroup Companies

Group Employees

President

Compliance Committee
Secretariat: Human Resources Dept.

Internal Audit Committee
Secretariat: Audit Dept.

Audit Dept.
(Internal reporting system, 

Internal compliance help desk)

Report/consult Report/consult

Report/consult Report/consult

Report
Report

Command/ 
supervise

Report/consult

Group-Company Presidents

Conduct-Promotion Facilitator 
in Each Group Company

Workplace Supervisors
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Investments in Securities Held for other than Purely Investment Purposes

● Stocks and amounts on the balance sheet of investments in securities held for reasons 

other than purely investment purposes are as follows:

 6 stocks ¥3,230 million

●  Listed Investment Securities Held for Reasons other than Purely Investment Purposes 

(As of March 2011)

Company
Number of 

Shares

Carrying 
Amount on the 
Balance Sheet 
(Millions of yen) Holding Purpose

Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc. 4,273,960 1,641 To maintain good 
relations with a 
business partner

Sumitomo Mitsui Financial Group, Inc. 533,400 1,379 As above

Tokio Marine Holdings, Inc. 52,500 116 As above

MS&AD Insurance Group Holdings, Inc. 34,750 65 As above

NKSJ Holdings, Inc. 50,000 27 As above

● Investment Securities Held for Purely Investment Purposes (Millions of yen)

2010 2011

Carrying Amount on 
the Balance Sheet

Carrying Amount 
on the Balance 

Sheet
Total Dividends 

Received
Total Gains on 

Sale
Total  

Write-downs

Shares other than  
non-listed shares 59 56 1 — 44

Defense against Hostile Share Acquisition

The JS Group Corporation considers it desirable that many of its shareholders own its shares for

medium- and long-term periods. Our policy is to improve our business results, thereby raising

our corporate value and in turn earning our shareholders’ support. We have therefore 

established no special measures as a defense against hostile acquisition bids for our shares.

IR Activities

The JS Group Corporation regularly holds explanatory presentations for analysts and institutional 

investors about its financial settlements, management policies, and suchlike around the time of 

the announcement of earnings reports. The Company representatives themselves speak to the 

audience at these meetings.

The Company also pays visits to overseas institutional investors 5 times each year, during 

which our representatives personally explain the financial results and management policies of 

the Group.

The JS Group Corporation website (http://www.jsgc.co.jp/e/) carries an array of IR 

materials, including annual reports. In addition, the Company has a department that specializes 

in Investor Relations.

Activities for Sustainable Management

+Corporate Governance Environmental Activities
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Exhibited at Eco-Products 2010, One of  
Japan’s Largest Environmental Events

The JS Group exhibited at Eco-Products 2010, which 
was held in December 2010. This marked the eighth 
time that the JS Group has taken part in this environ-
mental event. The JS Group showcased its eco prod-
ucts for building and renovation, for supporting 
comfortable eco lifestyles. The theme of the Group’s 
exhibition was fostering understanding of the natural 
environment—a basic stance for manufacturing—and 
creating environmentally sound homes.

Water and Forest Environmental  
Protection Activities

During the past year, Inax continued elementary school 
classroom visits throughout Japan to teach students 
the importance of water resources, and to offer chil-
dren in Vietnam environmental education for preserving 
water quality. Furthermore, employees at Inax and 
TOEX were actively involved in volunteer activities to 
preserve forests, while Tostem employees planted 
trees on the grounds of the company’s business sites.

Targets and Achievements in Year Ended March 2011
In 2006, we set Group-wide environmental targets. Even though the JS Group has many 

different businesses and handles a multitude of products, we stipulated important targets that 

were common across the Group, and our various operating companies* have focused on running 

businesses with low carbon emissions and on providing eco products.

*6 companies: Tostem Corporation, Inax Corporation, Toyo Exterior Co., Ltd., Tostem Suzuki Shutter Co., Ltd., Tostem Viva 
Corporation, and Tostem Housing Institute Co., Ltd.

The following table shows the results of our efforts in 2010, the final year for these targets.

We cut total CO2 emissions and increased eco-certified products far more than planned.

Initiatives in Year Ended March 2011

Environmental Activities

1990 outcomes 2010 targets 2010 outcomesKey Environmental Targets

Reduce total CO2 emissions
(Total domestic emissions)

Improve unit CO2 emissions
(Net unit to sales including overseas)

Increase number of eco-certified  
products (Net sales ratio)

654,441 tons
Benchmarked to 1990 level

514,912 tons
21% below 1990 level

409,117 tons
38% below 1990 level

0.91 tons/million yen
Benchmarked to 1990 level

0.46 tons/million yen
49% below 1990 level

0.59 tons/million yen
35% below 1990 level

0%
Did not acquire certification

68% of net sales 71% of net sales

Mega-Solar Power Generation Facilities  
Power Our Operations

In conjunction with regional local governments, we 
constructed solar photovoltaic power generation 
facilities with an output of 3.75 MW on idle land at the 
Tostem Iwai Plant in Ibaraki Prefecture and the Ariake 
Plant in Kumamoto Prefecture. These power genera-
tion facilities came online in February 2011. Not only 
are these facilities supplying power for our operations, 
but they are serving to enlighten people about renew-
able energy and promote its uptake through facility 
tours open to the public.
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Environmental Policy
On June 1, 2011, we unveiled our Environmental Principles, which consists of an environmental 

philosophy and action guidelines. The aim of the policy is to create a sustainable lifestyle which 

is in harmony with the Earth.

Our Vision and Promise The Principles We Apply

Future Initiatives
We will focus on the following themes in order to further promote environmental 

management.

We the LIXIL Group believe in achieving harmony between 

how humankind lives and the earth that we live on. We will 

conscientiously apply our environmental awareness across 

the entirety of what we create, how we create, and for whom 

we create a better living setting.

1.  Conduct business management leading to a low-carbon society and resource recycling.

(1)  We will continue to introduce renewable energy sources in our plants and elsewhere throughout 

our operations as we work to increase production with a low-carbon profile.

(2)  We will continue to collect end-of-life products through logistics and eco centers, as we work to 

increase resource recycling and reuse.

2.  Provide products that harness nature’s bounty.

(1)  We will create and encourage the broad use of housing materials and services that dramatically 

reduce energy consumption.

3.  Conduct original preservation activities in cooperation with local communities and society.

(1)  We will help to preserve clean water sources through such activities as school classroom visits.

(2)  We will help to protect beautiful forests through volunteer and other activities.

We the LIXIL Group will continuously improve our environmental 

management systems, we will employ ecologically responsible 

practices throughout our operations, and we will embrace vigorous 

communication with all of our direct and potential stakeholders.

Each of us, in the regular course of business, accepts a duty to 
uphold environmental regulations and prevent pollution. We will 
pursue actions to reduce carbon emission, enhance recycling of 
resources, and promote harmonious coexistence with nature.

Each of us, for our customers, undertakes to provide products and 
services that reflect and optimize the full bounty of nature. We will 
fully evaluate and explore, along with our customers, what should 
be the appropriate living setting for the times ahead.

Each of us, as part of a given area or society, seeks a deeper mutual 
understanding with the individual, civic, non-governmental and 
nonprofit entities that are among us. We will, by emphasizing 
cooperation and dialogue, advance together our own unique activities 
for preserving the environment.

Activities for Sustainable Management

+Corporate Governance Environmental Activities

Commitment to the Earth̶The Environmental Principles
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Recent M&As

Jul. 2009 (partly Nov. 2009)

American Standard Asia Pacific

Sales Approx. ¥24.0 billion
Acquisition cost Approx. ¥17.6 billion
Equity owned 100% (Excluding some 

subsidiaries)
Goodwill Goodwill (Net) ¥2.1 billion

Intellectual property ¥3.5 billion

Aims of M&A
· Expand overseas sanitary wares business
· Acquire distribution and sales bases

Apr. 2010

Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd.

Sales Approx. ¥110.0 billion
Acquisition cost Approx. ¥0.65 million
Equity owned 100%
Goodwill Goodwill ¥5.4 billion

Aims of M&A
· Economies of scale
·  Reduce costs through purchasing, distribution, 
product integration, and utilization of management 
resources

Dec. 2010

Kawashima Selkon Textiles Co., Ltd.*

Sales Approx. ¥41.0 billion
Acquisition cost Approx. ¥2.2 billion
Equity owned 34% (Equity method)
Goodwill Goodwill ¥0.2 billion

Aims of M&A
· Add curtains and blinds to the window business
· Use each other’s sales networks
· Cooperate on product development
· Effectively utilize the Kawashima brand

2009

2010

2011

Apr. 2010 (partly Jun. 2009)

Sun Wave Corporation

Sales Approx. ¥85.0 billion
Acquisition cost Approx. ¥13.7 billion
Equity owned 79%
Goodwill Negative goodwill 

¥6.1 billion

Aims of M&A
·  Reduce costs through purchasing, distribution, 
product integration, and utilization of management 
resources

· Develop high-value-added products

Jan. 2011

Shanghai Meite Curtain Wall Co., Ltd.

Sales Approx. ¥12.0 billion
Acquisition cost Approx. ¥3.2 billion
Equity owned 74%
Goodwill Goodwill ¥0.5 billion

Aims of M&A
·  Obtain approval for aluminum building materials 
business in mainland China

·  Acquire mainland China plant for aluminum building 
materials business

*  Plan to acquire a 100% shareholding through a share exchange on 
August 1, 2011.
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In order to become a global leader in the 

building materials and housing equipment 

industry, the JS Group is actively conducting 

strategic M&As, aimed at achieving economies 

of scale. This will be achieved by building 

sales networks overseas, and raising opera-

tional efficiency and market share in Japan.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
JS Group Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Net Sales

(¥ billion)

1,214.9

1,124.1

1,103.8
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Business Performance

Under these conditions, consolidated net 
sales increased ¥232.3 billion, or 23.6%, 
to ¥1,214.9 billion. By segment, net sales 
increased ¥119.7 billion in the Metal Build-
ing Material Business, ¥97.2 billion in the 
Plumbing Fixtures Business, ¥4.5 billion in 
the Other Building Materials and Equip-
ment Business, ¥8.6 billion in the Distribu-
tion and Retail Business, and ¥5.6 billion 
in the Housing, Real Estate and Other 
Businesses. The Metal Building Material 
Business and Plumbing Fixtures Business, 
in particular, recorded large sales 
increases, reflecting new consolidations.

Operating income rose ¥14.4 billion, or 
55.5%, to ¥40.4 billion, due mainly to the 
benefits of cost cutting. The operating 
income ratio increased 0.7 of a percent-
age point from 2.6% to 3.3%.

Gross profit rose ¥81.6 billion, or 
27.3%, to ¥380.7 billion. In addition to a 

¥57.2 billion boost from new consolida-
tions, the gross profit increase was attrib-
utable to higher sales stemming from a 
recovery in construction starts, despite the 
impact of the Great East Japan Earth-
quake. Cost-cutting activities, including 
manufacturing base integrations, also 
contributed to gross profit, although lower 
sales prices and some other factors nega-
tively affected margins. The ratio of gross 
profit to sales improved by 0.9 of a per-
centage point to 31.3%.

Selling, general and administrative 
(SG&A) expenses rose ¥67.2 billion, in 
part because of ¥57.7 billion in expenses 
related to new consolidations. The com-
pany also recorded freight costs in line 
with the higher sales and product repair 
expenses, and some advertising and sales 
expenses were brought forward for the 
integration and Shanghai Expo.

Business Environment

In the year ended March 31, 2011, 
Japan’s housing industry saw a recovery 
in new housing starts, which were 
boosted by the government’s home 
buyer assistance policy; housing starts 
rose 5.6% year on year from 775 
thousand units to 819 thousand units. By 
type of housing, rental homes decreased 
6.3% year on year. On the other hand, 
construction of owner-occupied 

Net other expenses decreased ¥12.2 
billion. This mainly reflected a ¥13.4 billion 
decrease in impairment loss, a ¥3.1 billion 
gain on negative goodwill, and a ¥3.0 
billion gain on step acquisitions. These 
factors were negated somewhat by a ¥2.6 
billion loss on showroom integration, a 
¥2.9 billion loss on disaster, a ¥3.9 billion 
loss on adjustment for changes of 
accounting standard for asset retirement 
obligations, a ¥1.2 billion change in equity 
in losses of affiliates and ¥1.2 billion 
increase in foreign exchange loss.

As a result, income before income 
taxes and minority interests increased 
¥26.6 billion to ¥30.4 billion. In combina-
tion with income taxes and minority inter-
ests, net income was ¥15.8 billion, a 
¥21.1 billion turnaround from the net loss 
of ¥5.3 billion recorded in the year ended 
March 2010.

Further information on the business 
environment can be found on pages 26 and 
27 of this report.

For more details

detached houses, built-for-sale detached 
houses and condominiums, all of which 
have an impact on the JS Group’s 
results, increased 7.5%, 19.0% and 
45.1%, respectively. The March 11 Great 
East Japan Earthquake, however, 
changed market conditions, meaning the 
fiscal year ended on a difficult note.
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Segment Information

Metal Building Material Business
The segment worked to expand sales by 
providing eco-friendly products. These 
efforts included launching sales of Samos, 
a new generation window that integrates 
the frame and double-glazed glass; and 
enhancing the lineup and boosting the 
performance of Inplus inner windows for 
soundproofing and insulation. Due to these 
efforts, along with the boost from making 
Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd. a subsidiary, 
net sales climbed 32.5% to ¥488.5 billion. 
We also posted higher operating income of 
¥22.1 billion, which was up 23.9%, on the 
back of successful cost-reform measures, 
including factory restructuring, as well as 
the increased sales.

Plumbing Fixtures Business
This segment posted a 34.4% increase in 
net sales to ¥380.0 billion, in part because 
of the consolidation of Sun Wave. Other 
contributions came from the launch of 
Sunvarie Richelle, a kitchen system 
designed with storage and other user 
considerations in mind, and proposal-
based sales activities for high-end Satis 
tankless toilets that promoted this 
 product line’s outstanding cleanability. 
Operating income jumped 55.3% year on 
year to ¥13.0 billion due to cost-cutting 
activities, which included integrating 
production bases.

Other Building Materials and 
Equipment Business
Net sales increased 2.9% year on year to 
¥159.7 billion on the back of growth in 
wooden interior furnishing materials and 
other factors. In terms of earnings, the 
business returned to profitability, posting 
operating income of ¥3.6 billion; as 
opposed to an operating loss of ¥1.4 
billion in the year ended March 2010. The 
turnaround reflected the higher sales, 
along with successful business downsizing 
and other measures.
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Distribution and Retail Business
Net sales increased 6.4% year on year to 
¥142.8 billion. One contributing factor was 
the opening of new stores, notably Super 
Viva Home Chiharadai, an eco-friendly 
store featuring a solar power generation 
system and eco-toilets. Operating income 
declined 48.0% to ¥2.0 billion, partly due 
to upfront investments for developing new 
store formats.

Housing, Real Estate and  
Other Businesses
Supported by housing investment and real 
estate conditions, net sales rose 10.8% 
year on year to ¥57.5 billion. Operating 
income moved into the black at ¥2.4 
billion, following an operating loss of ¥1.1 
billion in the previous fiscal year. This 
improvement reflected efforts to rebuild 
the earnings structure.
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Financial Position

Total Assets 

 (¥ billion)
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Up ¥133.3 billion year on year
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Total assets at March 31, 2011 stood at 
¥1,166.8 billion, up ¥133.3 billion from 
March 31, 2010. Current assets increased 
¥87.9 billion to ¥609.9 billion, due mainly 
to new consolidations. There was, how-
ever, a ¥21.0 billion decline in short-term 
investments for financial management 
purposes. Noncurrent assets increased 
¥45.4 billion to ¥556.9 billion, reflecting a 
¥30.1 billion increase in property, plant 
and equipment mainly because of new 
consolidations, a ¥3.8 billion increase in 
goodwill associated mainly with M&As, 
and a ¥4.6 billion increase in long-term 
loans receivable.

Total equity at fiscal year-end totaled 
¥536.4 billion, and the equity ratio was 
45.2%, compared with 49.7% a year 
earlier, due to the impact of M&As.

n ROE　n ROA
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Net cash provided by operating activities 
decreased ¥19.4 billion, to ¥48.7 billion. 
Although income before income taxes and 
minority interests rose ¥26.6 billion, the 
impact of non-cash items such as impair-
ment loss, higher working capital in line 
with increased sales, and an increase in 
income taxes paid resulted in a year-on-
year decrease.

Investing activities used net cash of 
¥13.5 billion, which was ¥13.8 billion less 
than the previous fiscal year. A total of 
¥37.6 billion was used for purchase of 
property, plant and equipment and intan-
gible assets, including investments in 
opening new home centers and invest-
ments to ramp up production capacity as 
well as investments to maintain and reno-
vate existing facilities. In addition ¥8.9 
billion was used for purchase of 

Cash Flows from Operating 
Activities 
 (¥ billion)
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investment securities. On the other hand, 
¥16.5 billion in cash was provided by a net 
decrease in investment securities and 
other cash was provided by the collection 
of other investments held for financial 
management purposes, and proceeds 
from sales of subsidiaries’ shares.

Financing activities used net cash of 
¥41.7 billion, an increase of ¥13.9 billion 
year on year. In terms of inflows, ¥10.0 
billion was provided by proceeds from 
long-term debt. Outflows included an 
¥18.2 billion decrease in short-term bank 
loans and commercial papers, and ¥8.4 
billion for repayments of long-term loans 
payable, the repayment of newly consoli-
dated companies’ interest-bearing liabili-
ties, including ¥6.9 billion for redemption 
of straight bonds, ¥11.3 billion for cash 
dividends paid, and ¥4.6 billion for pur-

chase of treasury stock.
As a result, cash and cash equivalents 

at the end of the year totaled ¥92.3 billion, 
up ¥3.0 billion from a year earlier. This was 
the result of the aforementioned cash flow 
factors, as well as foreign currency trans-
lation adjustments and the effect of new 
consolidations of subsidiaries.

Liquidity

The JS Group strives to generate operat-
ing cash flows and consider a wide range 
of fund-raising methods in order to pro-
cure a stable and flexible supply of funds 
necessary for its business activities, while 
maintaining a sound financial position. 
Regarding cash in hand, the Group, in 
principle, maintains funds adequate to 
cover settlement of its liabilities in an 
emergency. In order to ensure financial 
flexibility, we work to diversify sources of 
funding procurement, including through 
borrowing from banks and other financial 
institutions, ensuring a framework for 

issuance of commercial paper, establish-
ing a commitment line, and through initia-
tives such as securitization of trade notes 
and factoring receivables. At March 31, 
2011, the Group had total cash and cash 
equivalents, and marketable securities of 
¥101.6 billion, thus maintaining a high 
level of liquidity to remain prepared to 
respond to a crisis situation. Interest-
bearing debt totaled ¥272.5 billion, mainly 
reflecting the procurement of ¥10.0 billion 
through long-term debt.

The JS Group believes that it is neces-
sary to maintain a certain level of ratings in 
order to ensure fund procurement through 
the financial markets. Our ratings for the 
past 10 years are shown below.

Outlook for the Year Ending March 31, 2012

The outlook for the year ending March 31, 
2012 is difficult to forecast, in part 
because of expected supply-side con-
straints, including damage to production 
facilities caused by the Great East Japan 
Earthquake, and electricity problems 
hampering the supply chain. In addition, 
business sentiment has worsened.

Recognizing these challenges, the JS 
Group will strengthen competitiveness at 
plants in Japan, actively develop busi-
ness in overseas markets, and push 
through business structural reforms in 

order to ensure further growth and 
improve profitability.

Over the medium and long term, the 
declining trend for population and birth-
rates will gather pace in Japan. Mean-
while, globalization will continue with the 
emergence of industrializing nations. 
Business conditions at home and abroad, 
therefore, will continue changing dramati-
cally. In the housing industry, we expect 
new housing starts to remain on a moder-
ate downtrend amid rising housing stock 
and a declining number of people in the 

purchasing segment of the population.
Under these conditions, under the JS 

Group’s new brand, LIXIL, we will break 
away from the concept of being a collec-
tion of individual businesses and become 
a comprehensive home and living 
environment-related company, as we 
target further business expansion.

Rating agency Long-term  
credit rating

Japan Credit Rating Agency 
(JCR)

AA–

Rating and Investment 
Information (R&I)

A+

Please refer to medium-term management 
vision on pages 12 and 13.

For more details
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Business Risks
JS Group Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

z�Economic Risk
Operating revenues of most companies in 
the JS Group are significantly affected by 
domestic demand in Japan. In particular, 
major fluctuations in the number of new 
housing starts or the level of construction 
orders received could have a negative 
effect on business performance and 
financial positions of the JS Group.

x�Competitive Risk
The JS Group faces severe competition in 
most of the markets in which it operates. 
For this reason, it is difficult to always set 
prices at levels that are advantageous to 
the JS Group. The Group takes pride in its 
status as a leading enterprise capable of 
bringing attractive, high-quality products to 
market. However, there is no guarantee 
that the Group will enjoy a competitive 
advantage in terms of pricing. The JS 
Group’s products and services are 
exposed to intense price competition, 
which could have a negative effect on 
business performance and financial posi-
tions of the JS Group.

c�New Product Development Risk
In its operations, the JS Group is dedi-
cated to comprehensive provision of 
agreeable residential and urban environ-
ments for the 21st century. The Group 
creates high-quality living spaces that are 
healthy, comfortable and safe by continu-
ally developing attractive products based 
on an accurate understanding of available 
technology and consumer needs. However, 
the Group’s business performance and 
financial positions could be adversely 
affected if a failure to respond appropri-
ately to changes in market or industry 
needs were to result in a decline in growth 
and earning potential.

v�Procurement Risk
The JS Group procures materials, parts, 
services and other supplies as required for 
its production activities. There is a possibil-
ity that the amounts paid for these sup-
plies will rise because of increased industry 
demand or increasing raw material prices. 
There is also a possibility that the reliability 
or reputation of the JS Group’s products 
will be adversely affected by defects in 
materials, parts, services or other supplies. 
These factors could, in turn, adversely 

This annual report contains the follow-

ing information about business condi-

tions, the financial situation and other 

factors that may influence investor 

decisions.

Forward-looking statements are 

based on the judgments of the JS 

Group’s management as of March 

2011. Statements concerning the 

future and assumptions are subject to 

uncertainty and risks, and actual 

results may vary significantly.

affect the Group’s business performance 
and financial positions.

b�Overseas Market Risk
The JS Group engages in production and 
sales activities overseas, mainly in certain 
Asian countries, including China and 
 Thailand. The following latent risks exist 
because of the rapid pace of development 
in these countries.
1)  Major exchange rate fluctuations caused 

by currency policies
2) Changes in export or import regulations
3)  Dramatic increases in labor costs and 

prices, etc.
4)  Interruption of production activities due 

to strikes, etc.
5)  Unanticipated changes to legislation or 

financial regulation and international tax 
risks such as transfer pricing legislation

6)  Other economic, social, and political 
risks
These factors could have an adverse 

impact on the business performance and 
financial positions of the JS Group.

n�Foreign Exchange Risk
Exchange rate fluctuations have the potential 
to affect the yen equivalents of assets and 
liabilities resulting from the foreign currency 
denominated transactions of the JS Group. 
Where transactions are denominated in 
foreign currencies, the prices of goods and 
amounts of sales could also be affected. 
These factors could have an adverse impact 
on the business performance and financial 
positions of the JS Group.

m�Acquisition/Merger Risk
The JS Group plans to expand its business 
operations through financial activities, 
including corporate acquisitions and capi-
tal participation. To maximize the benefits 
of these acquisitions, the JS Group seeks 
to integrate them into their corporate cul-
tures and management strategies. How-
ever, there is no guarantee that the 
anticipated returns and synergy benefits 
will be realized. It is possible that the busi-
ness performance and financial positions 
of the JS Group will be adversely affected 
by these acquisitions and capital participa-
tion activities.

z�Economic Risk

x�Competitive Risk

c�New Product Development Risk

v�Procurement Risk

b�Overseas Market Risk

n�Foreign Exchange Risk

m�Acquisition/Merger Risk

,�Business Restructuring Risk

.�Regulatory Risk

⁄0�Product Liability Risk

⁄1�Disaster and Accident Risk

⁄2�  Environmental Preservation Risk

⁄3�  Risk of Default on Receivables

⁄4�  Risk of Fixed Asset Value 
Reduction

⁄5�  Retirement Benefit Risk

⁄6�  Risk of Personal Information 
Leaks
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,�Business Restructuring Risk
In order to enhance management efficiency 
and competitiveness, the JS Group may 
conduct business restructuring, including 
withdrawal from unprofitable businesses, 
re-alignment of subsidiaries and affiliates, 
manufacturing bases and sales and logistics 
networks, and rightsizing of the workforce. 
These measures could have an adverse 
impact on the business performance and 
financial positions of the JS Group.

.�Regulatory Risk
The JS Group is subject to various official 
regulations, including the need to obtain 
approvals and permits from the government 
or official agencies for its business and 
investment activities, as well as patents and 
other intellectual property rights, environ-
mental regulations, and other requirements. 
Such official regulations can be expected to 
change over time, possibly creating obsta-
cles to the JS Group’s business activities or 
imposing additional costs relating to com-
pliance with new official regulations. These 
factors could have an adverse impact on 
the business performance and financial 
positions of the JS Group.

⁄0�Product Liability Risk
There is a risk that defects will occur in 
products and services supplied by the JS 
Group, or that product recalls may be 
required. Major compensation claims or 
product recalls relating to manufacturer’s 
liability issues could result in substantial 
payments and have a negative effect on 
the reliability and reputation of the JS 
Group’s products. Such situations could 
have an adverse impact on the business 
performance and financial positions of the 
JS Group.

⁄1�Disaster and Accident Risk
Natural disasters, such as earthquakes and 
typhoons, could cause substantial damage 
to the JS Group’s production, distribution, 
sales and information management facili-
ties. Also, in the occurrence of major work-
place disasters or equipment accidents, 
there is the possibility that business activi-
ties will be discontinued or restricted. The 
JS Group conducts regular disaster pre-
vention activities and facility inspections. 
However, there is no guarantee that it will 

be possible to prevent or alleviate the 
effects of natural disasters. In particular, 
the domestic production facilities of Inax 
Corporation, a consolidated subsidiary, are 
concentrated in the Tokai region of Japan, 
where a major earthquake could occur. 
While earthquake countermeasures have 
been implemented at these facilities, a 
major earthquake in the Tokai region could 
cause a suspension in production, delays 
in product deliveries and other problems. 
These factors could have an adverse 
impact on the business performance and 
financial positions of the JS Group.

⁄2� Environmental Preservation Risk
The JS Group, based on the Group Environ-
mental Basic Policy, engages in a wide 
range of activities aimed at global environ-
mental preservation. However, the Group 
cannot guarantee that it will be able to 
completely prevent or mitigate any risk of 
environmental pollution. Should serious 
environmental pollution occur as a result of 
the Group’s business activities, it could have 
an adverse impact on the Group’s business 
performance and financial positions.

⁄3�Risk of Default on Receivables
In order to prepare for losses due to 
default on receivables by business part-
ners, the JS Group examines the recover-
ability of general receivables based on 
historical default rates, and of specific 
doubtful accounts on a case-by-case 
basis, and records the amount considered 
to be uncollectible as allowance for doubt-
ful accounts. Should the actual default 
level significantly exceed these assump-
tions, the allowance for doubtful accounts 
could be insufficient. Moreover, as a result 
of reviewing these assumptions due to the 
worsening of overall economic conditions 
and uncertainty in the credit standing of 
business partners, the Group could make 
additional provisions to this allowance. 
These developments could have an 
adverse impact on the Group’s business 
performance and financial positions.

⁄4� Risk of Fixed Asset Value 
Reduction

The JS Group has applied fixed asset 
impairment accounting. The Group will 
continue to calculate future cash flows 

relating to its assets, and to recognize 
and estimate the impairment of those 
assets. It is therefore possible that the 
business performance and financial posi-
tions of the JS Group will be adversely 
affected if fixed asset impairment losses 
are shown in the accounts.

⁄5�Retirement Benefit Risk
The employee retirement benefit obliga-
tions and costs of the JS Group are calcu-
lated primarily using actuarial assumptions, 
such as discount ratios and expected rates 
of return on plan assets. These actuarial 
assumptions must be reviewed annually. 
Any changes in the ratios could cause 
fluctuation in the business performance 
and financial positions of the JS Group. 
The Group has taken steps to minimize 
this effect, including the return to the gov-
ernment of the substitutional portion of the 
pension funds that it previously adminis-
tered, and the adoption of defined contri-
bution pension plans and cash balance 
pension plans. However, the potential 
effect cannot be entirely eliminated. Further 
declines in discount ratios or deteriorating 
investment returns could have a negative 
effect on the business performance and 
financial positions of the JS Group.

⁄6� Risk of Personal Information 
Leaks

The JS Group handles a variety of personal 
information, including customer informa-
tion, in the course of its business opera-
tions, and stringent information 
management is essential. Initiatives by the 
JS Group to strengthen personal informa-
tion management include the establishment 
of the Personal Information Protection 
Promotion Project, the formulation of 
related rules and regulations, and the 
ongoing provision of appropriate training.

However, the JS Group could suffer 
damage to its public reputation and incur 
substantial financial costs if unforeseen 
circumstances result in the leak of per-
sonal information. Such a situation could 
adversely affect the business performance 
and financial position of the JS Group.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
JS Group Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 

March 31, 2011 and 2010

Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

ASSETS 2011 2010 2011

Current Assets:

 Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 9 and 19) ¥     92,329 ¥     89,302 $  1,110,393

 Short-term investments (Notes 7 and 19) 9,223 30,190 110,919

 Notes and accounts receivable (Note 19):

  Trade notes 105,553 73,391 1,269,427

  Trade accounts 171,173 139,719 2,058,603

  Unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated companies 13,418 7,507 161,376

  Other 13,909 7,285 167,272

  Allowance for doubtful accounts (5,259) (4,644) (63,248)

 Inventories (Note 4) 155,280 126,602 1,867,463

 Short-term loans (Note 19) 12,770 11,329 153,576

 Deferred tax assets (Note 14) 15,202 14,307 182,827

 Other current assets 26,296 26,993 316,253

   Total current assets 609,894 521,981 7,334,861

Property, Plant and Equipment:

 Land (Notes 5 and 9) 189,156 176,306 2,274,873

 Buildings and structures (Notes 5 and 9) 436,471 384,333 5,249,203

 Machinery and equipment (Note 5) 292,587 250,541 3,518,785

 Lease assets (Notes 5 and 17) 11,211 7,513 134,828

 Other (Notes 5 and 9) 83,093 62,478 999,314

 Construction in progress 6,922 3,006 83,245

   Total 1,019,440 884,177 12,260,248

 Accumulated depreciation (597,497) (492,297) (7,185,764)

   Net property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 421,943 391,880 5,074,484

Investments and Other Assets:

 Investment securities (Notes 7, 9 and 19) 26,407 24,496 317,581

  Investments in and advances to unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated  
 companies (Note 8) 15,076 15,808 181,309

 Long-term loans (Note 19) 5,617 1,036 67,553

 Goodwill 8,525 4,698 102,528

 Deferred tax assets (Note 14) 10,548 10,849 126,850

 Other assets (Note 10) 92,763 84,110 1,115,616

 Allowance for doubtful accounts (23,939) (21,354) (287,899)

   Total investments and other assets 134,997 119,643 1,623,538

Total ¥1,166,834 ¥1,033,504 $14,032,883

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2011 2010 2011

Current Liabilities:

 Short-term bank loans (Notes 9 and 19) ¥     46,457 ¥     42,180 $     558,709

 Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 9 and 19) 17,686 6,814 212,703

 Notes and accounts payable (Notes 9 and 19):

  Trade notes 12,206 9,361 146,796

  Trade accounts 140,823 106,177 1,693,605

  Unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated companies 11,327 6,983 136,218

  Other 24,876 14,562 299,171

 Income taxes payable (Note 19) 8,501 6,986 102,242

 Accrued expenses 75,586 59,988 909,027

 Allowance for loss on factory restructuring 287 914 3,450

 Allowance for loss on showroom consolidation 1,009 12,130

 Allowance for losses from a natural disaster 1,953 23,491

 Asset retirement obligations (Note 11) 504 6,059

 Other current liabilities 38,186 39,204 459,254

   Total current liabilities 379,401 293,169 4,562,855

Long-Term Liabilities:

 Long-term debt (Notes 9 and 19) 173,220 176,581 2,083,222

 Liability for employees’ retirement benefits (Note 10) 30,816 11,001 370,603

 Retirement allowances for directors and corporate auditors 555 1,034 6,678

 Allowance for loss on factory restructuring 92 1,107

 Deferred tax liabilities (Note 14) 7,251 6,186 87,202

 Negative goodwill 432 772 5,195

 Asset retirement obligations (Note 11) 6,105 73,425

 Other 32,554 28,439 391,504

   Total long-term liabilities 251,025 224,013 3,018,936

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Notes 17, 20 and 21)

Equity (Note 12):

  Common stock—authorized, 1,300,000,000 shares;  
 issued, 313,054,255 shares in 2011 and 2010 68,122 68,122 819,260

 Capital surplus 260,179 259,703 3,129,037

 Retained earnings 260,154 255,404 3,128,734

  Treasury stock—at cost, 28,256,940 shares in 2011 
  and 34,160,840 shares in 2010 (52,882) (63,767) (635,985)

 Accumulated other comprehensive income:

  Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 1,954 2,660 23,498

  Deferred gain on derivatives under hedge accounting 91 42 1,096

  Foreign currency translation adjustments (10,645) (8,224) (128,024)

   Total 526,973 513,940 6,337,616

 Minority interests 9,435 2,382 113,476

   Total equity 536,408 516,322 6,451,092

Total ¥1,166,834 ¥1,033,504 $14,032,883
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Net Sales ¥1,214,939 ¥982,607 $14,611,414

Cost of Sales (Note 15) 834,278 683,573 10,033,406

   Gross profit 380,661 299,034 4,578,008
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses (Note 15) 340,252 273,050 4,092,025
   Operating income 40,409 25,984 485,983

Other Income (Expenses):

 Interest and dividend income 2,766 2,505 33,259
 Interest expense (4,196) (3,885) (50,468)
 Equity in earnings (losses) of an associated company (39) 1,142 (473)
 Foreign exchange loss (1,629) (445) (19,597)
 Rent income 6,194 5,730 74,496
 Cost of lease revenue (4,569) (4,500) (54,949)
 Amortization of negative goodwill 340 668 4,095
 Gain on valuation of derivatives (Note 20) 163 766 1,965
 Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment 1,014 637 12,196
 Gain on negative goodwill 3,082 37,068
 Gain on step acquisitions 3,010 36,194
  Loss on sales and disposals of property, plant and equipment (2,388) (2,482) (28,715)
 Loss on valuation of investment securities (Note 7) (271) (529) (3,254)

  Loss on valuation of stocks of subsidiaries and associated companies (1,083) (2,553) (13,019)

 Loss on factory restructurings (412) (4,153) (4,958)

 Loss on showroom consolidation (2,550) (30,667)
 Loss on impairment of long-lived assets (Note 5) (1,705) (15,122) (20,508)
 Losses from a natural disaster (Note 16) (2,923) (35,156)
   Loss on adjustment for changes of accounting standard  

 for asset retirement obligations (3,876) (46,616)
  Gain on transition to defined contribution pension plans from defined benefit plans 125
 Other—net (896) (25) (10,784)
   Other expenses—net (9,968) (22,121) (119,891)
Income Before Income Taxes and Minority Interests 30,441 3,863 366,092

Income Taxes (Note 14):

 Current 12,124 10,109 145,806
 Deferred 2,299 (765) 27,646
   Total income taxes 14,423 9,344 173,452

Net Income (Loss) Before Minority Interests 16,018 (5,481) 192,640

Minority Interests 238 (149) 2,863

Net Income (Loss) ¥  15,780 ¥    (5,332) $   189,777

Yen U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Per Share of Common Stock (Notes 2.w and 23):

 Basic net income (loss) ¥55.50 ¥(19.12) $0.67
 Cash dividends applicable to the year 40.00 40.00 0.48

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
JS Group Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 

Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

2011 2011

Net Income Before Minority Interests ¥16,018 $192,640

Other Comprehensive Loss (Note 22):

 Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities (918) (11,046)

 Deferred gain on derivatives under hedge accounting 69 834

 Foreign currency translation adjustments (2,455) (29,527)

 Share of other comprehensive income in an associate 1 21

   Total other comprehensive loss (3,303) (39,718)

Comprehensive Income (Note 22) ¥12,715 $152,922

Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to (Note 22):

 Owners of the parent ¥12,501 $150,349

 Minority interests 214 2,573

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
JS Group Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 

Year Ended March 31, 2011 
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Thousands Millions of Yen

Outstanding  
Number of  
Shares of  
Common  

Stock
Common  

Stock
Capital  
Surplus

Retained  
Earnings

Treasury  
Stock

Accumulated Other  
Comprehensive Income

Total
Minority  
Interests

Total  
Equity

Unrealized  
Gain on  

Available-for-Sale  
Securities

Deferred  
Gain (Loss) on  

Derivatives  
under Hedge  
Accounting

Foreign  
Currency  

Translation  
Adjustments

Balance, April 1, 2009 278,903 ¥68,122 ¥259,703 ¥272,465 ¥ (63,752) ¥1,369 ¥(410) ¥  (6,552) ¥530,945 ¥2,128 ¥533,073

 Net loss (5,332) (5,332) (5,332)

 Cash dividends, ¥40 per share (11,156) (11,156) (11,156)

  Effect arising from changes of  
  subsidiaries for consolidation (573) (573) (573)

 Purchase of treasury stock (11) (16) (16) (16)

 Disposal of treasury stock 1 1 1 1

 Net change in the year 1,291 452 (1,672) 71 254 325

Balance, March 31, 2010 278,893 68,122 259,703 255,404 (63,767) 2,660 42 (8,224) 513,940 2,382 516,322

 Net income 15,780 15,780 15,780

 Cash dividends, ¥40 per share (11,274) (11,274) (11,274)

  Effect arising from changes of  
 subsidiaries for consolidation 244 244 244

 Purchase of treasury stock (2,410) (4,635) (4,635) (4,635)

 Disposal of treasury stock 1 3 3 3

  Increase by share exchanges  
 (Notes 3 and 18) 8,313 476 15,517 15,993 15,993

 Net change in the year (706) 49 (2,421) (3,078) 7,053 3,975

Balance, March 31, 2011 284,797 ¥68,122 ¥260,179 ¥260,154 ¥(52,882) ¥1,954 ¥  91 ¥(10,645) ¥526,973 ¥9,435 ¥536,408

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Accumulated Other  
Comprehensive Income

Common  
Stock

Capital  
Surplus

Retained  
Earnings

Treasury  
Stock

Unrealized  
Gain on  

Available-for-Sale  
Securities

Deferred  
Gain (Loss) on  

Derivatives  
under Hedge  
Accounting

Foreign  
Currency  

Translation  
Adjustments Total

Minority  
Interests

Total  
Equity

Balance, March 31, 2010 $819,260 $3,123,307 $3,071,600 $  (766,886) $31,987 $  500 $   (98,896) $6,180,872 $ 28,652 $6,209,524

 Net income 189,777 189,777 189,777

 Cash dividends, $0.5 per share (135,586) (135,586) (135,586)

  Effect arising from changes of subsidiaries  
 for consolidation 2,943 2,943 2,943

 Purchase of treasury stock (55,747) (55,747) (55,747)

 Disposal of treasury stock (2) 31 29 29

 Increase by share exchanges (Notes 3 and 18) 5,732 186,617 192,349 192,349

 Net change in the year (8,489) 596 (29,128) (37,021) 84,824 47,803

Balance, March 31, 2011 $819,260 $3,129,037 $3,128,734 $(635,985) $23,498 $1,096 $(128,024) $6,337,616 $113,476 $6,451,092

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
JS Group Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 

Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Operating Activities:
 Income before income taxes and minority interests ¥ 30,441 ¥   3,863 $   366,092
 Adjustments for:
  Income taxes—paid (10,815) (7,052) (130,061)
  Depreciation and amortization 36,289 32,916 436,426
  Loss on impairment of long-lived assets 1,705 15,122 20,508
  Amortization of negative goodwill (340) (668) (4,095)
  Gain on negative goodwill (3,082) (37,068)
  Amortization of goodwill 3,408 1,585 40,986
  Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts (1,539) 420 (18,511)
  Foreign exchange loss 292 108 3,514
  Loss on sales of or write-down of investments in securities 1,879 3,078 22,594
  Equity in losses (earnings) of associated company 39 (1,142) 473
  Loss on sales and disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,374 1,845 16,519
  Gain on step acquisitions (3,010) (36,194)
  Gain on change in equity (576) (6,929)
   Loss on adjustment for changes of accounting standard  

 for asset retirement obligations 3,876 46,616
  Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects:
   Decrease (increase) in trade notes and accounts receivable (14,270) 2,252 (171,621)
   Decrease (increase) in inventories (11,172) 18,132 (134,355)
   Increase (decrease) in trade notes and accounts payable 1,118 (5,363) 13,450
    Increase (decrease) in allowance for loss on factory restructurings (535) 559 (6,432)
    Increase in allowance for loss on showroom consolidation 1,009 12,130
   Increase in allowance for losses from a natural disaster 1,953 23,491
   Decrease in liability for employees’ retirement benefits (654) (1,349) (7,861)
   Decrease (increase) in prepaid pension expenses (202) 1,060 (2,425)
  Other 11,492 2,708 138,205
    Total adjustments 18,239 64,211 219,360
    Net cash provided by operating activities 48,680 68,074 585,452
Investing Activities:
 Decrease in time deposits 4,641 5,446 55,814
 Purchases of marketable securities (96,468) (178,358) (1,160,172)
 Proceeds and redemption from sales of marketable securities 112,974 198,359 1,358,682
 Acquisition of tangible and intangible fixed assets (37,602) (25,645) (452,222)
 Proceeds from sales of tangible and intangible fixed assets 3,698 2,262 44,469
 Purchases of investment securities (8,917) (9,241) (107,241)
 Proceeds from sales and redemption of investment securities 4,487 50 53,962
 Proceeds from sales of investments in subsidiaries 4,578 55,056
 Payments for purchase of newly consolidated subsidiaries (204) (9,554) (2,451)
 Proceeds from purchase of newly consolidated subsidiaries (Note 18) 4,422 53,183
 Increase in short-term loans (4,303) (2,194) (51,755)
 Payments for long-term loans (4,929) (2,244) (59,283)
 Collection of long-term loans 653 1,919 7,853
 Purchases of money held in trust (5,009) (13,500) (60,245)
 Proceeds from redemption of money held in trust 9,509 9,000 114,364
 Payments for other investments (3,449) (5,143) (41,480)
 Collection of other investments 2,376 1,509 28,592
    Net cash used in investing activities (13,543) (27,334) (162,874)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
JS Group Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 

Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

2011 2010 2011

Financing Activities:
 Decrease in short-term loans and commercial papers—net (18,228) (4,714) (219,221)
  Decrease in liquidation of receivables of trade among  

 the consolidated companies—net (9) (3,792) (114)
 Repayments of long-term debt (8,410) (63,495) (101,147)
 Proceeds from long-term debt 10,000 56,618 120,265
 Repayments of lease obligations (2,091) (1,037) (25,145)
 Repayments due to redemption of straight bonds (6,890) (170) (82,862)
 Proceeds from sales of treasury stock 2 1 29
 Purchase of treasury stock (4,640) (16) (55,800)
 Dividends paid (11,274) (11,156) (135,586)
  Payments of cash dividends for minority shareholders of consolidated subsidiaries (147) (64) (1,760)
    Net cash used in financing activities (41,687) (27,825) (501,341)
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments on Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,256) (340) (15,111)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (7,806) 12,575 (93,874)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 89,302 73,973 1,073,992
Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents Due to  
 New Consolidation of Subsidiaries 413 2,488 4,963
Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents Resulting from  
 Change of Scope of Consolidation 10,446 125,626
Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents Due to  
 the Merger of Non-Consolidated Subsidiaries 266 1
Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents Resulting from 
 Exclusion of Subsidiaries from Consolidation (26) (315)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year ¥ 92,329 ¥ 89,302 $1,110,393
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
JS Group Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 

Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

1. Basis of Presenting Consolidated Financial Statements

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Japa-
nese Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and its related 
accounting regulations and in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), which are different 
in certain respects as to application and disclosure requirements of 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Under Japanese GAAP, a consolidated statement of compre-
hensive income is required from the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2011 and has been presented herein. Accordingly, accumulated 
other comprehensive income is presented in the consolidated 
balance sheet and the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 
Information with respect to other comprehensive income for the 
year ended March 31, 2010 is disclosed in Note 22. In addition, 
“net income (loss) before minority interests” is disclosed in the 
consolidated statements of operations.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, certain 
reclassifications and rearrangements have been made to the con-
solidated financial statements issued domestically in order to pres-
ent them in a form which is more familiar to readers outside Japan. 
In addition, certain reclassifications have been made in the 2010 
financial statements to conform to the classifications used in 2011.

The consolidated financial statements are stated in Japanese 
yen, the currency of the country in which JS Group Corporation 
(the “Company”) is incorporated and operates. The translations of 
Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts are included solely 
for the convenience of readers outside Japan and have been made 
at the rate of ¥83.15 to $1, the approximate rate of exchange at 
March 31, 2011. Such translations should not be construed as 
representations that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted 
into U.S. dollars at that or any other rate.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a. Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements as of 
March 31, 2011 include the accounts of the Company, its 105 
significant (70 in 2010) subsidiaries and an associated company (1 
in 2010) to which the equity method is applied (together, the “Group”).

Under the control or influence concept, those companies in 
which the Company, directly or indirectly, is able to exercise control 
over their operations are fully consolidated, and those companies 
over which the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence 
are accounted for by the equity method.

Investment in an associated company is accounted for by the 
equity method. Investments in the remaining unconsolidated sub-
sidiaries and associated companies are stated at cost. If the equity 
method of accounting had been applied to the investments in these 
companies, the effect on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements would not be material.

The difference between the cost of an acquisition and the fair 
value of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of 
acquisition is being amortized over a period of 5 years. However, 
when the excess of cost over net assets of subsidiaries acquired is 
insignificant, the amount is charged to income when incurred.

All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated in consolidation. All material unrealized profit included in 
assets resulting from transactions within the Group is eliminated.

b. Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign Sub-
sidiaries for the Consolidated Financial Statements—In May 
2006, the Accounting Standards Board of Japan (the “ASBJ”) 
issued ASBJ Practical Issues Task Force (“PITF”) No. 18, “Practical 
Solution on Unification of Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign 
Subsidiaries for the Consolidated Financial Statements.” PITF 
No. 18 prescribes (1) the accounting policies and procedures 
applied to a parent company and its subsidiaries for similar trans-
actions and events under similar circumstances should in principle 
be unified for the preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments, (2) financial statements prepared by foreign subsidiaries in 
accordance with either International Financial Reporting Standards 
or the generally accepted accounting principles in the United States 
of America tentatively may be used for the consolidation process, 
(3) however, the following items should be adjusted in the consoli-
dation process so that net income is accounted for in accordance 
with Japanese GAAP unless they are not material: (a) amortization 
of goodwill; (b) scheduled amortization of actuarial gain or loss of 
pensions that has been directly recorded in the equity; (c) expens-
ing capitalized development costs of R&D; (d) cancellation of the 
fair value model accounting for property, plant and equipment and 
investment properties and incorporation of the cost model account-
ing; (e) recording the prior years’ effects of changes in accounting 
policies in the income statement where retrospective adjustments 
to financial statements have been incorporated; and (f) exclusion of 
minority interests from net income, if contained.

c. Business Combination—In October 2003, the Business 
Accounting Council issued a Statement of Opinion, “Accounting for 
Business Combinations,” and in December 2005, the ASBJ issued 
ASBJ Statement No. 7, “Accounting Standard for Business Divesti-
tures,” and ASBJ Guidance No. 10, “Guidance for Accounting 
Standard for Business Combinations and Business Divestitures.” 
The accounting standard for business combinations allows compa-
nies to apply the pooling of interests method of accounting only 
when certain specific criteria are met such that the business combi-
nation is essentially regarded as a uniting-of-interests. For business 
combinations that do not meet the uniting-of-interests criteria, the 
business combination is considered to be an acquisition and the 
purchase method of accounting is required. This standard also 
prescribes the accounting for combinations of entities under 
common control and for joint ventures.

In December 2008, the ASBJ issued a revised accounting stan-
dard for business combinations, ASBJ Statement No. 21, 
“Accounting Standard for Business Combinations.” Major account-
ing changes under the revised accounting standard are as follows: 
(1) The revised standard requires accounting for business combina-
tions only by the purchase method. As a result, the pooling of 
interests method of accounting is no longer allowed. (2) The current 
accounting standard accounts for the research and development 
costs to be charged to income as incurred. Under the revised 
standard, in-process research and development (IPR&D) acquired 
in the business combination is capitalized as an intangible asset. 
(3) The previous accounting standard provided for a bargain pur-
chase gain (negative goodwill) to be systematically amortized over a 
period not exceeding 20 years. Under the revised standard, the 
acquirer recognizes the bargain purchase gain in profit or loss 
immediately on the acquisition date after reassessing and confirm-
ing that all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed 
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have been identified after a review of the procedures used in the 
purchase allocation. This standard was applicable to business 
combinations undertaken on or after April 1, 2010 with early adop-
tion permitted for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2009.

d. Cash Equivalents—Cash equivalents are short-term  
investments that are readily convertible into cash and that are 
exposed to insignificant risk of changes in value.

e. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts—The allowance for doubtful 
accounts is stated in amounts considered to be appropriate based 
on the companies’ past credit loss experience and an evaluation of 
potential losses in the receivables outstanding.

f. Inventories—Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, deter-
mined by the average cost method, or net selling value.

g. Investment Securities—Investment securities are classified and 
accounted for, depending on management’s intent, as follows: 
(1) held-to-maturity debt securities, which are expected to be held 
to maturity with the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are 
reported at amortized cost, and (2) available-for-sale securities, 
which are not classified as the aforementioned securities, are 
reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of appli-
cable taxes, reported in a separate component of equity.

Non-marketable available-for-sale securities are stated at cost 
determined by the moving-average method. For other than tempo-
rary declines in fair value, investment securities are reduced to net 
realizable value by a charge to income.

h. Property, Plant and Equipment—Property, plant and equip-
ment are stated at cost. Depreciation of property, plant and equip-
ment of the Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries is 
computed substantially by the declining-balance method at rates 
based on the estimated useful lives of the assets, while the straight-
line method is applied to buildings acquired after April 1, 1998. The 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment of foreign consoli-
dated subsidiaries is computed on the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful lives of the assets. The range of useful lives is 
principally from 8 to 50 years for buildings and structures, and from 
7 to 12 years for machinery and equipment.

Regarding the leased assets related to the finance leases for 
which ownership is not transferred, the useful lives of such assets 
are deemed to be the lease periods, and depreciation is calculated 
by the straight line depreciation method, depreciating the residual 
value of such assets to zero over the useful life. For finance leases 
for which ownership is not transferred to the lessee and the lease 
transaction was begun prior to March 31, 2008, the accounting 
treatment follows the method applicable to ordinary rental transactions.

i. Long-Lived Assets—The Group reviews its long-lived assets 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized if the 
carrying amount of an asset or asset group exceeds the sum of 
the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the 
continued use and eventual disposition of the asset or asset group. 
The impairment loss would be measured as the amount by which the 
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is 
the higher of the discounted cash flows from the continued use and 
eventual disposition of the asset or the net selling price at disposition.

j. Allowance for Loss on Factory Restructurings—In order to 
prepare against loss on factory closures, which were determined as 
a part of the restructuring of the Group companies’ factories, the 
Group appropriated an amount deemed to be reasonable in 2011 
and 2010.

k. Allowance for Loss on Showroom Consolidation—In order to 
prepare against loss on showroom closures, which were deter-
mined under the purpose of showroom consolidation, the Group 
appropriated an amount deemed to be reasonable.

l. Allowance for Losses from a Natural Disaster—In order to 
prepare against loss related to the Great East Japan Earthquake, 
such as restoration expenses, the Group appropriated an amount 
deemed to be reasonable.

m. Employees’ Retirement Benefits—The Group has non- 
contributory and contributory funded pension plans. The Group 
accounted for the liability for employees’ retirement benefits based 
on the projected benefit obligations and plan assets at the balance 
sheet date.

n. Retirement Allowances for Directors and Corporate  
Auditors—Retirement allowances for directors and corporate 
auditors of certain consolidated subsidiaries are recorded to state 
the liability at the amount that would be required if all directors and 
corporate auditors retired at each balance sheet date.

o. Asset Retirement Obligations—In March 2008, the ASBJ 
published the accounting standard for asset retirement obligations, 
ASBJ Statement No. 18, “Accounting Standard for Asset Retire-
ment Obligations” and ASBJ Guidance No. 21, “Guidance on 
Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations.” Under this 
accounting standard, an asset retirement obligation is defined as a 
legal obligation imposed either by law or contract that results from 
the acquisition, construction, development and the normal opera-
tion of a tangible fixed asset and is associated with the retirement 
of such tangible fixed asset. The asset retirement obligation is 
recognized as the sum of the discounted cash flows required for 
the future asset retirement and is recorded in the period in which 
the obligation is incurred if a reasonable estimate can be made. If a 
reasonable estimate of the asset retirement obligation cannot be 
made in the period the asset retirement obligation is incurred, the 
liability should be recognized when a reasonable estimate of asset 
retirement obligation can be made. Upon initial recognition of a 
liability for an asset retirement obligation, an asset retirement cost is 
capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related fixed 
asset by the amount of the liability. The asset retirement cost is 
subsequently allocated to expense through depreciation over the 
remaining useful life of the asset. Over time, the liability is accreted 
to its present value each period. Any subsequent revisions to the 
timing or the amount of the original estimate of undiscounted cash 
flows are reflected as an increase or a decrease in the carrying 
amount of the liability and the capitalized amount of the related 
asset retirement cost. This standard was effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after April 1, 2010.

The Group applied this accounting standard effective April 1, 
2010. The effect of this change was to decrease operating income 
by ¥375 million ($4,512 thousand) and income before income taxes 
and minority interests by ¥3,447 million ($41,451 thousand).
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p. Research and Development Costs—Research and develop-
ment costs are charged to income as incurred.

q. Leases—In March 2007, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement 
No. 13, “Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions,” which revised 
the previous accounting standard for lease transactions issued in 
June 1993. The revised accounting standard for lease transactions 
was effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2008.

Under the previous accounting standard, finance leases that 
were deemed to transfer ownership of the leased property to the 
lessee were capitalized. However, other finance leases were permit-
ted to be accounted for as operating lease transactions if certain 
“as if capitalized” information was disclosed in the notes to the 
lessee’s financial statements. The revised accounting standard 
requires that all finance lease transactions be capitalized to recog-
nize lease assets and lease obligations in the balance sheet. In 
addition, the revised accounting standard permits leases which 
existed at the transition date and do not transfer ownership of the 
leased property to the lessee to continue to be accounted for as 
operating lease transactions.

The Group applied the revised accounting standard effective 
April 1, 2008. In addition, the Group continues to account for leases 
which existed at the transition date and do not transfer ownership of 
the leased property to the lessee as operating lease transactions.

All other leases are accounted for as operating leases.

r. Construction Contracts—In December 2007, the ASBJ issued 
ASBJ Statement No. 15, “Accounting Standard for Construction 
Contracts,” and ASBJ Guidance No. 18, “Guidance on Accounting 
Standard for Construction Contracts.” Under this accounting stan-
dard, the construction revenue and construction costs should be 
recognized by the percentage-of-completion method, if the out-
come of a construction contract can be estimated reliably. When 
total construction revenue, total construction costs and the stage 
of completion of the contract at the balance sheet date can be 
reliably measured, the outcome of a construction contract can be 
estimated reliably. If the outcome of a construction contract cannot 
be reliably estimated, the completed-contract method should be 
applied. When it is probable that the total construction costs will 
exceed total construction revenue, an estimated loss on the con-
tract should be immediately recognized by providing for a loss on 
construction contracts. This standard is applicable to construction 
contracts and software development contracts and was effective 
for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2009. The Group 
applied the accounting standard effective April 1, 2009.

s. Income Taxes—The provision for income taxes is computed 
based on the pretax income included in the consolidated statements 
of operations. The asset and liability approach is used to recognize 
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax conse-
quences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred taxes are measured 
by applying currently enacted tax laws to the temporary differences.

t. Foreign Currency Transactions—All short-term and long-term 
monetary receivables and payables denominated in foreign curren-
cies are translated into Japanese yen at the exchange rates at the 
balance sheet date. The foreign exchange gains and losses from 
translation are recognized in the income statement to the extent 
that they are not hedged by forward exchange contracts.

u. Foreign Currency Financial Statements—The balance sheet 
accounts of the consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated into 
Japanese yen at the current exchange rate as of the balance sheet 
date except for equity, which is translated at the historical rate.

Differences arising from such translation are shown as “Foreign 
currency translation adjustments” under accumulated other com-
prehensive income in a separate component of equity.

Revenue and expense accounts of consolidated foreign subsid-
iaries are translated into yen at the average exchange rate.

v. Derivatives and Hedging Activities—The Group uses derivative 
financial instruments to manage its exposures to fluctuations in 
foreign exchange, interest rates and raw material prices. Foreign 
exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps, interest rate and 
currency swap and commodity swap transactions are utilized by 
the Group to reduce foreign currency exchange, interest rate and 
raw material price risks. The Group does not enter into derivatives 
for trading or speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments and foreign currency transac-
tions are classified and accounted for as follows: (1) all derivatives, 
except those qualifying for hedge accounting, are recognized as 
either assets or liabilities and measured at fair value, and gains or 
losses on derivative transactions are recognized in the consolidated 
statements of operations and (2) for derivatives used for hedging 
purposes, if derivatives qualify for hedge accounting because of the 
high correlation and effectiveness between the hedging instruments 
and the hedged items, gains or losses on derivatives are deferred 
until maturity of the hedged transactions.

The interest rate swaps which qualify for hedge accounting and 
meet specific matching criteria are not remeasured at market value, 
but the differential paid or received under the swap agreements are 
recognized and included in interest expense or income. Certain 
assets denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
contracted rates if the forward contracts qualify for hedge accounting.

w. Per Share Information—Basic net income (loss) per share is 
computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common share-
holders by the weighted-average number of common shares out-
standing for the period, retroactively adjusted for stock splits.

Diluted net income (loss) per share reflects the potential dilution 
that could occur if securities were exercised or converted into 
common stock.

Cash dividends per share presented in the accompanying consoli-
dated statements of operations are dividends applicable to the respec-
tive years including dividends to be paid after the end of the year.

x. New Accounting Pronouncements
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections—In December 
2009, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 24, “Accounting Stan-
dard for Accounting Changes and Error Corrections,” and ASBJ 
Guidance No. 24, “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Account-
ing Changes and Error Corrections.” Accounting treatments under 
this standard and guidance are as follows:
(1) Changes in accounting policies
  When a new accounting policy is applied with revision of 

accounting standards, the new policy is applied retrospectively 
unless the revised accounting standards include specific transi-
tional provisions. When the revised accounting standards 
include specific transitional provisions, an entity shall comply 
with the specific transitional provisions.
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(2) Changes in presentation
  When the presentation of financial statements is changed, prior 

period financial statements are reclassified in accordance with 
the new presentation.

(3) Changes in accounting estimates
  A change in an accounting estimate is accounted for in the 

period of the change if the change affects that period only, and 
is accounted for prospectively if the change affects both the 
period of the change and future periods.

(4) Corrections of prior period errors
  When an error in prior period financial statements is discovered, 

those statements are restated.

This accounting standard and the guidance are applicable to 
accounting changes and corrections of prior period errors which 
are made from the beginning of the fiscal year that begins on or 
after April 1, 2011.

3. Business Combinations

For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2011
a.  Sun Wave Corporation Becoming a Subsidiary of the 

Company
The Company acquired Sun Wave Corporation (“Sun Wave”) on 
April 1, 2010 through a share exchange scheme based on the 
Share Exchange Agreement signed with Sun Wave on December 
14, 2009. The Company transferred 12,523,000 shares of Sun 
Wave (equal to approximately 20.04% of Sun Wave’s total shares 
outstanding) to Nisshin Steel Co., Ltd. (“Nisshin Steel”) on April 7, 
2010 based on the Share Transfer Contract signed with Nisshin 
Steel on December 14, 2009. As a result, Sun Wave, which was an 
equity method affiliate prior to the transaction, became one of the 
consolidated subsidiaries of the Company.
(1) Information of share exchange with Sun Wave
1.  Overview of the acquired company, reasons for the acquisition, 

date of the acquisition, a legal form of the acquisition, name of 
the acquired company after the acquisition, ownership ratio 
acquired and principal basis for determining an acquirer

(a) The name of the acquired company and its business
 Name of the company: Sun Wave Corporation
 Major businesses:  Manufacture and sales of kitchen units 

for houses, sanitary equipment for 
houses, and commercial equipment

(b) Reasons for the acquisition
  The Company and Sun Wave signed a business and capital 

alliance contract on June 8, 2009 and the Company acquired 
18,750,000 shares of Sun Wave (equal to approximately 
29.98% of Sun Wave’s total shares outstanding at the time 
acquired) in order to pursue synergy effects in the areas of prod-
uct development, purchasing materials, production, distribution, 
installation and after-sales services. However, due to the severe 
business environment with deteriorating new housing starts and 
sluggish demand in the renovation market, the companies 
decided best to have Sun Wave become a subsidiary of the 
Company through the share exchange in order to pursue strate-
gic unity of the Group with speed to maximize synergy effects.

(c) Date of the acquisition
 April 1, 2010

(d)  Legal form of the acquisition and name of the acquired com-
pany after the acquisition

 Legal form: Share exchange
 Name of the company after the acquisition:
  Sun Wave Corporation
(e) Percentage of ownership ratio acquired
 Percentage of voting interest owned before the acquisition: 
 30.33%
 Additionally acquired percentage of 
  voting interest on the date of acquisition: 69.67%
 Percentage of voting interest owned after the acquisition: 100%
(f) Principal basis for determining an acquirer
  Since the Company delivers its shares to Sun Wave sharehold-

ers through the share exchange as well as the existing share-
holders of the Company take the largest share in the combined 
company’s voting rights as a result of the share exchange, the 
Company is determined as the acquirer.

2.  Period of results of the acquired companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company

 From April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011

3. Acquisition cost and its breakdown

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Cost of acquisition:
  Market price of Sun Wave shares  

 owned before the share exchange ¥  6,854 $  82,432
  Market price of the Company  

 shares granted on  
 the acquisition date 15,994 192,350

  Expenditure directly required for  
 acquisition 10 114

Acquisition cost ¥22,858 $274,896

4.  Share exchange ratio, its calculation method, number of shares 
granted and its valuation amount

(a) Share exchange ratio

The Company 
(Wholly Owning 

Parent Company)

Sun Wave 
(Wholly Owned 

Subsidiary)

Allotment of shares from the share  
 exchange

1  
common 

share

0.19 
common 

shares
Notes:  Allotment ratio—Under the contract, 0.19 shares of the Company common 

stock were allotted for each share of Sun Wave common stock. The Company 
did not exchange the 18,750,000 shares of Sun Wave it owns.

(b) Calculation method of share exchange ratio
  Duff & Phelps Corporation was commissioned by the Company 

and Daiwa Securities SMBC Co. Ltd. (changed corporate name 
to Daiwa Securities Capital Markets Co. Ltd. from January 1, 
2010) was commissioned by Sun Wave for the calculation of 
share exchange ratio as disinterested third parties. Based on 
such evaluations, the two companies held talks and decided on 
the ratio.
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(c) Number of own shares granted and its evaluation amount
  Number of own shares granted: 8,312,833 shares
 Evaluation amount of the own shares granted:
  ¥15,994 million 

($192,350 thousand)

5. Gain from step acquisition
 ¥3,010 million ($36,194 thousand)

6.  Amount of gain on negative goodwill, reason of gain on negative 
goodwill recording

 ¥3,075 million ($36,984 thousand)
Gain on negative goodwill was recorded due to the fair value 

of the net assets at the time of acquisition exceeding the acqui-
sition costs. The difference between the two amounts is 
regarded as gain on negative goodwill.

7. Acquired assets and liabilities on the date of acquisition

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Current assets ¥ 39,644 $ 476,778
Non-current assets 21,685 260,794
Total assets acquired ¥ 61,329 $ 737,572
Current liabilities ¥(25,246) $(303,625)
Long-term liabilities (9,068) (109,047)
Total liabilities assumed ¥(34,314) $(412,672)

8.  The estimated impact on the consolidated statement of opera-
tions for the year ended March 31, 2011, if the business combi-
nation had been completed on April 1, 2010

  Since the business combination was completed on April 1, 
2010, there is no impact on the consolidated statement of operations.

(2) Sun Wave share transfer to Nisshin Steel
Nisshin Steel long-held Sun Wave shares and it supports Sun Wave 
by dispatching manpower, supplying steel, giving technological 
support and so forth. Based on such background, the Company, 
Sun Wave and Nisshin Steel decided that developing and maintain-
ing amicable relationships contribute to enhancing corporate value 
of all related companies. Therefore, the Company and Nisshin Steel 
agreed and signed the Share Transfer Contract. The Company 
transferred 12,523,000 shares of Sun Wave (equal to approximately 
20.04% of Sun Wave’s total shares outstanding) to Nisshin Steel on 
April 7, 2010 at ¥4,578 million ($55,056 thousand).

b.  Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd. Becoming a Subsidiary of the 
Company

The Company acquired all shares of Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd. 
(“Shin Nikkei”) on April 1, 2010 based on the share transfer con-
tract signed with Nippon Light Metal Co., Ltd. on March 9, 2010 
and Shin Nikkei became a subsidiary of the Company.
1.  Overview of the acquired company, reasons for the acquisition, 

date of the acquisition, legal form of the transaction, name of the 
acquired company after the transaction, ownership ratio acquired 
and principal basis for determining an acquirer

(a) The name of the acquired company and its business
 Name of the company: Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd.
 Major business:  Manufacture and sales of aluminum 

building materials and products

(b) Reasons for the acquisition
  The Company acquired 100% shares of Shin Nikkei under the 

decision that the Company and Shin Nikkei will be able to gen-
erate synergy effects by effectively using mutual product brands, 
sales networks, production facilities, human resources, and  
so on.

(c) Date of the acquisition
 April 1, 2010
(d)  Legal form of transaction and name of the acquired company 

after the transaction
 Legal form: Share acquisition
 Name of the company after the acquisition:
 Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd.
(e) Percentage of ownership ratio acquired
 100%
(f) Principal basis for determining an acquirer
  Since the Company became a wholly owning parent company 

of Shin Nikkei due to the share acquisition, the Company is 
determined as the acquirer.

2.  Period of results of the acquired companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company

 From April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011

3. Acquisition cost and its breakdown

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Cost of acquisition:
 Cash ¥  1 $    8
  Expenditure directly required for  

 acquisition 101 1,220
Acquisition cost ¥102 $1,228

4.  Amount of goodwill, reason of goodwill recording, method of 
depreciation and period of depreciation

 ¥5,421 million ($65,205 thousand)
Goodwill was recorded due to the excess earnings power in 

the future expected from the business development going for-
ward including synergy effects.

Goodwill is being amortized over a period of five years.

5. Acquired assets and liabilities on the date of acquisition

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Current assets ¥ 54,577 $ 656,371
Non-current assets 16,860 202,760
Total assets acquired ¥ 71,437 $ 859,131
Current liabilities ¥(60,350) $(725,799)
Long-term liabilities (16,406) (197,309)
Total liabilities assumed ¥(76,756) $(923,108)

6.  The estimated impact on the consolidated statement of opera-
tions for the year ended March 31, 2011, if the business combi-
nation had been completed on April 1, 2010

  Since the business combination was completed on April 1, 2010, 
there is no impact on the consolidated statement of operations.
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For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2010
Share Acquisition of Overseas Operating Companies by  
Inax Corporation
(a)  Names of the companies acquired, their major businesses, 

major reasons for the acquisition, the date of the acquisition, 
legal form of the acquisition, names of the companies after the 
acquisition, and the ownership ratios acquired, are as follows:

(1) Names of the companies acquired and their major business
Names of the Companies Acquired

A-S CHINA PLUMBING PRODUCTS Ltd. 
A-S CHINA Co., Ltd.*1

AMERICAN STANDARD JIANGMEN FITTINGS Co., Ltd.*1

A-S (SHANGHAI) POTTERY Co., Ltd.*1

A-S (GUANGZHOU) ENAMELWARE Co., Ltd.*1

HUA MEI SANITARY WARE Co., Ltd.*1

A-S (TIANJIN) POTTERY Co., Ltd.*1

AMERICAN STANDARD B&K (THAILAND) PUBLIC Co., Ltd.
IDEAL STANDARD (THAILAND) Ltd.
CERAMIC SANITARYWARE Pte. Ltd.
AMERICAN STANDARD VIETNAM, Inc.*2

AMERICAN STANDARD KOREA, Inc.
PT AMERICAN STANDARD INDONESIA
AMERICAN STANDARD PHILIPPINES LIMITED, Co.
AMERICAN STANDARD BATH&KITCHEN INDIA Pte. Ltd.

*1 denotes subsidiaries of A-S CHINA PLUMBING PRODUCTS Ltd.
*2 denotes subsidiaries of CERAMIC SANITARYWARE Pte. Ltd.

Major Business
Plumbing fixtures business

(2) Major reasons for the acquisition
  For the Group to acquire a strong sales network in the Asian 

region and to generate a number of expected synergies, such 
as efficient sales expansion of existing products by the usage of 
the acquired sales network, and strengthening production 
capacity in addition to the current production sites, especially 
from the product distribution perspective.

(3) Date of the acquisition
  A-S CHINA PLUMBING PRODUCTS Ltd. and the above (1)*1 

companies were acquired on July 20, 2009, the rest of the 
companies were acquired on July 2, 2009.

(4)  Legal form of the acquisition and names of the companies 
after the acquisition

Legal Form of the Acquisition
 Share acquisition by cash on hand (excluding the above (1)*1 
and (1)*2 companies)

Name of the Companies after the Acquisition
A-S CHINA PLUMBING PRODUCTS Ltd.
A-S CHINA Co., Ltd.
AMERICAN STANDARD JIANGMEN FITTINGS Co., Ltd.
A-S (SHANGHAI) POTTERY Co., Ltd.
A-S (GUANGZHOU) ENAMELWARE Co., Ltd.
HUA MEI SANITARY WARE Co., Ltd.
A-S (TIANJIN) POTTERY Co., Ltd.
AMERICAN STANDARD B&K (THAILAND) PUBLIC Co., Ltd.
IDEAL STANDARD (THAILAND) Ltd.
CERAMIC SANITARYWARE Pte. Ltd.
AMERICAN STANDARD VIETNAM, Inc.

AMERICAN STANDARD KOREA, Inc.
PT AMERICAN STANDARD INDONESIA
AMERICAN STANDARD PHILIPPINES LIMITED, Co.
AMERICAN STANDARD BATH&KITCHEN INDIA Pte. Ltd.

(5) Ownership ratios acquired
A-S CHINA PLUMBING PRODUCTS Ltd. 100%
A-S CHINA Co., Ltd. 100
AMERICAN STANDARD JIANGMEN FITTINGS Co., Ltd. 100
A-S (SHANGHAI) POTTERY Co., Ltd. 82
A-S (GUANGZHOU) ENAMELWARE Co., Ltd. 82
HUA MEI SANITARY WARE Co., Ltd. 67
A-S (TIANJIN) POTTERY Co., Ltd. 100
AMERICAN STANDARD B&K (THAILAND) PUBLIC Co., Ltd. 99
IDEAL STANDARD (THAILAND) Ltd. 100
CERAMIC SANITARYWARE Pte. Ltd. 100
AMERICAN STANDARD VIETNAM, Inc. 84
AMERICAN STANDARD KOREA, Inc. 100
PT AMERICAN STANDARD INDONESIA 100
AMERICAN STANDARD PHILIPPINES LIMITED, Co. 100
AMERICAN STANDARD BATH&KITCHEN INDIA Pte. Ltd. 100

Note: Above ownership ratios include those owned indirectly.

(b)  Period of results of the acquired companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company is July 1, 
2009 to December 31, 2009.

(c)  Cost of acquisition, amount of goodwill and negative goodwill, 
reasons for recording goodwill and negative goodwill, amortiza-
tion method and amortization period of goodwill and negative 
goodwill:

Cost of acquisition

Millions of Yen

Cost of acquisition ¥13,513
Acquisition expense 478
Acquisition cost ¥13,991

Amount of goodwill and negative goodwill

Millions of Yen

Goodwill ¥3,128
Negative goodwill 1,396

Goodwill and negative goodwill are the sum of those incurred at 
each company.

Reasons for recording goodwill and negative goodwill
Goodwill was recorded due to the excess earnings power in the 
future expected from the business development going forward 
including synergy effects.

Negative goodwill was recorded due to the fair value of the net 
assets at the time of acquisition exceeding the acquisition costs. 
The difference between the two amounts is regarded as negative 
goodwill.

Amortization method and amortization period
Goodwill and negative goodwill are being amortized over a period 
of five years. However, when the excess of cost over net assets of 
subsidiaries acquired is insignificant, the amount is charged to 
income when incurred.
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5. Long-Lived Assets

The Group recognized impairment losses mainly for the housing structure business, commercial building related business, assisted-living 
condominium business and retail stores which declined in value due mainly to continuous operating losses. The Group also recognized an 
impairment loss for idle assets due to the downturn in market price of real estate such as lands, or due to the showrooms becoming idle 
assets after having decided to close them under the strategy of showroom consolidation. The carrying amounts of those assets were writ-
ten down to their recoverable amounts and impairment losses were recorded in other expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Group recognized impairment losses on the following asset categories for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Category Related Assets Location 2011 2010 2011

Manufacturing facilities of  
 exterior wall materials

Machinery and equipment Ibaraki, etc. ¥    40
Lease assets Ibaraki, etc. 2
Other Ibaraki, etc. 34

Manufacturing facilities of  
 housing structures

Machinery and equipment Kanagawa, etc. 15
Okayama, etc. ¥    6 $    75

Other Kanagawa, etc. 3
Okayama, etc. 4

Manufacturing facilities of  
 building materials

Buildings and structures Ibaraki, etc. 2
Machinery and equipment Ibaraki, etc. 38

Toyama 28 334
Lease assets Ibaraki, etc. 9
Other Ibaraki, etc. 29

Toyama 32 390
Assisted-living  
 condominium business

Buildings and structures Fukuoka, etc. 1,620
Land Fukuoka, etc. 466

Fukuoka 182 2,189
Other Fukuoka, etc. 26

Retail stores Buildings and structures Tochigi, etc. 358
Hokkaido 1 18

Machinery and equipment Tochigi, etc. 3
Other Tochigi, etc. 172

Hokkaido 7 88
Idle assets, etc. Buildings and structures Kyoto, etc. 1,480

Fukushima, etc. 671 8,074
Machinery and equipment Kyoto, etc. 157
Land Kyoto, etc. 10,663

Fukushima, etc. 713 8,572
Other Kyoto, etc. 5

Fukushima, etc. 65 764
Total ¥1,705 ¥15,122 $20,508

The recoverable amounts of these assets were measured based on net selling price or value in use. The net selling price of manufactur-
ing facilities of housing structures, manufacturing facilities of building materials, assisted-living condominium business and idle assets was 
calculated based on the appraised value by a real estate appraiser or expected contract price. The recoverable amounts of retail stores 
were calculated based on value in use, which was calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows by an 8.0% discount rate.

(d)  The estimated fair values of the assets acquired and the liabili-
ties assumed at the acquisition date are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Current assets ¥ 14,299
Non-current assets 11,244
Total assets acquired ¥ 25,543
Current liabilities ¥(10,580)
Long-term liabilities (1,237)
Total liabilities assumed ¥(11,817)

4. Inventories

Inventories at March 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Merchandise and  
 finished products ¥ 93,405 ¥  75,324 $1,123,336
Work in process 14,946 11,492 179,752
Raw materials 31,449 26,440 378,216
Other inventories 15,480 13,346 186,159
Total ¥155,280 ¥126,602 $1,867,463
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6. Investment Property

In November 2008, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 20, 
“Accounting Standard for Investment Property and Related Disclo-
sures,” and issued ASBJ Guidance No. 23, “Guidance on Account-
ing Standard for Investment Property and Related Disclosures.” 
This accounting standard and the guidance were applicable to 
investment property and related disclosures at the end of the fiscal 
years ending on or after March 31, 2010. The Group applied the 
accounting standard and guidance effective March 31, 2010.

The Group owns certain rental properties and idle real estate 
such as rental commercial facilities in Tokyo and other areas. The 
net of rental income and operating expenses for those rental prop-
erties and idle real estate was ¥1,913 million ($23,010 thousand) 
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011. Other loss of ¥964 million 
($11,599 thousand) was incurred mainly due to impairment losses 
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.

In addition, the carrying amounts, changes in such balances 
and market prices of such properties for the fiscal years ended 
March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

Millions of Yen

Carrying Amount Fair Value

April 1, 2010 Increase/Decrease March 31, 2011 March 31, 2011

¥  43,294 ¥  (1,034) ¥  42,260 ¥  43,059

Millions of Yen

Carrying Amount Fair Value

April 1, 2009 Increase/Decrease March 31, 2010 March 31, 2010

¥  32,609 ¥ 10,685 ¥  43,294 ¥  45,077

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Carrying Amount Fair Value

April 1, 2010 Increase/Decrease March 31, 2011 March 31, 2011

$520,670 $(12,433) $508,237 $517,847

Notes: 1.  The carrying amount recognized in the balance sheet is net of accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

 2.  Increase during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 primarily represents the 
new acquisition of the rental commercial facilities of ¥4,009 million 
($48,212 thousand) while the decrease primarily represents reuse of idle real 
estate of ¥3,461 million ($41,622 thousand) and sales of idle real estate of 
¥1,730 million ($20,811 thousand).

 3.  The fair value of properties as of March 31, 2011 is measured by the Group in 
accordance with the real-estate appraiser’s appraisal value (including those 
adjusted by indicators and such).

7. Short-Term Investments and Investment Securities

Short-term investments and investment securities as of March 31, 
2011 and 2010 consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Short-term investments:
  Government and  

 municipal bonds ¥ 1,000 $ 12,025
 Corporate bonds 495 ¥   500 5,955
  Certificate of deposit 6,000
 Other 7,728 23,690 92,939
Total ¥ 9,223 ¥30,190 $110,919

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Investment securities:
 Equity securities ¥22,749 ¥20,714 $273,595
  Debt securities— 

 corporate bonds 709 707 8,524
 Other securities 2,949 3,075 35,462
Total ¥26,407 ¥24,496 $317,581

The costs and aggregate fair values of short-term investments and 
investment securities at March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

Millions of Yen

March 31, 2011 Cost
Unrealized  

Gains
Unrealized  

Losses
Fair  

Value

Held-to-maturity:
 Corporate bonds ¥ 1,193 ¥   10 ¥ 1,203
 Other securities 3,000 3,000
Available-for-sale:
 Equity securities 16,936 4,288 ¥850 20,374
  Government  

 and municipal  
 bonds 1,000 1,000

  Corporate bonds 10 10
 Other securities 2,975 26 2,949
Total ¥25,114 ¥4,298 ¥876 ¥28,536

Millions of Yen

March 31, 2010 Cost
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses
Fair

Value

Held-to-maturity:
 Corporate bonds ¥ 1,197 ¥    1 ¥  1 ¥ 1,197
 Other securities 19,988 4 15 19,977
Available-for-sale:
 Equity securities 14,354 4,991 441 18,904
 Corporate bonds 10 10
 Other securities 3,573 4 3,569
Total ¥39,122 ¥4,996 ¥461 ¥43,657

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

March 31, 2011 Cost
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses
Fair

Value

Held-to-maturity:
 Corporate bonds $ 14,353 $   115 $ 14,468
 Other securities 36,079 36,079
Available-for-sale:
 Equity securities 203,677 51,581 $10,227 245,031
  Government  

 and municipal  
 bonds 12,026 1 12,025

 Corporate bonds 120 120
 Other securities 35,780 318 35,462
Total $302,035 $51,696 $10,546 $343,185
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Proceeds from Sales of Available-for-Sale Securities for the Years 
Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

Millions of Yen

March 31, 2011 Proceeds
Realized  

Gains
Realized  
Losses

Equity securities ¥ 1,108 ¥27 ¥518
Other securities 60,000
Total ¥61,108 ¥27 ¥518

Millions of Yen

March 31, 2010 Proceeds
Realized  

Gains

Equity securities ¥    12 ¥3
Other securities 35,000
Total ¥35,012 ¥3

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

March 31, 2011 Proceeds
Realized  

Gains
Realized  
Losses

Equity securities $ 13,323 $324 $6,228
Other securities 721,587
Total $734,910 $324 $6,228

The impairment losses on available-for-sale equity securities for 
the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were ¥271 million 
($3,254 thousand) and ¥529 million, respectively.

8.  Investments in and Advances to Unconsolidated 
 Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated subsidiaries and 
associated companies at March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Investments ¥13,288 ¥14,068 $159,803
Advances 1,788 1,740 21,506
Total ¥15,076 ¥15,808 $181,309

9. Short-Term Bank Loans and Long-Term Debt

Short-term bank loans at March 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of 
notes to banks and bank overdrafts. The average annual interest 
rates applicable to the short-term bank loans were 0.7% and 0.8% 
at March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Long-term debt at March 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of 
the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Unsecured 1.4%  
 yen straight bonds,  
 due 2012 ¥ 30,000 ¥ 30,000 $  360,794
Unsecured 0.9%  
 yen straight bonds,  
 due 2014 15,000 15,000 180,397
Unsecured 0.5%  
 yen straight bonds,  
 due 2014 5,000 5,000 60,132
Collateralized 1.9%  
 yen straight bonds,  
 due 2013 280 420 3,367
Loans from banks  
 and other financial  
 institutions, due  
 serially to 2018 with  
 average interest rates  
 of 1.5% (2011) and  
 1.6% (2010):
 Collateralized 17,411 19,944 209,395
 Unsecured 114,524 106,071 1,377,316
Lease obligations,  
 due serially to 2024 
 —Unsecured 8,691 6,960 104,524
Total 190,906 183,395 2,295,925
Less current portion (17,686) (6,814) (212,703)
Long-term debt,  
 less current portion ¥173,220 ¥176,581 $2,083,222

Annual maturities of long-term debt at March 31, 2011 were 
as follows:

Year Ending March 31 Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2012 ¥ 17,686 $  212,703
2013 57,059 686,223
2014 21,481 258,345
2015 62,681 753,833
2016 13,425 161,457
2017 and thereafter 18,574 223,364
Total ¥190,906 $2,295,925

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as collateral for trade notes 
and accounts payable of ¥7 million ($88 thousand), short-term bank 
loans of ¥2,291 million ($27,553 thousand), current portion of long-
term debt of ¥2,247 million ($27,028 thousand), corporate bonds due 
in one year of ¥140 million ($1,684 thousand), other corporate bonds 
of ¥140 million ($1,684 thousand) and long-term debt of ¥15,164 
million ($182,367 thousand) at March 31, 2011 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 2,575 $ 30,965
Land 16,588 199,492
Buildings and structures 11,801 141,919
Other 8 99
Investment securities 7 89
Total ¥30,979 $372,564
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10. Retirement and Pension Plans

The Group has cash balance pension fund plans, tax-qualified 
pension fund plans, defined contribution pension plans and plans 
of retirement lump-sum grants as defined benefit plans. Also, the 
Group occasionally pays a premium retirement allowance to 
employees upon retirement, and this is not subject to an actuarial 
calculation based on retirement allowance accounting.

The liability for employees’ retirement benefits at March 31, 
2011 and 2010 consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Projected benefit  
 obligation ¥ 95,476 ¥ 67,361 $1,148,238
Fair value of plan  
 assets (including a  
 pension trust) (72,710) (64,205) (874,443)
Prepaid pension  
 expense 8,050 7,845 96,808
Net liability ¥ 30,816 ¥ 11,001 $  370,603

Note:  Some consolidated subsidiaries adopt the simplified method when calculating 
retirement allowance liabilities.

The components of net periodic retirement benefit costs for the 
years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Service cost ¥5,198 ¥3,644 $62,509
Interest cost 1,765 1,235 21,223
Expected return on  
 plan assets (105) (57) (1,257)
Recognized actuarial  
 loss (gain) 166 (17) 1,991
Gain on transition to  
 defined contribution  
 pension plans  
 from defined  
 benefit plans (125)
Other  
 (see Note 3 below) 2,585 2,487 31,092
Net periodic  
 retirement benefit  
 costs ¥9,609 ¥7,167 $115,558

Notes: 1.  In addition to retirement allowance costs above, ¥1,116 million ($13,421  
thousand) and ¥2,442 million for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 
were appropriated as special payments due to early retirement.

 2.  Retirement allowance costs of consolidated subsidiaries using the simplified 
method are included in “Service cost.”

 3.  “Other” represents the payment for a defined contribution pension plan.

Assumptions used for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 
2010 are set forth below:

2011 2010

Discount rate 1.3%–2.0% 1.5%–2.0%
Expected rate of return on  
 plan assets 0.0%–2.0% 0.0%–2.0%
Recognition period of actuarial  
 gain/loss (Note) (Note)

Note: Actuarial gains and losses are immediately amortized as they arise.

11. Asset Retirement Obligations

The changes in asset retirement obligations for the year ended March 
31, 2011 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2011

Balance at beginning of year ¥6,108 $73,455
  Additional provisions associated  

 with the acquisition of  
 property, plant and equipment 692 8,319

  Reconciliation associated with  
 passage of time 126 1,520

  Reduction associated with  
 settlement of asset  
 retirement obligations (294) (3,531)

 Other (23) (279)
Balance at end of year ¥6,609 $79,484

12. Equity

Japanese companies are subject to the Companies Act of Japan 
(the “Companies Act”). The significant provisions in the Compa-
nies Act that affect financial and accounting matters are sum-
marized below:

a. Dividends
Under the Companies Act, companies can pay dividends at any 
time during the fiscal year in addition to the year-end dividend upon 
resolution at the shareholders meeting. For companies that meet 
certain criteria such as; (1) having the Board of Directors, (2) having 
independent auditors, (3) having the Board of Corporate Auditors, 
and (4) the term of service of the directors is prescribed as one year 
rather than two years of normal term by its articles of incorporation, 
the Board of Directors may declare dividends (except for dividends 
in kind) at any time during the fiscal year if the company has pre-
scribed so in its articles of incorporation. The Company meets all 
the above criteria.

The Board of Directors of companies with board committees (an 
appointment committee, compensation committee and audit com-
mittee) can also do so because such companies with board com-
mittees already, by nature, meet the criteria under the Companies 
Act, even though such companies have an audit committee instead 
of the Board of Corporate Auditors. The Company shifted its corpo-
rate governance structure to the company with board committees 
from June 23, 2011.

The Companies Act permits companies to distribute dividends-
in-kind (non-cash assets) to shareholders subject to a certain limita-
tion and additional requirements. The Companies Act provides 
certain limitations on the amounts available for dividends or the 
purchase of treasury stock. The limitation is defined as the amount 
available for distribution to the shareholders, but the amount of net 
assets after dividends must be maintained at no less than ¥3 million.

b.  Increases/Decreases and Transfer of Common Stock, 
Reserve and Surplus

The Companies Act requires that an amount equal to 10% of divi-
dends must be appropriated as a legal reserve (a component of 
retained earnings) or as additional paid-in capital (a component of 
capital surplus) depending on the equity account charged upon the 
payment of such dividends until the total of the aggregate amount 
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of legal reserve and additional paid-in capital equals 25% of the 
common stock. Under the Companies Act, the total amount of 
additional paid-in capital and legal reserve may be reversed without 
limitation. The Companies Act also provides that common stock, 
legal reserve, additional paid-in capital, other capital surplus and 
retained earnings can be transferred among the accounts under 
certain conditions upon resolution of the shareholders.

c. Treasury Stock and Treasury Stock Acquisition Rights
The Companies Act also provides for companies to purchase trea-
sury stock and dispose of such treasury stock by resolution of the 

Board of Directors. The amount of treasury stock purchased 
cannot exceed the amount available for distribution to the share-
holders which is determined by a specific formula. Under the Com-
panies Act, stock acquisition rights are presented as a separate 
component of equity. The Companies Act also provides that com-
panies can purchase both treasury stock acquisition rights and 
treasury stock. Such treasury stock acquisition rights are presented 
as a separate component of equity or deducted directly from stock 
acquisition rights.

13. Stock Options

The stock options outstanding as of March 31, 2011 were as follows:

Stock 
Options Persons Granted

Number of 
Options Granted

Date of
Grant

Exercise
Price

Exercise 
Period

2002  
 Stock Options

10 directors 16,267,000 shares July 16, 2002 ¥2,113
($25.41)

From April 1, 2005  
 to March 31, 201245 directors in our subsidiaries

6,417 employees of our subsidiaries
2003  
 Stock Options

5 directors in our subsidiaries 1,305,000 shares July 22, 2003 ¥2,113
($25.41)

From April 1, 2006  
 to March 31, 2012963 employees of our subsidiaries

2004  
 Stock Options

1 director 1,195,000 shares July 20, 2004 ¥2,395
($28.80)

From April 1, 2007  
 to March 31, 201213 directors in our subsidiaries

824 employees of our subsidiaries

The stock option activity is as follows:
2002  

Stock Options
2003  

Stock Options
2004  

Stock Options

Year Ended March 31, 2010 (Shares)

Non-vested
 March 31, 2009—Outstanding
  Granted
  Canceled
  Vested
 March 31, 2010—Outstanding
Vested
 March 31, 2009—Outstanding 10,605,000 1,074,000 1,096,000
  Vested
  Exercised
  Canceled (419,000) (21,000) (23,000)
 March 31, 2010—Outstanding 10,186,000 1,053,000 1,073,000

Year Ended March 31, 2011
Non-vested
 March 31, 2010—Outstanding
  Granted
  Canceled
  Vested
 March 31, 2010—Outstanding
Vested
 March 31, 2010—Outstanding 10,186,000 1,053,000 1,073,000
  Vested
  Exercised
  Canceled (1,071,000) (25,000) (100,000)
 March 31, 2011—Outstanding 9,115,000 1,028,000 973,000
Exercise price ¥2,113 ¥2,113 ¥2,395

($25.41) ($25.41) ($28.80)

JS Group Corporation Annual Report 2011 73



14. Income Taxes

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries are subject to Japanese national and local income taxes which, in the aggregate, resulted 
in a normal effective statutory tax rate of approximately 39.5% for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010. Foreign subsidiaries are 
subject to income taxes of the countries in which they operate.

The tax effects of significant temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards which resulted in deferred tax assets and liabilities at 
March 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Deferred tax assets:
 Liability for retirement benefits ¥ 16,388 ¥  8,085 $  197,094
 Loss on write-down of investment securities 7,259 7,231 87,300
 Allowance for doubtful accounts 9,048 6,039 108,820
 Tax loss carryforwards 36,919 11,426 444,005
 Accrued bonuses 7,791 6,239 93,696
 Other 38,964 29,176 468,594
  Subtotal 116,369 68,196 1,399,509
 Less valuation allowance (78,591) (31,656) (945,169)
  Total 37,778 36,540 454,340

Deferred tax liabilities:
 Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities (1,722) (2,008) (20,704)
 Revaluation of land (11,222) (10,670) (134,963)
 Prepaid pension expenses (3,187) (3,094) (38,323)
 Reserve for deferred income tax and others (3,601) (1,798) (43,320)
  Total (19,732) (17,570) (237,310)
Net deferred tax assets ¥ 18,046 ¥ 18,970 $  217,030

At March 31, 2011, certain subsidiaries have tax loss carryforwards 
aggregating approximately ¥92,734 million ($1,115,259 thousand) 
which are available to be offset against taxable income of such 
subsidiaries in future years. These tax loss carryforwards, if not 
utilized, will expire as follows:

Year Ending March 31 Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2012 ¥ 5,357 $   64,425
2013 3,983 47,901
2014 5,321 63,995
2015 7,705 92,661
2016 16,440 197,712
2017 40,003 481,100
2018 10,447 125,638
After 2018 3,478 41,827
Total ¥92,734 $1,115,259

A reconciliation between the normal effective statutory tax rate 
and the actual effective tax rate reflected in the accompanying 
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 
2011 is as follows:

2011

Normal effective statutory tax rate 39.5%
Adjustments:
 Local inhabitants tax on per capita basis 2.9
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3.0
 Less valuation allowance 9.6
  Lower income tax rates applicable to income in  

 certain foreign countries (1.4)
 Amortization of goodwill 2.6
 Gain on negative goodwill (4.0)
 Gain on step acquisitions (4.0)
 Gain on change in equity (0.8)
 Other—net (0.0)
Actual effective tax rate 47.4%
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15. Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses are included in selling, gen-
eral and administrative expenses and production cost, and the 
amounts are as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Research and  
 development  
 expenses ¥13,688 ¥14,756 $164,620

16. Losses from a Natural Disaster

Loss on disaster for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 is mainly 
due to the Great East Japan Earthquake and consisted of  
the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Repair of buildings and equipments ¥1,838 $22,101
Loss on damage to the inventory 575 6,918
Others 510 6,137
Total ¥2,923 $35,156

Addition to reserve of ¥1,953 million ($23,491 thousand) is 
included as the loss on disaster.

17. Leases

(1) Lessee
a. Finance leases
The Group mainly leases computer equipment and store fixtures of the distribution and retail business.

Total rental expenses including lease payments under finance leases for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were ¥1,089 million 
($13,102 thousand) and ¥1,546 million, respectively.

 For the year ended March 31, 2011, the Group recorded an impairment loss of ¥1 million ($11 thousand) on certain leased property 
held under finance leases that do not transfer ownership and an allowance for an impairment loss on leased property, which is included in 
long-term liabilities—other.

For the year ended March 31, 2010, the Group recorded an impairment loss of ¥76 million on certain leased property held under finance 
leases that do not transfer ownership and an allowance for an impairment loss on leased property, which is included in long-term liabilities—other.

As discussed in Note 2.q, the Group accounts for leases which existed at the transition date and do not transfer ownership of the leased 
property to the lessee as operating lease transactions. Pro forma information of such leases existing at the transition date for the years 
ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 such as acquisition cost, accumulated depreciation, accumulated impairment loss, obligations under 
finance leases, depreciation expense, interest expense and other information of finance leases that do not transfer ownership of the leased 
property to the lessee on an “as if capitalized” basis was as follows:

Millions of Yen

2011 2010
Furniture

and Fixtures Other Total
Furniture

and Fixtures Other Total

Acquisition cost ¥ 3,413 ¥ 353 ¥ 3,766 ¥ 5,529 ¥ 378 ¥ 5,907
Accumulated depreciation (2,766) (128) (2,894) (4,145) (143) (4,288)
Accumulated  impairment loss (77) (77) (77) (77)
Net leased property ¥   570 ¥ 225 ¥   795 ¥ 1,307 ¥ 235 ¥ 1,542

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2011
Furniture

and Fixtures Other Total

Acquisition cost $ 41,048 $ 4,245 $ 45,293
Accumulated depreciation (33,265) (1,541) (34,806)
Accumulated impairment loss (932) (932)
Net leased property $  6,851 $ 2,704 $  9,555

Obligations under finance leases:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Due within one year ¥495 ¥  932 $ 5,948
Due after one year 348 744 4,187
Total ¥843 ¥1,676 $10,135

JS Group Corporation Annual Report 2011 75



Allowances for impairment loss on leased property of ¥29 million 
($351 thousand) as of March 31, 2011 and ¥53 million as of March 
31, 2010 are included in the obligations under finance leases. The 
imputed interest expense portion which is computed using the 
interest method is excluded from the above obligations under 
finance leases.

Depreciation expense, interest expense and other information 
under finance leases:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Depreciation expense ¥  962 ¥1,437 $11,564
Interest expense 38 55 458
Total ¥1,000 ¥1,492 $12,022
Reversal of allowance 
 for impairment loss  
 on leased property ¥   24 ¥   24 $   292
Impairment loss 1 76 11

Depreciation expense and interest expense, which are not 
reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of opera-
tions, are computed by the straight-line method and the interest 
method, respectively.

b. Operating leases
The minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating 
leases at March 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Due within one year ¥ 1,892 ¥ 1,685 $ 22,754
Due after one year 14,273 13,489 171,654
Total ¥16,165 ¥15,174 $194,408

(2) Lessor
Operating leases
The amounts of future lease receipts under operating leases as 
lessor as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 are summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Due within one year ¥12 ¥15 $139
Due after one year 36 47 442
Total ¥48 ¥62 $581

18. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

(1) Purchases of Newly Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the year ended March 31, 2011, Shin Nikkei and its 26 subsid-
iaries were acquired. Assets and liabilities of these companies at 
the date of acquisition, cash paid for the capital and proceeds from 
purchase of newly consolidated subsidiaries were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Current assets ¥ 54,577 $ 656,371
Non-current assets 16,860 202,760
Goodwill 5,421 65,205
Current liabilities (60,350) (725,799)
Long-term liabilities (16,406) (197,309)
Cash paid for the capital 102 1,228
Amounts paid during the
previous fiscal year for Shin 
Nikkei and its 26 subsidiaries (101) (1,221)

Cash and cash equivalents of 
Shin Nikkei and its 26 subsidiaries 4,423 53,190

Proceeds from purchase of
newly consolidated subsidiaries—net ¥  4,422 $  53,183

(2) Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities
(a)  For the year ended March 31, 2011, Sun Wave and its sub-

sidiary were acquired through share exchange. Assets and 
liabilities of these companies at the date of acquisition were 
as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Current assets ¥ 39,644 $ 476,778
Non-current assets 21,685 260,794
Total ¥ 61,329 $ 737,572
Current liabilities ¥(25,246) $(303,625)
Long-term liabilities (9,068) (109,047)
Total ¥(34,314) $(412,672)
Increase in capital surplus due 
to share exchange ¥    476 $   5,732

Decrease in treasury stock due 
to share exchange 15,517 186,617

(b) Asset retirement obligations
Effective April 1, 2010, the Group applied ASBJ Statement 
No. 18, “Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations” 
and ASBJ Guidance No. 21, “Guidance on Accounting Standard 
for Asset Retirement Obligations.” As a result, property, plant and 
equipment increased by ¥2,315 million ($27,846 thousand) and 
asset retirement obligations increased by ¥6,609 million 
($79,484 thousand).
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19. Financial Instruments and Related Disclosures

In March 2008, the ASBJ revised ASBJ Statement No. 10, 
“Accounting Standard for Financial Instruments,” and issued ASBJ 
Guidance No. 19, “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Financial 
Instruments and Related Disclosures.” This accounting standard 
and the guidance were applicable to financial instruments and 
related disclosures at the end of the fiscal years ending on or after 
March 31, 2010. The Group applied the revised accounting stan-
dard and the guidance effective March 31, 2010.

(1) Group Policy for Financial Instruments
The Group uses financial instruments, mainly bank loans and 
straight bonds, based on its fundamental management strategies 
of “achieving growth strategies,” “strengthening cost competitive-
ness” and “executing strategic investments.” Cash surpluses, if any, 
are invested in low risk financial assets. Derivatives are used, not for 
speculative purposes, but to manage exposure to financial risks as 
described in (2) below.

(2)  Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial 
Instruments

Receivables such as trade notes and trade accounts are exposed 
to customer credit risk. Marketable and investment securities are 
mainly equity instruments of companies that have a business rela-
tionship with the Group and debt securities managing cash sur-
pluses. Those traded on the stock market are exposed to the risk 
of market price fluctuations, where those that are not, mainly equity 
instruments of the companies that have a business relationship 
with the Group, are exposed to the risk of reduction in real values.

Loans are mainly for the associated companies of the Group.
Payment terms of payables, such as trade notes and trade 

accounts, as well as of corporate tax payables, are less than one year.
Bank loans and straight bonds are financing for business opera-

tions, capital expenditures and other investments and loans. 
Although a part of such bank loans are exposed to market risks 
from changes in variable interest rates, those risks are mitigated by 
using interest-rate swaps.

Derivatives mainly include forward foreign currency contracts, 
interest-rate swaps, currency option swaps, interest-rate currency 
swaps and commodity swaps. Please see Note 20 for more detail 
about derivatives.

(3) Risk Management for Financial Instruments
Credit risk management
Credit risk is the risk of economic loss arising from a counterparty’s 
failure to repay or service debt according to the contractual terms. 
The Group manages its credit risk from receivables on the basis of 
internal guidelines, which include monitoring the payment terms 
and balances of customers to identify the default risk of customers 
at an early stage. Trade conditions are revised or receivables are 
preserved as the necessity arises. Debt securities managing cash 
surpluses are low risk financial instruments. These investments are 
based on the internal fund management guidelines. The Group 
monitors such information as the financial positions of the associ-
ated companies to whom it lends funds. Please see Note 20 for the 
detail about derivatives.

Market risk management (interest rate risk)
Interest-rate swaps are used to manage exposure to market risks 
from changes in interest rates of loan payables and bond payables.

Marketable and investment securities traded on the stock 
market are managed by monitoring market values on a regular 
basis and reported to the officers of the Company. Marketable and 
investment securities that are not traded on the stock exchange, 
mainly equity instruments of the companies that have a business 
relationship with the Group, are managed by monitoring their finan-
cial positions on a regular basis.

Derivative transactions are only traded between high credit 
rating financial institutions, and financial and accounting divisions of 
consolidated subsidiaries and the Group’s procurement division. 
Important derivative transactions are decided and managed by 
management, through meeting regulations and internal guidelines 
of each consolidated subsidiary. The transaction data has been 
reported to the officers of the Company on a monthly basis.

(4) Fair Values of Financial Instruments
Fair values of financial instruments are based on a quoted price in 
active markets. If a quoted price is not available, other rational 
valuation techniques are used instead. Also please see Note 20 for 
the detail of fair value for derivatives.

Fair value of financial instruments for which a quoted market 
price is not available, is calculated based on certain assumptions 
and the fair value might differ if difficult assumptions are used.

(a)  Fair value of financial instruments for the fiscal years ended 
March 31, 2011 and 2010

Millions of Yen

March 31, 2011 Carrying Amount Fair Value
Unrealized 
Gain/Loss

Cash and cash 
equivalents ¥ 92,329 ¥ 92,329

Notes and accounts 
receivable 304,053

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts (Note a) (5,259)

298,794 298,794
Short-term 
investments and 
investment securities 
(Note b) 35,478 36,382 ¥  904

Short-term loans 12,325 12,325
Long-term loans 
(Notes c and d) 7,850 7,691 (159)

Total ¥446,776 ¥447,521 ¥  745

Short-term bank loans ¥ 46,457 ¥ 46,457
Notes and accounts 
payable 189,232 189,232

Income taxes payable 8,501 8,501
Long-term debt  
(Note e) 190,906 194,110 ¥3,204

Total ¥435,096 ¥438,300 ¥3,204
Derivatives (Note f) ¥    276 ¥    276
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Millions of Yen

March 31, 2010 Carrying Amount Fair Value
Unrealized 
Gain/Loss

Cash and cash 
equivalents ¥ 89,302 ¥ 89,302

Notes and accounts 
receivable 227,902

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts (Note a) (4,397)

223,505 223,505
Short-term 
investments and 
investment securities 52,871 52,860 ¥     (11)

Short-term loans 10,621 10,621
Long-term loans 
(Notes c and d) 3,484 3,399 (85)

Total ¥379,783 ¥379,687 ¥     (96)

Short-term bank loans ¥ 42,180 ¥ 42,180
Notes and accounts 
payable 137,083 137,083

Income taxes payable 6,986 6,986
Long-term debt  
(Note e) 183,395 185,662 ¥2,267

Total ¥369,644 ¥371,911 ¥2,267
Derivatives (Note f) ¥    384 ¥    384

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

March 31, 2011 Carrying Amount Fair Value
Unrealized 
Gain/Loss

Cash and cash 
equivalents $1,110,393 $1,110,393

Notes and accounts 
receivable 3,656,678

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts (Note a) (63,248)

3,593,430 3,593,430
Short-term 
investments and 
investment securities 
(Note b) 426,679 437,548 $10,869

Short-term loans 148,226 148,226
Long-term loans 
(Notes c and d) 94,409 92,498 (1,911)

Total $5,373,137 $5,382,095 $ 8,958

Short-term bank loans $  558,709 $  558,709
Notes and accounts 
payable 2,275,790 2,275,790

Income taxes payable 102,242 102,242
Long-term debt  
(Note e) 2,295,925 2,334,461 $38,536

Total $5,232,666 $5,271,202 $38,536
Derivatives (Note f) $    3,318 $    3,318

Notes: a. Allowance for bad debts is deducted from receivables.
 b.  Short-term investments and investment securities include investments to 

unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated companies.
 c.  Long-term loans include loans to unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated 

companies.
 d. Long-term loans include those to be collected within a year.

 e. Long-term debt includes those to be paid within a year.
 f.  Liabilities recorded due to the derivative transactions are shown as net. ( ) 

denotes net liabilities.

Assets
“Cash and Cash Equivalents” and “Short-Term Loans”
The book values of these items approximate fair value because of 
their short maturities.

Short-Term Investments and Investment Securities
The fair values of marketable and investment securities are mea-
sured at the quoted market price of the stock exchange for the 
equity instruments, and at the quoted price obtained from the 
financial institution for certain debt instruments. The information of 
the fair value for the marketable and investment securities by clas-
sification is included in Note 7.

Notes and Accounts Receivable
The book values after deduction of the allowance for bad debts of 
receivables approximate fair values because of their short maturities.

Long-Term Loans
The fair values of long-term loans are calculated by the total amount 
of principal and interest at discounted interest rates based on the 
expected rate of new loans. However, as loans based on floating 
rates reflect market interest rates over a short period of time, as long 
as the credit standing of the debtor does not change significantly 
from the time of lending, the book values of the long-term loans 
approximate fair values.

Liabilities
“Notes and Accounts Payable,” “Short-Term Bank Loans” and 
“Income Taxes Payable”
The book values of these items approximate fair value because of 
their short maturities.

“Corporate Bonds” and “Long-Term Debt”
The fair values of corporate bonds are calculated based on the 
market prices. The fair values of long-term debt are calculated by 
the total amount of principal and interest at discounted interest 
rates based on the expected rate of new debts. However, as debts 
based on floating rates reflect market interest rates over a short 
period of time and the credit standing of the Company has not 
changed significantly from the time of borrowing, the book values 
of the long-term debts approximate fair values.

Derivatives
The information of the fair value for derivatives is included in Note 20.

JS Group Corporation Annual Report 201178



(b)  Carrying amount of financial instruments whose fair value 
cannot be reliably determined

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

2011 2010 2011

Investments in equity 
instruments that do 
not have a quoted 
market price in an 
active market ¥13,439 ¥15,878 $161,618

Other 1 5 6
Total ¥13,440 ¥15,883 $161,624

(5)  Maturity Analysis for Financial Assets and Securities with Contractual Maturities for the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2011

Millions of Yen

March 31, 2011
Due in 1 Year 

or Less
Due after 1 Year 
through 5 Years

Due after 5 Years 
through 10 Years

Due after 
10 Years

Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 92,329
Notes and accounts receivable 304,053
Short-term investments and investment securities:
 Held-to-maturity securities 3,522 ¥   700
 Available-for-sale securities with contractual maturities 1,000 10 ¥3,000
 Other 4,700
Short-term loans (excluding long-term loans to be collected  
 within one year) 12,325
Long-term loans (including those to be collected within one year) 445 4,603 2,410 ¥392
Total ¥418,374 ¥5,313 ¥5,410 ¥392

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

March 31, 2011
Due in 1 Year 

or Less
Due after 1 Year 
through 5 Years

Due after 5 Years 
through 10 Years

Due after 
10 Years

Cash and cash equivalents $1,110,393
Notes and accounts receivable 3,656,678
Short-term investments and investment securities:
 Held-to-maturity securities 42,359 $  8,419
 Available-for-sale securities with contractual maturities 12,026 120 $36,079
 Other 56,528
Short-term loans (excluding long-term loans to be collected  
 within one year) 148,226
Long-term loans (including those to be collected within one year) 5,351 55,362 28,978 $4,719
Total $5,031,561 $63,901 $65,057 $4,719

Please see Note 9 for annual maturities of long-term debt and Note 17 for obligations under finance leases.

20. Derivatives

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments (“derivatives”), including foreign currency forward contracts, and interest rate swaps, 
to hedge foreign exchange risk associated with certain assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies or to hedge interest rate 
fluctuation risk.

The Group also enters into derivatives, including commodity swap transactions to hedge raw material price fluctuation risk.
It is the Company’s policy to use derivatives only for the purpose of reducing risks associated with fluctuations in currency exchange 

rates, interest rates and raw material prices and to reduce the cost of raising funds. The Group does not engage in derivative transactions 
for speculation purposes.

Derivatives are subject to market risk, which is the exposure created by potential fluctuations in market conditions, including interest or 
foreign exchange rates. Because the counterparties to those derivatives are limited to major international financial institutions, the Group 
does not anticipate any losses arising from credit risk.
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Interest rate swap contracts, which are related to working assets or loans payable, are used to manage the risk of loss stemming from 
interest rate fluctuations that may affect the Group’s overall asset and liability structure. In addition, the Group uses interest rate swap con-
tracts to reduce the cost of raising funds.

Commodity swap transactions are used to manage the risks associated with the fluctuation of raw material prices occurring within the 
scope of the Group’s ordinary procurement of raw materials.

Execution and control of derivative transactions are carried out by the accounting and purchasing divisions of the relevant company. 
However, material transactions are executed on approval of the Board of Directors of each company, based on rules set forth by its board. 
The scope of execution authority and execution amount is based on each company’s administrative rules. The result of these transactions is 
reported each month to the directors of the Company as well.

Derivative Transactions to Which Hedge Accounting Is Not Applied at March 31, 2011 and 2010

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars Millions of Yen

March 31, 2011 Contract Amount Contract Amount Due after One Year Fair Value
Unrealized
Gain (Loss)

Currency swap  
 (denominated in U.S. dollar) ¥   130 ¥ (29) ¥ (29)
Interest rate swaps—
 Fixed interest rate  
 with conditions (see Note) 12,500 ¥5,000 (38) (38)
Interest rate and currency swap 
agreement $24,156 $24,156 ¥130 130

Commodity swap— 
 Copper swap (denominated in yen) 118 64 64

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars Millions of Yen

March 31, 2010 Contract Amount Contract Amount Due after One Year Fair Value
Unrealized
Gain (Loss)

Currency swap  
 (denominated in U.S. dollar) ¥   610 ¥   130 ¥   (78) ¥   (78)
Interest rate swaps—
 Fixed interest rate  
 with conditions (see Note) 12,500 12,500 (61) (61)
Interest rate and currency swap 
agreement $16,250 $16,250 15 15

Commodity swap— 
 Copper swap (denominated in yen) 344 118 212 212

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

March 31, 2011 Contract Amount

Contract Amount 
Due after 
One Year Fair Value

Unrealized
Gain (Loss)

Currency swap  
 (denominated in U.S. dollar) $  1,563 $ (351) $ (351)
Interest rate swaps—
 Fixed interest rate with conditions  
 (see Note) 150,331 $60,132 (451) (451)
Interest rate and currency swap agreement 24,156 24,156 1,563 1,563
Commodity swap— 
 Copper swap (denominated in yen) 1,415 770 770

Note: Depending on the interest rate, fixed interest rate is exchanged for floating rate.
 The fair value of derivative transactions is measured at the quoted price obtained from the financial institution.
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Derivative Transactions to Which Hedge Accounting Is Applied at March 31, 2011 and 2010

March 31, 2011 Hedged Item Contract Amount
Contract Amount 

Due after One Year Fair Value

Foreign currency forward contracts:
 Denominated in U.S. dollar Foreign currency 

transactions $127,313 thousand
¥53 million

($636 thousand)
 Denominated in euro Foreign currency 

transactions
¥849 million

($10,210 thousand)
¥35 million

($416 thousand)
 Denominated in yen Foreign currency 

transactions
¥2,550 million

($30,667 thousand)
¥10 million

($115 thousand)
Commodity swap—Copper swap
 (denominated in yen)

Raw material 
procurement

¥287 million
($3,455 thousand)

¥14 million
($166 thousand)

Commodity swap—Crude oil swap
 (denominated in yen)

Raw material 
procurement

¥33 million
($398 thousand)

¥15 million
($184 thousand)

Interest rate swaps—Floating rate payment,  
 floating rate receipt with conditions

Long-term debt ¥2,500 million
($30,066 thousand)

¥2,500 million
($30,066 thousand)

¥22 million
($270 thousand)

Interest rate swaps—Fixed rate payment,  
 floating rate receipt (see Note)

Long-term debt ¥48,364 million
($581,649 thousand)

¥44,121 million
($530,616 thousand)

March 31, 2010 Hedged Item Contract Amount
Contract Amount 

Due after One Year Fair Value

Foreign currency forward contracts:
 Denominated in U.S. dollar Foreign currency 

transactions $63,141 thousand $8,000 thousand ¥243 million
 Denominated in euro Foreign currency 

transactions 707 euros ¥(1) million
 Denominated in yen Foreign currency 

transactions ¥1,700 million ¥(4) million
Commodity swap—Crude oil swap
 (denominated in yen)

Raw material 
procurement ¥125 million ¥22 million

Interest rate swaps—Floating rate payment,  
 floating rate receipt with conditions Long-term debt ¥2,500 million ¥2,500 million ¥34 million
Interest rate swaps—Fixed rate payment,  
 floating rate receipt (see Note) Long-term debt ¥51,840 million ¥48,367 million

Note: The above interest rate swaps which qualify for hedge accounting and meet specific matching criteria are not remeasured at market value, but the differential paid or received 
under the swap agreements are recognized and included in interest expense or income. In addition, the fair value of such interest rate swaps in Note 19 is included in that of 
hedged items (i.e. long-term debt).

 The fair value of derivative transactions is measured at the quoted price obtained from the financial institution.

21. Contingent Liabilities

At March 31, 2011, the Group had the following contingent liabilities:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Trade notes discounted ¥    2 $    28
Guarantees and similar items  
 of bank loans 2,971 35,729
Repurchase obligation for notes  
 receivable sold 2,197 26,420

Tostem Corporation (“Tostem”) and Shin Nikkei, the consoli-
dated subsidiaries of the Company, were instructed to take mea-
sures such as to repair aluminum and resin hybrid sliding window 
sashes that do not meet the building standard law due to the fact 
that specifications of those products turned out to be different from 
Minister of Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism approved 
ones. The Group incurred repair cost that can be estimated with 
reasonable degree of accuracy for the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2011. Additional repair cost may arise in the years going forward, 
however, the Group did not record those costs since it cannot estimate 
with any reasonable degree of accuracy.
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22. Comprehensive Loss

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
Total comprehensive loss for the year ended March 31, 2010 was 
the following:

Millions of Yen

2010

Total comprehensive loss  attributable to:
Owners of the parent ¥(4,808)
Minority interests (304)

Total comprehensive loss ¥(5,112)

Other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 
2010 consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen

2010

Other comprehensive income:
  Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities ¥ 1,299
  Deferred gain on derivatives under hedge accounting 428
  Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,381)
  Share of other comprehensive income in  

 an associate 23
Total other comprehensive income ¥   369

23. Net Income Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share (“EPS”) for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 was as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands
of Shares Yen U.S. Dollars

Net Income
(Loss)

Weighted-
Average Shares EPS

Year Ended March 31, 2011
Basic EPS—Net income available to common shareholders ¥15,780 284,348 ¥ 55.50 $0.67
Year Ended March 31, 2010
Basic EPS—Net loss available to common shareholders ¥  (5,332) 278,897 ¥(19.12)

Diluted EPS is not disclosed because it is anti-dilutive in 2011.
Diluted EPS is not disclosed due to the Company’s net loss position in 2010.

24. Related Party Transactions

Transactions between the related party and subsidiaries of the Company for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Yoichiro Ushioda, Director and Chairman of the Company 
 —Sales of manufactured products of the subsidiaries of the Company ¥140 $1,688
Kenjiro Ushioda, Father of the Director and Chairman of the Company 
 —Sales of manufactured products of the subsidiaries of the Company 102 1,228

The balance of above transaction as of March 31, 2011 was as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

Kenjiro Ushioda, Father of the Director and Chairman of the Company 
 —Trade accounts ¥23 $271

25. Subsequent Events

a.  Merger of Tostem Corporation, Inax Corporation and Three 
Other Companies of the Group

Tostem, Inax Corporation (“Inax”), Shin Nikkei, Toyo Exterior Co., 
Ltd., and Lixil Corporation merged on April 1, 2011 based on the 
Merger Agreement signed by the companies on January 28, 2011. 
Tostem, the surviving company, changed its corporate name to 
LIXIL Corporation on the date of the merger.

Outline of the merger
(1) Name and major businesses of the merged companies
(Outline of the surviving company)

Name of the Company Major Businesses

Tostem Corporation Manufacture and sales of housing and 
building materials and equipment

(Outline of dissolved companies)

Name of the Companies Major Businesses

Inax Corporation Manufacture and sales of tiles, building 
materials, and housing equipment

Shin Nikkei  
 Company, Ltd.

Manufacture and sales of aluminum 
building materials and products

Toyo Exterior Co., Ltd. Manufacture and sales of exterior products
Lixil Corporation Draw up integrated sales and marketing 

strategies

(2) Date of the merger
April 1, 2011
(3) Legal form of the merger
 An absorption-type of merger, with Tostem as the surviving com-
pany and four companies including Inax dissolved.
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(4) Allocation after the merger
 Tostem did not allocate consideration against shareholders of Inax 
and other merged companies since all five companies are com-
monly controlled under the same wholly owning parent company. 
Tostem will not change its amount of capital stock or capital 
reserves due to the merger.
(5) Acquired assets and liabilities
Amount of assets and liabilities acquired by Tostem

Millions of Yen

Dissolved Companies Assets Liabilities

Inax Corporation ¥249,770 ¥64,725
Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd. 64,076 67,423
Toyo Exterior Co., Ltd. 62,666 19,341
Lixil Corporation 704 460
Note:  Assets and liabilities recorded above are the figures before the eliminations of 

debts and credits.

(6)  Name and other information of the surviving company after the 
merger

Name of the company: LIXIL Corporation
Stated capital: ¥34,600 million
Major business: Manufacture and sales of building materials 

and equipment and other related services

(7) Other information regarding the business
The business environment surrounding the housing related industry 
in Japan has been significantly changing due to low birthrate and 
aging population along with globalization. Under such change of 
the environment, the Group will integrate its operating companies, 
which used to exist by each product, and reorganize it by dividing it 
into four function-based in-house companies: “domestic sales and 
marketing,” “overseas sales and marketing,” “metal building mate-
rial business,” and “plumbing fixtures business.” Under the group 
strategy of selection and concentration, the merger will allow the 
Group to form a more efficient business and operational system 
and easier investment of management resources into growth 
expected business areas such as Asian market.

As a result, the Group will become an organization that could offer 
an even more comprehensive solution by the combination of various 
products and services to satisfy its customers. In addition, it will inte-
grate sales offices, showrooms and administrative divisions to avoid 
overlapping functions and to speed up decision-making procedures.
(8) Outline of the implemented accounting process
Based on ASBJ Statement No. 21, “Accounting Standard for Busi-
ness Combinations,” and ASBJ Guidance No. 10, “Guidance for 
Accounting Standard for Business Combinations and Business 
Divestitures,” the accounting process is applied as a transaction 
under common control.

b. Appropriation of Retained Earnings
The following appropriation of retained earnings at March 31, 
2011 was approved at the Board of Directors meeting held on 
May 16, 2011:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Year-end cash dividends, 
 ¥20 ($0.24) per share ¥5,696 $68,502

26. Segment Information

For the Year Ended March 31, 2011
In March 2008, the ASBJ revised ASBJ Statement No. 17, 
“Accounting Standard for Segment Information Disclosures” and 
issued ASBJ Guidance No. 20, “Guidance on Accounting Standard 
for Segment Information Disclosures.” Under the standard and 
guidance, an entity is required to report financial and descriptive 
information about its reportable segments. Reportable segments 
are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that 
meet specified criteria. Operating segments are components of an 
entity about which separate financial information is available and 
such information is evaluated regularly by the chief operating deci-
sion maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing 
performance. Generally, segment information is required to be 
reported on the same basis as is used internally for evaluating 
operating segment performance and deciding how to allocate 
resources to operating segments. This accounting standard and 
the guidance are applicable to segment information disclosures for 
the fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2010.

The application of ASBJ Statement No. 17, “Accounting Standard 
for Segment Information Disclosures” does not have any impact on 
the Company’s segmentations, which was previously applied.

(1) Description of reportable segments
The business segments the Company reports are the business 
units for which the Company is able to obtain individual financial 
information separately in order for the Board of Directors to con-
duct periodic investigation to determine distribution of management 
resources and evaluate their business performance.

The Group’s business segment has been decided by the market 
similarity of products and services as well as the classifications 
based on business strategies. The Group is managed based on the 
five business segments with CEO appointed to clarify the person in 
charge for each business segment of “Metal building material busi-
ness,” “Plumbing fixtures business,” “Other building materials and 
equipment business,” “Distribution and retail business” and “Hous-
ing, real estate and other businesses.”

“Metal building material business” includes manufacturing and 
sales of sashes, doors, shutters, etc., “Plumbing fixtures business” 
includes manufacturing and sales of sanitary earthenware, bath-
room, kitchen units, etc., “Other building materials and equipment 
business” includes manufacturing and sales of disaster prevention 
equipment and fire extinguishers, interior and exterior building 
materials, etc., “Distribution and retail business” includes daily 
necessities, DIY materials, building materials, etc., and “Housing, 
real estate and other businesses” includes proposal of housing 
solution, sales and management of real estate, management of 
assisted living condominium business, etc.

(2)  Methods of measurement for the amounts of sales, income 
(loss), assets and other items for each reportable segment

The accounting policies of each reportable segment are consistent 
to those disclosed in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies.”
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(3)  Information about sales, income (loss), assets and other items is as follows:
(a) Information about products and services

Millions of Yen

2011

Reportable Segments

Metal Building
Material 
Business

Plumbing
Fixtures 
Business

Other Building
Materials and

Equipment
Business

Distribution
and Retail
Business

Housing,
Real Estate
and Other

Businesses Total
Reconciliations
(Notes a and b)

Consolidated
(Note c)

Sales:
Sales to external customers ¥484,361 ¥377,102 ¥155,407 ¥141,806 ¥56,263 ¥1,214,939 ¥1,214,939
Intersegment sales or transfers 4,162 2,864 4,260 1,023 1,237 13,546 ¥ (13,546)

Total ¥488,523 ¥379,966 ¥159,667 ¥142,829 ¥57,500 ¥1,228,485 ¥ (13,546) ¥1,214,939
Segment income ¥ 22,125 ¥ 13,013 ¥  3,584 ¥  2,016 ¥ 2,373 ¥   43,111 ¥  (2,702) ¥   40,409
Segment assets 446,593 290,851 139,858 131,017 53,764 1,062,083 104,751 1,166,834
Other:

Depreciation 15,546 11,863 4,786 3,538 525 36,258 31 36,289
Increase in property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets 17,878 12,460 5,193 9,585 586 45,702 77 45,779

Loss on impairment of long-lived assets 723 519 227 9 227 1,705 1,705
Amortization of goodwill 1,561 1,192 277 378 3,408 3,408
Goodwill at March 31, 2011 5,666 2,769 90 8,525 8,525
Amortization of negative goodwill 123 217 340 340
Negative goodwill at March 31, 2011 432 432 432
Gain on negative goodwill 3,075 7 3,082 3,082

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2011

Reportable Segments

Metal Building
Material 
Business

Plumbing
Fixtures 
Business

Other Building
Materials and

Equipment
Business

Distribution
and Retail
Business

Housing,
Real Estate
and Other

Businesses Total
Reconciliations 
(Notes a and b)

Consolidated 
(Note c)

Sales:
Sales to external customers $5,825,153 $4,535,197 $1,868,995 $1,705,422 $676,647 $14,611,414 $14,611,414
Intersegment sales or transfers 50,045 34,448 51,238 12,304 14,878 162,913 $  (162,913)

Total $5,875,198 $4,569,645 $1,920,233 $1,717,726 $691,525 $14,774,327 $  (162,913) $14,611,414
Segment income $  266,083 $  156,500 $   43,103 $   24,240 $ 28,548 $   518,474 $   (32,491) $   485,983
Segment assets 5,370,932 3,497,909 1,681,993 1,575,674 646,592 12,773,100 1,259,783 14,032,883
Other:

Depreciation 186,962 142,672 57,562 42,553 6,308 436,057 369 436,426
Increase in property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets 215,009 149,844 62,449 115,277 7,054 549,633 928 550,561

Loss on impairment of long-lived assets 8,689 6,248 2,734 105 2,732 20,508 20,508
Amortization of goodwill 18,767 14,332 3,336 4,551 40,986 40,986

Goodwill at March 31, 2011 68,138 33,299 1,091 102,528 102,528
Amortization of negative goodwill 1,484 2,611 4,095 4,095
Negative goodwill at March 31, 2011 5,195 5,195 5,195
Gain on negative goodwill 36,984 84 37,068 37,068

Notes: a.  ¥2,702 million ($32,491 thousand) reconciliation of segment income is unallocated general operating expenses mainly incurred by the administrative departments at the 
head office of the Company such as personnel, general affairs and accounting department.

 b.  ¥104,751 million ($1,259,783 thousand) reconciliation of segment assets are unallocated assets such as surplus funds (cash deposits and other) and long-term investments 
(investments in securities) held by the Company or financial service subsidiary, and other assets related to the administrative departments at the head office of the Company.

 c.  Segment income has been adjusted to operating income noted on the consolidated statements of operations.
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(b) Information about geographical areas
Property, Plant and Equipment

Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2011 2011

Japan Thailand China Other Total Japan Thailand China Other Total

¥374,261 ¥25,861 ¥15,397 ¥6,424 ¥421,943 $4,501,040 $311,011 $185,174 $77,259 $5,074,484

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
The Group operates in the following industries:

Manufacturing and sales of sashes, doors and shutters are included in the “Metal building material business.”
Manufacturing and sales of sanitary ware, bathroom units, kitchen units and washstand cabinet units are included in the “Plumbing fix-

tures business.”
Manufacturing and sales of fire-prevention and other disaster prevention equipment, wooden interior furnishing materials, and building 

materials such as tiles are included in the “Other building materials and equipment business.”
Sales of daily necessities and “Do It Yourself” products at the home center stores are included under the “Distribution and retail business.”
Insurance business for warranty against housing defects, ground inspection and ground improvement businesses, sales and manufactur-

ing of housing structures, home building franchise business, real estate business and assisted living condominium businesses are included 
under “Housing, real estate and other businesses.”

Information about industry segments of the Group for the year ended March 31, 2010 is as follows:

a. Sales and Operating Income (Loss)

Millions of Yen

2010

Metal Building
Material 
Business

Plumbing
Fixtures 
Business

Other Building
Materials and
Equipment
Business

Distribution
and Retail
Business

Housing,
Real Estate
and Other

Businesses
Eliminations/
Corporate Consolidated

Sales to customers ¥365,512 ¥279,845 ¥153,435 ¥133,125 ¥50,690 ¥982,607
Intersegment sales 3,282 2,918 1,754 1,123 1,217 ¥(10,294)
 Total sales 368,794 282,763 155,189 134,248 51,907 (10,294) 982,607
Operating expenses 350,939 274,385 156,554 130,372 52,984 (8,611) 956,623
Operating income (loss) ¥ 17,855 ¥  8,378 ¥  (1,365) ¥  3,876 ¥ (1,077) ¥ (1,683) ¥ 25,984

b. Total Assets, Depreciation, Impairment Loss and Capital Expenditures

Millions of Yen

2010

Metal Building
Material 
Business

Plumbing
Fixtures 
Business

Other Building
Materials and
Equipment
Business

Distribution
and Retail
Business

Housing,
Real Estate
and Other

Businesses
Eliminations/
Corporate Consolidated

Total assets ¥359,056 ¥251,876 ¥130,427 ¥117,287 ¥46,590 ¥128,268 ¥1,033,504
Depreciation 12,966 10,966 5,179 3,167 624 14 32,916
Impairment loss 8,604 1,834 1,678 532 2,474 15,122
Capital expenditures 8,800 11,010 4,775 5,386 825 48 30,844

Note:  As discussed in Note 2.r, effective April 1, 2009, the Group applied ASBJ Statement No. 15, “Accounting Standard for Construction Contracts.” The effect of this change was to 
increase sales of “Plumbing fixtures business” by ¥3,723 million and “Other building materials and equipment business” by ¥453 million, increase operating income of “Plumbing 
fixtures business” by ¥506 million, and decrease operating loss of “Other building materials and equipment business” by ¥44 million for the year ended March 31, 2010.
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Number of Marketing and Production Bases

Hokkaido Tohoku Kanto-
Koshinetsu Chubu Kansai Chugoku, 

Shikoku
Kyushu, 
Okinawa Total

Sales network (As of April 1, 2011)

LIXIL Corporation 5 6 29 13 11 10 10 84

Showrooms (As of April 1, 2011)

LIXIL Corporation 7 10 40 21 15 13 17 123

Home Centers (As of April 1, 2011) 8 11 80 9 2 1 1 112

Homebuilding franchise members (As of March 31, 2011)

Eyeful Home ̶ 34 43 36 21 29 9 172

FiAce Home ̶ 3 15 3 4 4 2 31

GL Home Corporation ̶ 4 15 8 4 ̶ ̶ 31

Total 0 41 73 47 29 33 11 234

Renovation network members (As of March 31, 2011)

Tostem HomeWell 10 12 68 19 27 18 22 176

LIFA (franchised by INAX) 9 19 88 45 38 18 29 246

Shizenyoku de Kurasu network (TOEX) 11 65 368 219 187 106 106 1,062

Reform Shop R&B (Sun Wave) 7 13 139 39 40 22 17 277

Total 37 109 663 322 292 164 174 1,761

Japan Korea China Taiwan Hong Kong Thailand Vietnam Indonesia Britain Total

Number of factories

LIXIL Corporation 43 3 1 1 4 52

Sun Wave Corporation 5 5

Nittan Company, Ltd. 4 1 1 6

Tostem Suzuki Shutter Mfg. 
Co., Ltd.

3 1 1 5

Asahi Tostem Exterior Building 
Materials Co., Ltd.

1 1

Cosmo Co., Ltd. 1 1

JAXSON Corp. 1 1

American Standard Asia 
Pacific

1 4 2 1 1 9

Total 58 1 9 1 1 3 5 1 1 80

Note: Number includes factories of subsidiaries of each company (As of April 1, 2011)

Product Country of Production 2008 2009 2010 2011

Housing window sashes Thailand 30% 33% 32% 36%

Wooden interior furnish-
ing materials

China (Dalian) 40% 42% 43% 46%

Sanitary wares
Vietnam, 

China (Suzhou) 24% 22% 24% 26%

Floor tiles China (Suzhou) 40% 44% 43% 47%

Overseas Production Ratio
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Results of Operations and Financial Positions of Major Subsidiaries
Amounts less than one million yen have been truncated.
Company names are as of March 31, 2011

Tostem Corporation* Results of Operations Millions of Yen

2011 2010

Net sales ¥444,725 ¥430,493
Operating income 12,438 6,165
Recurring profit 13,629 7,225
Net Income (loss) 2,927 (11,690)

Financial Position Millions of Yen

2011 2010

Current assets ¥210,211 ¥184,984
Fixed assets 214,805 215,214
Total assets 425,016 400,198
Current liabilities 138,651 119,989
Long-term liabilities 9,206 6,016
Total net assets 277,158 274,193
Total liabilities and net 
assets

425,016 400,198

Tostem Viva Corporation* Results of Operations Millions of Yen

2011 2010

Net sales ¥141,676 ¥134,213
Operating income 5,541 4,856
Recurring profit 5,200 4,623
Net income 1,878 2,456

Financial Position Millions of Yen

2011 2010

Current assets ¥ 34,457 ¥30,882
Fixed assets 76,877 65,661
Total assets 111,335 96,543
Current liabilities 71,851 41,286
Long-term liabilities 15,616 31,027
Total net assets 23,866 24,228
Total liabilities and net 
assets

111,335 96,543

Inax Corporation* Results of Operations Millions of Yen

2010

Net sales ¥238,432
Operating income 3,671
Recurring profit 5,174
Net income 368

Financial Position Millions of Yen

2010

Current assets ¥127,028
Fixed assets 143,497
Total assets 270,525
Current liabilities 69,422
Long-term liabilities 13,548
Total net assets 187,554
Total liabilities and net 
assets

270,525

Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd.* Results of Operations Millions of Yen

2010

Net sales ¥103,094
Operating loss (1,740)
Recurring loss (2,900)
Net loss (5,692)

Financial Position Millions of Yen

2010

Current assets ¥49,382
Fixed assets 26,336
Total assets 75,719
Current liabilities 57,217
Long-term liabilities 13,829
Total net assets 4,672
Total liabilities and net 
assets

75,719

Sun Wave Corporation*
(Consolidated basis)

Results of Operations Millions of Yen

2011 2010

Net sales ¥ 87,835 ¥79,731
Operating income 1,879 943
Recurring profit 1,026 713
Net loss (12,402) (581)

Financial Position Millions of Yen

2011 2010

Current assets ¥31,183 ¥40,881
Fixed assets 27,713 26,175
Total assets 58,896 67,059
Current liabilities 27,363 25,447
Long-term liabilities 9,964 7,523
Total net assets 21,569 34,088
Total liabilities and net 
assets

58,896 67,059

*  In the year ended March 31, 2011, sales and marketing divisions were integrated into Inax Sunwave Marketing 
Corporation.

*  Figures for the year ended March 2011 are not shown because this company was integrated into LIXIL 
Corporation and dissolved on April 1, 2011

*  Figures for the year ended March 2011 are not shown because this company was integrated into LIXIL 
Corporation and dissolved on April 1, 2011

*  Renamed LIXIL Corporation on April 1, 2011

*  Renamed LIXIL Viva Corporation on April 1, 2011
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Toyo Exterior Co., Ltd.* Results of Operations Millions of Yen

2010

Net sales ¥51,493
Operating income 4,680
Recurring profit 4,592
Net income 2,507

Financial Position Millions of Yen

2010

Current assets ¥41,854
Fixed assets 18,300
Total assets 60,154
Current liabilities 13,741
Long-term liabilities 3,912
Total net assets 42,500
Total liabilities and net 
assets

60,154

Tostem Suzuki  
Shutter Co., Ltd.*

Results of Operations Millions of Yen

2011 2010

Net sales ¥11,755 ¥11,954
Operating income (loss) (326) 84
Recurring profit (loss) (269) 117
Net income (loss) (191) 72

Financial Position Millions of Yen

2011 2010

Current assets ¥ 7,785 ¥ 7,980
Fixed assets 4,093 3,873
Total assets 11,878 11,854
Current liabilities 3,069 2,732
Long-term liabilities 761 787
Total net assets 8,047 8,333
Total liabilities and net 
assets

11,878 11,854

Nittan Company, Ltd.* Results of Operations Millions of Yen

2011 2010

Net sales ¥34,178 ¥32,041
Operating income 975 618
Recurring profit 1,328 985
Net income 802 585

Financial Position Millions of Yen

2011 2010

Current assets ¥18,411 ¥18,485
Fixed assets 7,943 7,789
Total assets 26,354 26,275
Current liabilities 12,039 12,090
Long-term liabilities 4,653 4,707
Total net assets 9,661 9,476
Total liabilities and net 
assets

26,354 26,275

Tostem Housing Institute 
Co., Ltd.*

Results of Operations Millions of Yen

2011 2010

Net sales ¥23,562 ¥22,210
Operating income 1,011 380
Recurring profit 1,040 363
Net income 870 263

Financial Position Millions of Yen

2011 2010

Current assets ¥ 7,791 ¥ 8,041
Fixed assets 2,497 2,108
Total assets 10,288 10,150
Current liabilities 6,589 6,240
Long-term liabilities 2,464 3,545
Total net assets 1,234 364
Total liabilities and net 
assets

10,288 10,150

*  Figures for the year ended March 2011 are not shown because this company was integrated into LIXIL 
Corporation and dissolved on April 1, 2011

*  Renamed LIXIL NITTAN Co., Ltd. on July 1, 2011

*  Renamed LIXIL Suzuki Shutter Corporation on April 1, 2011

*  Renamed LIXIL Housing Research Institute, Ltd. on April 1, 2011
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Consolidated Subsidiaries and Equity Method Affiliate
For the year ended March 31, 2011

Consolidated Subsidiaries

Name Location
Paid-in  
capital  

(¥ million)

Equity 
owned by 

the holding 
company 

(%)   (Note 6)

Operations

 1 TOSTEM CORPORATION (Note 1) Koto-ku, Tokyo 34,600 100
Manufacture and sales of metal building materials, plumbing 
fixtures, other building materials, housing structures and 
housing materials

 2 INAX Corporation (Note 1) Tokoname, Aichi 48,468 100 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures and other building 
materials

 3 LIXIL VIVA CORPORATION (Note 2) Ageo, Saitama 20,000 100 Sales of DIY, home improvement products and housing 
materials

 4 Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd. (Note 1) Koto-ku, Tokyo 16,403 100 Manufacture and sales of metal building materials, sales of 
other building materials

 5 SUN WAVE CORPORATION Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 14,551 79 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures
 6 TOYO EXTERIOR CO., LTD. (Note 1) Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 12,956 100 Manufacture and sales of exterior products
 7 LIXIL NITTAN Co., Ltd. (Note 2) Shibuya-ku, Tokyo 2,302 100 Sales of disaster prevention/fire extinguishing facilities

 8 LIXIL Housing Research Institute, Ltd. (Note 2) Koto-ku, Tokyo 1,250 100 Strategic planning for homebuilding franchise chain  
businesses, operation of homebuilding franchise chains

 9 JAPAN HOME SHIELD CORPORATION Sumida-ku, Tokyo 205 100 Ground investigation for houses and improvement work for 
foundation of houses

10 LIXIL SUZUKI SHUTTER CORPORATION (Note 2) Toshima-ku, Tokyo 1,989 100 Manufacture and sales of shutters and related parts
11 JIO Corporation Koto-ku, Tokyo 1,000 100 Insurance for warranty against housing defects

12 LIXIL Toyo Sash Shoji Co., Ltd. (Note 2) Katsushika-ku, Tokyo 100 100 Sales of metal building material, plumbing fixtures, other 
building materials and equipment

13 LIXIL REALTY, Corp. (Note 2) Chuo-ku, Tokyo 160 100 Real estate business and agency of company housing
14 Tostem Management Systems Co., Ltd. Koto-ku, Tokyo 450 100 System and management support for sales agencies
15 LIXIL ENERGY Co., Ltd. Koto-ku, Tokyo 100 100 Sales of solar energy generation systems
16 LIXIL Corporation (Note 1) Koto-ku, Tokyo 100 100 Draw up integrated sales and marketing strategies
17 CLASSIS Corporation Chuo-ku, Tokyo 100 100 Residential real estate brokerage and sales
18 JSG Finance Corporation Koto-ku, Tokyo 3,475 100 Financing services
19 GL HOME CORPORATION Koto-ku, Tokyo 100 100 Operation of homebuilding franchise chains
20 Asahi Tostem Exterior Building Materials Co., Ltd. Koto-ku, Tokyo 2,000 80 Manufacture and sales of other building materials

21 Total Jyuki Co., Ltd. Koto-ku, Tokyo 74 100 Sales of metal building materials, plumbing fixtures, other 
building materials and equipment, and housing structures

22 Suyamatoyo Co., Ltd. Musashino, Tokyo 30 100 Sales of metal building material, plumbing fixtures, other 
building materials and equipment

23 Oita Tostem Co., Ltd. Oita, Oita 50 100 Sales of metal building material, plumbing fixtures, 
other building materials and equipment

24 Tsumuraya Co., Ltd. Koriyama, Fukushima 100 100 Sales of metal building materials, plumbing fixtures, other 
building materials and equipment

25 Kuwata Co., Ltd. Suma-ku, Kobe, Hyogo 30 100 Sales of metal building material, plumbing fixtures, 
other building materials and equipment

26 Nishi Kyushu Tostem Co., Ltd. Saga, Saga 30 100 Sales of metal building material, plumbing fixtures, 
other building materials and equipment

27 TOSTEM SD CORPORATION 
(Integrated in “10” on April 1, 2011) Toshima-ku, Tokyo 90 100 Sales of metal building materials

28 LIXIL INFORMATION SYSTEMS CORPORATION (Note 2) Koto-ku, Tokyo 100 100 Development, operation and management of information 
systems

29 INAX SUNWAVE Marketing Corporation (Note 3) Tokoname, Aichi 310 100 Sales of plumbing fixtures and other building materials
30 INAX ENGINEERING Corporation Tokoname, Aichi 20 100 Installation of plumbing fixtures and other building materials
31 INAX MAINTENANCE Corporation Tokoname, Aichi 20 100 After-sales service of plumbing fixtures
32 TM.S Corporation Taito-ku, Tokyo 60 82 Sales of plumbing fixtures and other building materials

33 INAXCOM Corporation 
(Integrated in “2” on October 1, 2010) Tokoname, Aichi 90 100 Sales of other building materials

34 Dinaone Corporation Tokoname, Aichi 90 100 Sales of other building materials
35 KYUSHU INAX Corporation Kashima, Saga 50 100 Manufacture of plumbing fixtures
36 TONO INAX Corporation Tokoname, Aichi 50 100 Manufacture of other building materials
37 INA SEIKI Corporation Hikone, Shiga 48 98 Manufacture of plumbing fixtures
38 26 affiliate companies of Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd. — — 100 Manufacture and sales of metal building materials
39 SUNWAVE KITCHEN TECHNO CORPORATION Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 99 100 Manufacture of plumbing fixtures

40 G Life Group, Inc. Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 95 100 Sales of exterior products and the holding company of 
dealers in exterior products

41 Aiex, Inc. Setagaya-ku, Tokyo 315 100 Sales of exterior products

42 Naniwa Exterior, Inc. Fukushima-ku, Osaka, 
Osaka 90 100 Sales of exterior products

43 Friex Kyushu, Inc. Onojo, Fukuoka 37 100 Sales of exterior products
44 Aimel Wataki, Inc. Iwanuma, Miyagi 30 100 Sales of exterior products

45 Friex Seto, Inc. Minami-ku, Okayama, 
Okayama 10 100 Sales of exterior products

46 Friex Living, Inc. Yamato, Kanagawa 15 100 Sales of exterior products
47 Nittan Electronic Company Limited Shibuya-ku, Tokyo 60 90 Manufacture of disaster prevention equipment

48 TOSTEM THAI CO., LTD. Pathumthani, Thailand Bt million 
2,767 100 Manufacture of metal building materials

49 TOSTEM HOUSING PRODUCTS (DALIAN) CO., LTD. Dalian, Liaoning, China  US$ thousand 
43,500 100 Manufacture of wooden interior furnishing materials

50 AMTRONIC Pte. Ltd. Singapore SG$ thousand 
24,618  65 The holding company of Shanghai Meite Curtain Wall System 

Co., Ltd.
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Name Location
Paid-in  
capital  

(¥ million)

Equity 
owned by 

the holding 
company 

(%)   (Note 6)

Operations

51 Shanghai Meite Curtain Wall System Co., Ltd. Shanghai, China CN¥ thousand 
153,457  74 Manufacture and sales of metal building materials

52 TOSTEM THAI MARKETING Co., Ltd. Pathumthani, Thailand Bt million 103 100 Sales of metal building materials

53 LIXIL (Shanghai) Investment Co., Ltd.  
(Former name: INAX (China) Investment Co., Ltd.) Shanghai, China US$ thousand 

34,500 100 Sales of plumbing fixtures and other building materials

54 Suzhou INAX Sanitary Fitting Co., Ltd. Suzhou, Jiangsu, China 1,730 100 Manufacture of plumbing fixtures
55 Suzhou INAX Building Materials Co., Ltd. Suzhou, Jiangsu, China 4,000 100 Manufacture of plumbing fixtures and other building materials

56 Taiwan INAX Corporation Hsinchu, Taiwan NT$ thousand
282,677 51 Manufacture and sales of other building materials

57 Shenyang INAX Building Materials Co., Ltd. Shenyang, Liaoning, 
China 1,300 100 Manufacture of other building materials

58 INAX VIETNAM SANITARY WARE Co., Ltd. Hanoi, Vietnam  US$ thousand
38,100 100 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures

59 INAX VIETNAM TILE Co., Ltd. Vũ ng Tàu, Vietnam  US$ thousand
12,000 100 Manufacture and sales of other building materials

60 INAX VIETNAM PLUMBING FIXTURES Co., Ltd. Quang Nam, Vietnam  US$ thousand
18,000 100 Manufacture of plumbing fixtures

61 A-S CHINA PLUMBING PRODUCTS Ltd. Grand Cayman, 
Cayman Islands

US$ thousand
1,510 100 The holding company of Chinese business of American 

Standard

62 A-S CHINA Co., Ltd. Shanghai, China  US$ thousand
30,000 100 Sales of plumbing fixtures

63 AMERICAN STANDARD JIANGMEN FITTINGS Co., Ltd. Jiangmen, Guangdong, 
China

 US$ thousand
10,850 100 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures

64 A-S (SHANGHAI) POTTERY Co., Ltd. Shanghai, China US$ thousand
24,725 82 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures

65 A-S (GUANGZHOU) ENAMELWARE Co., Ltd. Guangzhou,  
Guangdong, China 

 US$ thousand
18,000 82 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures

66 HUA MEI SANITARY WARE Co., Ltd. Qingyuan, Guangdong, 
China

US$ thousand
12,000 67 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures

67 A-S (TIANJIN) POTTERY Co., Ltd. Tianjin, China  US$ thousand
17,500 100 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures

68 AMERICAN STANDARD B&K (THAILAND) PUBLIC  
Co., Ltd. Pathumthani, Thailand  Bt million

105 99 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures

69 IDEAL STANDARD (THAILAND) Ltd. Pathumthani, Thailand  Bt million
172 100 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures

70 CERAMIC SANITARYWARE Pte. Ltd. Singapore S$ thousand
111,473 100 Sales of plumbing fixtures and the holding company of 

American Standard excluding Chinese business

71 AMERICAN STANDARD VIETNAM, Inc. Binh Duong, Vietnam 
 VN Dong 

billion
164

84 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures

72 AMERICAN STANDARD KOREA, Inc. Seoul, Korea  Won million
9,767 100 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures

73 PT AMERICAN STANDARD INDONESIA Bogor, Indonesia  Rp billion
51 100 Manufacture and sales of plumbing fixtures

74 AMERICAN STANDARD PHILIPPINES LIMITED, Co. Makati, Philippines
 Ph peso 

million
10

100 Sales of plumbing fixtures

75 AMERICAN STANDARD BATH & KITCHEN  
INDIA Pte. Ltd. Mumbai, India  Re thousand

100 100 Sales of plumbing fixtures

76 NITTAN (UK) LIMITED Surrey, United Kingdom  £ thousand
1,100 100 Manufacture and sales of disaster prevention equipment

77 Limited private company SUPER VIVA ASSET Chuo-ku, Tokyo 3 100 Acquisition and management of beneficiary right for real 
estate trusts

78 Limited private company SUPER VIVA ASSET and  
2 other companies  (Note 4)

Misato, Saitama and 
others  each 3 — Acquisition and management of beneficiary right for real 

estate trusts

Equity Method Affiliate

Name Location Paid-in capital 
(¥ million)

Equity 
owned by 

the holding 
company 

(%)   (Note 6)

Operations

Kawashima Selkon Textiles Co., Ltd. (Note 5) Sakyo-ku, Kyoto, Kyoto 9,381 34 Manufacture and sales of  interiors

Notes: 1. Merged on April 1, 2011, with Tostem as the surviving company and was renamed LIXIL Corporation.
 2. Renamed on or after April 1, 2011.
 3.  Inax Sunwave Marketing Corporation absorbed the sales and marketing divisions of Inax and Sun Wave Corporation on July 1, 2010. On April 1, 2011, sales and 

marketing divisions were transferred to LIXIL.
 4.  Although the Company does not have voting rights, these companies are treated as subsidiaries of the holding company when substantial attribution is taken into account.
 5. Plan to make this company a consolidated subsidiary through a share exchange on August 1, 2011. 
 6. Equity owned by the holding company includes equity owned indirectly.
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Shareholder Information
As of March 31, 2011

Number of Shareholders

Name of shareholders Number of shares held 
(thousand shares)

Percentage 
held

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 18,106* 6.36%

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account) 13,952* 4.90%

The Nomura Trust & Banking Co., Ltd. (Trust Account) 10,596* 3.72%

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account 9) 7,560* 2.65%

The Dai-ichi Life Insurance Company, Limited 6,500 2.28%

The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. 5,798 2.04%

SSBT OD05 Omnibus Account-Treaty Clients 5,564 1.95%

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 5,406 1.90%

Nippon Life Insurance Company 5,088 1.79%

Tostem Foundation for Construction Materials Industry 
Promotion 5,000 1.76%

Notes: 1.  In addition to the above, JS Group Corporation holds 28,256 thousand shares of treasury stock. Share-
holding calculations exclude treasury stock.

 2. * indicates a trust service arrangement.
 3.  10,596 thousand shares entrusted to The Nomura Trust & Banking Co., Ltd. are the trust property of Mr. 

Yoichiro Ushioda, who has voting rights for these shares.

(Thousand shares)

Financial institutions 110,293

Domestic companies 20,707

Foreigners 91,613

Individuals and others 62,183

Treasury stock 28,256

Total 313,054

Distribution of Ownership among 
Shareholders

Monthly Stock Price Range (Tokyo Stock Exchange)
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Financial 
institutions

35.2%

Domestic 
companies

6.6%

Foreigners

29.3%

Treasury stock

9.0%

Individuals 
and others

19.9%
313,054

thousand shares

Number of Shares and Shareholders
Number of shares authorized 
[Shares] 1,300,000,000

Number of shares outstanding 
[Shares]

284,797,315 
(excluding treasury stock of 28,256,940 shares)

Number of shareholders 35,480

 http://www.jsgc.co.jp/e/ir/
We provide a host of information on the Investor Relations section of our website, including 
annual reports, flash reports, earnings presentation materials, and housing and commercial 
building market trends.

For the years ended 
March 31 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

High (yen) 2,855 2,770 1,886 1,935 2,180

Low (yen) 2,100 1,281 947 1,095 1,430

Note: High and low share prices are from the First Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange.
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Corporate Data
As of March 31, 2011

Corporate Name JS Group Corporation

Established September 19, 1949

Registered Office  2-1-1 Ojima, Koto-ku, Tokyo 136-8535, Japan

Head Office  36F, Kasumigaseki Building, 3-2-5 Kasumigaseki, 
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-6036, Japan

Capital Stocks ¥68.1 billion

Fiscal Year Closing March 31

Employees 62 (Consolidated Employees: 41,090)

1923 Founded as a building materials retailer.
1949 Nihon Tategu Kogyo Co., Ltd. established.
1971 Toyo Sash Co., Ltd. established through a merger of 6  

sales companies.
1974 Housing exterior business commences with establishment of  

Toyo Exterior Co., Ltd.
1977 Home center business commences with establishment of   

Viva Home Corporation (later Tostem Viva Corporation).
Production of sashes for commercial buildings commences.

1984 Homebuilding Franchise Chains commences with the establishment  
of Eyeful Home, Inc.

1985 Mitsui Light Metal Processing Co., Ltd. and 2 other  
companies join the Group; Sash business for  
super high-rise buildings reinforced.
Housing equipment business commences.

1988 Overseas sash production commences with the completion  
of Thai plant.

1992 Toyo Sash Co., Ltd. renamed as Tostem Corporation.
2000 Tostem Suzuki Shutter Co., Ltd. joins group and promotes building  

shutter operations.

2001 JS Group Corporation (then Tostem Inax Holding Corporation) created from integration of Tostem Group and Inax Group

2002 Jyu-Seikatsu Realty, Corp. and ERA Japan Corp. join the Group.

Establishment of investment company in China, Inax (China) Investment Co., Ltd.

The Dalian, China plant, which produces wooden interior furnishings, completed.

2004 Tostem Inax Holding Corporation renamed as JS Group Corporation.

2005 Nittan Company, Limited joins the Group.

Asahi Glass Co., Ltd. and Tostem merge exterior building materials businesses to form Asahi Tostem Exterior Building Materials Co., Ltd.

2006 JS Group Senior Life Corporation founded and enters fee-based senior citizens assisted-living home business.

2008 Inax Vietnam Plumbing Fixtures Co., Ltd. established.

Jaxson SPI, Inc., a maker of high-quality bathtubs, joins the Group.

2009 JS Supply Corporation established and integrates Group purchasing and distribution operations.

LIXIL Energy Corporation founded and enters solar energy generation systems business.

JS Group Senior Life Corporation became Senior Life Company of Tostem.

American Standard Asia-Pacific division joins the Group.

2010 Sun Wave Corporation joins the Group.

Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd. joins the Group.

Lixil Corporation established to propose and promote integrated sales strategies for the Group.

Inax and Sun Wave merge sales and marketing divisions to form Inax Sunwave Marketing Corporation.

2011 Made Shanghai Meite Curtain Wall System Co., Ltd. a consolidated subsidiary.

Formed LIXIL Corporation from the integration of Tostem Corporation, Inax Corporation, Shin Nikkei Company, Ltd., Sun Wave Corporation 
(excluding the manufacturing division), Toyo Exterior Co., Ltd. and Lixil Corporation.

Securities Traded  Tokyo Stock Exchange 
(Common Stock)  Osaka Securities Exchange 

Nagoya Stock Exchange

Transfer Agent and  Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation 
Special Management 1-4-5 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku,Tokyo 100-8212,  
of Accounts Japan

Annual Meeting  Normally held in June in Tokyo, Japan 
of Shareholders 

Overview of Major  The Company controls and manages domestic  
Businesses  and overseas companies that operate housing-

related businesses and urban environment-related 
businesses through acquisition or holding of stocks.

Corporate Data

History

1924 Establishment of Ina Seito Co., Ltd. as a producer of tiles, ceramic pipe, 
and terra cotta.

1945 Production of sanitary wares commences.
1958 Production of Polybath commences.
1967 Launch of first integrated-type Japanese  

shower toilet, Sanitarina 61.
1968 Production of bathroom units commences.
1975 Production of system kitchens commences.
1980 Inax Maintenance Corporation established.
1985 Company name changed to Inax Corporation  

and establishment of Inax Engineering.
1996 VINAX (Inax Vietnam Sanitary Ware Co., Ltd.) manufacturing  

joint venture for sanitary ware in Vietnam established.
Establishment of joint venture in China,  
Suzhou Inax Sanitary Fitting Co., Ltd.

1998 Establishment of joint venture in China, Suzhou Inax Building Materials 
Co., Ltd.
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